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Over the period of our operations, Pelikan International Corporation Berhad has

sustained numerous triumphs and challenges to emerge stronger. Marking our

significant events, we have built a history that is both credible and accomplished.

R E L I V I N G  O U R  M I L E STO N E S. . .

• Pelikan became a public listed company in 1978 with its

shares divided among the Beindorff family and its 46

owners, raking up the Company’s balance sheet to

DM607.8 million and subsequently introduced an array

of new products.

• Following the Company’s excessive expansion, 

a reverse spilt of shares were conducted in 1982. Pelikan

was acquired by Condopart in 1984.

• In 1996, Goodace Sdn Bhd, a company in Malaysia

bought over a majority of Pelikan Holding AG Shares.

OUR JOURNEY 

• To commemorate its 75th Anniversary in producing

fountain pens, the Company launched a limited edition

of 75 pieces of its 75th Anniversary Pen.

• On 8th April 2005, Pelikan Holding AG was acquired

through a reverse takeover by Diperdana Holdings

Berhad which subsequently changed its name to Pelikan

International Corporation Berhad on 6th June 2005.

• January 2007 saw the Company acquiring Pelikan

Hardcopy Holding AG which marks the full unity of the

Pelikan Group.

OUR INCEPTION

• In conjunction with Pelikan’s first price list, the

Company was inaugurated on 28th April 1838. 

• In the year 1863, Günther Wagner took over the position

of chemist and plant manager from Carl Hornemann

and subsequently the Company in 1871 before

registering his family emblem in 1878 in the form of a

Pelikan and subsequently in 1895, the Company logo

was trademark.

OUR CHALLENGE 

• In 1901, the Company recorded a turnover of 1 million

Gold Marks and launched the Company’s famous 4001

ink series followed closely by ‘Pelikanol’, a white

adhesive paste in 1904. 

• Marking the Company’s expanding presence, Pelikan’s

first art-based magazine ‘Der Pelikan’ was launched in

1912, which features a collection of opinions and ideas

of famous artists and tutors on art lessons, techniques,

materials and experiences.

• In the year 1938, O.H.W. Hadanack designed and

launched Pelikan’s 100th year anniversary catalogue and

was responsible for redesigning the Company’s logo

which remains for the next 60 years.

• In 1974, in collaboration with the educators in this field

of expertise, the Company developed a simplified

handwriting version for the beginners.

1900S1800S
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2000S

. . . A N D  SYM B O L  O F A C H I EV E M E N TS

With almost two decades prior to the introduction of the trademark laws, Pelikan

trademark and logo was registered on 26th June 1895 and its first application was recorded

on 26th February 1896. To meet current challenges, the trademark and logo has evolved

numerous times to sport the familiar shape and form of today’s design, bringing together

with it a significance and culture that is as rich as the Company’s history.
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Vision
To be globally recognised as a market-leading brand offering a range of products that reflects

the highest standards of quality, innovation and timeless German heritage.

Our guiding principles:

Q u a l i t y,  I n n ovat i o n ,  I nt e g r i t y,  Co m m i t m e nt ,  Te a m w o r k

Mission
We create products that inspire creativity and imagination, fulfil customers’ satisfaction and

confidence by offering the highest quality products and services.

We accomplish our mission by:

- Establishing a strong brand presence worldwide by building brand awareness since young from

children to adults

- Accumulating in-depth knowledge of our customers’ needs and provide the expected solutions

- Applying proven technology and tools for developing and executing innovative ideas

- Selecting and developing a network of effective distribution channels

- Recruiting, training, developing, retaining and rewarding talented and motivated people

- Ensuring the environment in which we operate is safe, healthy and secured
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2 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8

G R O U P  OV E RV I EW

TH E  Y E A R  I N  F O C U S

With precise and vigilant

strategies, Pelikan is poised 

to weather the storm

ahead through resilience 

and sound operations.

- Fully consolidated Pelikan Hardcopy Holding

AG, German Hardcopy AG and Pelikan

Argentina S.A. into Pelikan Group. 

- Strengthened the Group’s brand and 

presence in 160 countries through

capitalisation in new inventions, product

offerings and product enhancements.

- Invested a total of RM30.6 million to further

enhance our R&D capabilities in our

centralised facilities.

- Launched a total of 173 new products

including the highly acclaimed and award-

winning griffix®, learn-to-write series.

Americas 129,224 [10.0%]

Asia, Middle East & Africa 90,047 [7.0%]

Germany 597,454 [46.4%]

Italy 85,032 [6.6%]

Rest of Europe 237,455 [18.4%]

Switzerland 149,281 [11.6%]

TH E  R E S U LTS

Group revenue by geographical breakdown in 2008

(RM’000)
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1 7 0  Y E A R S o f  A c h i e v e m e n t s 3

G R O U P  OV E RV I EW

A S S E M B LY  O F  R & D  

Having accomplished a successful consolidation, Pelikan Group

operates a total of 7 production facilities and 2 centralised R&D

centres that caters to 160 countries worldwide.

R&D, Switzerland@Wetzikon

R&D, Germany@Vöhrum

R&D Core Competencies
Technology 

Management

- Inkjet Cartridges

- Inkjet Inks

- Microelectronics

- Toner Cartridges

- Xerographic Toner

- Printing Application

Centre

- Fine & Design Writing

Instruments

- School & Youth

Writing Pens

- Erasers

- Crayons and Water

Colours

- Writing Inks

- Stationery Application

Centre

- IPR Management

- Processes Engineering

- Manufacturing of Inkjet Inks

- Microelectronics for Printing Solutions

- Pilot Lines

- R&D Services/Project Management

- Processes Engineering

- Moulding tools 

- Manufacturing of Writing Inks

- Pilot Lines

- R&D Services/Project Management
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4 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8

G R O U P  OV E RV I EW

T H E  

Define your style 
with Pelikan’s premium 

Fine Writing Instruments.

Impress your peers 
through your individuality with 

Pelikan’s Design Writing Instruments.
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1 7 0  Y E A R S o f  A c h i e v e m e n t s 5

C O L L E C T I O N

Complete quality 

work projects 
with efficiency with Pelikan’s 

Office supplies.

Boost your child’s learning 
experience with Pelikan’s School &

Hobby series.

Secure sharp solid images 
and presentations with Pelikan’s Printer

Consumables.

G R O U P  OV E RV I EW
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6 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8

F I N A N C I A L  H I G H L I G H TS
(for the financial year ended 31 December)

2008 2007 2006 2005

Revenue RM’000 1,288,493 1,194,949 659,537 511,074

Profit before taxation RM’000 49,408 99,799 84,332 62,573

Profit for the financial year RM’000 37,812 96,170 81,299 64,656

Profit for the financial year attributable 

to equity holders of the parent RM’000 36,665 93,083 75,318 55,036

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent RM’000 543,626 488,735 407,996 337,194

Basic earnings per share sen 12.30 33.81 29.56 27.23 

Fully diluted earnings per share sen 12.30 28.90 24.10 21.49 

Net assets per share attributable to equity 

holders of the parent sen 1.58 1.70 1.84 2.12 

Dividend per share - declared and paid sen – 5.00 10.00 18.00 

Dividend per share - proposed sen 2.00 6.00 5.00 – 
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1 7 0  Y E A R S o f  A c h i e v e m e n t s 7

F I N A N C I A L  CA L E N DA R

QUARTERLY
FINANCIAL
RESULTS
ANNOUNCEMENT

2 0 0 8 2 0 0 9
Feb 29 May 30 Aug 20 Nov 19 Feb 27

4th Quarter 
for 31/12/08

3rd Quarter
for 31/12/08

2nd Quarter
for 31/12/08

1st Quarter
for 31/12/08

4th Quarter
for 31/12/07

ANNUAL
GENERAL
MEETING

June 2 *June 10
27th Annual
General
Meeting

26th Annual
General
Meeting

DIVIDEND
PAYMENT

Aug 27 *Sept 8
Final
dividend
for 31/12/08

Final
dividend
for 31/12/07

MEETING

Feb 29 April 21
May 28

Aug 20 Nov 11 Feb 25 April 23
*May 27

*Aug 19 *Nov 18 
Board
Audit

Board
Audit

Board
Audit

Board
Audit
Nomination
Remuneration

Board
Audit
Nomination

Board 
Audit

Board
Audit

Board
Audit
Nomination
Remuneration

INTEREST
PAYMENT

April 9 April 9
4th interest
payment for
RCULS

3rd interest
payment for
ICULS & RCULS

* Proposed dates
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GA R N E R I N G  A CCO L A D E S. . .

Our ability to innovate and create products of repute lies in our drive to develop

products that cater to both the consumers and the environment. Through

attentive measures, we set out to design a variety of products that cater 

to specific needs.

1800s

- Founded the colour and ink factory in Hanover,

Germany, which subsequently produced the

acclaimed Indian ink.

1901 - 1950

- Produced the famous 4001 ink series and

subsequently introduced Pelikanol. The first

fountain pen was introduced in 1929, followed by

the watercolour paint box in 1931 and the release

of Plaka in 1934.

1951 - 2000

- Invented the ink cartridge in 1960 and

subsequently the first ink eradicator in 1972 and

the textmarker in 1974. Consequently the first

blanco®, correction tape roller, was introduced in

1989, followed by the first limited edition fountain

pen in 1993 and a new filling system in 1995.

2000s

- Released a limited edition 75th anniversary pen in

2004 to commemorate Pelikan’s 75 years of inventing

the fountain pen with plunger mechanism. Created a

new refilling system for printer consumables called

Power Pad in 2007 and griffix®, the first clever 

learn-to-write system featuring a uniquely designed

ergonomic grip in 2008.

Accomplishments

- An innovative pioneer in 4 out of 7 key stationery

products.

- Commands a strong position within various

market segments.

- Builds on strong brand affinity within the Group

in Europe. 

- Secures a premium position within the industry.

griffix® was named winner for product category “Product Design” attributed to

the concept, the first comprehensive learn-to-write system in the world.

Pelikan was honoured with “Best of Retail

Vision Europe Award” from Everything

Channel, the global leader in technology

sales, in May 2008. Pelikan Power Pad was

recognised for an award in the “Best

Accessory” category.

Note: griffix® was also nominated for the 2009 Design Award of the Federal

Republic of Germany, the country’s highest distinction in the field of design

and is presented by  the Federal Ministry of Economies and Technology and

The German Design Council.
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. . . A N D  M E R I TS  O F  I N N OVATI O N

Through vast experience and expertise, we develop products of substance and

style. Garnering numerous awards and accolades over the decades, we are

humbled by the distinction we have attained. With strong determination, we set

forth in developing innovative products that set new benchmarks.

Limited Edition Evolution of Script won the 2008

Readers’ Choice Award under the “Cultural

Theme”category by American Pen World Magazine.

Winner for griffix® under category “Back To School”

ISPA and Innovation Awards 2008 announced during

Paperworld Fair in Frankfurt, Germany in January 2008.
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1 0 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8

G R O U P  CO R PO R ATE  STR U CTU R E
a s  o f  1 s t J a n u a r y  2 0 0 9

PELIKAN INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION BERHAD

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES:

Distribution Investment holding Production Production & Distribution Services Dormant

87.64%
PELIKAN HOLDING AG

(SWITZERLAND)

EUROPE AMERICA ASIA PACIFIC

100%
Pelikan Nederland B.V.
(fka G. Wagner Pelikan

Maatschappij B.V.)

49%
Pelikan (Thailand)

Co. Ltd. (THAILAND)

100%
PELIKAN HARDCOPY

HOLDING AG

(SWITZERLAND)
100%
Pelikan Hardcopy 

Productions AG
(SWITZERLAND)

100%
Pelikan Hardcopy CZ s.r.o.
(CZECH REPUBLIC)

100%
Pelikan Hardcopy 

Scotland Ltd.
(SCOTLAND)

100%
GREIF WERKE GmbH Hannover - Greif
(GERMANY)

100%
Dongguan Pelikan

Hardcopy Ltd. 
(CHINA)

100%
Pelikan Hardcopy 

Asia Pacific Ltd.
(HONG KONG, 

CHINA)

100%
Pelikan Austria 
GesmbH 
(AUSTRIA)

100%
Günther Wagner S.A.
(SWITZERLAND)

100%
Pelikan (Schweiz) AG
(fka Pelikan Faber-Castell

(Schweiz) AG)

(SWITZERLAND)

100%
Pelikan PBS-Produktion 

Verwaltungs-GmbH
(GERMANY)

100%
Pelikan PBS

Produktionsgesellschaft

mbH & Co. KG
(GERMANY)

100%
Pelikan Vertrieb

Verwaltungs-GmbH
(GERMANY)

100%
Pelikan

Vertriebsgesellschaft

mbH & Co. KG
(GERMANY)

100%
Pelikan Belux (fka Pelikan

Benelux N.V./ S.A.)
(BELGIUM)

100%
Pelikan France S.A.S.
(FRANCE)

100%
German Hardcopy AG
(GERMANY)

100%
Pelikan Italia S.p.a. 
(ITALIA)

100%
Pelikan, Inc. 
(U.S.A.)

25%
Pelikan Japan 
K.K.  (JAPAN)

100%
Pelikan Asia 
Sdn. Bhd.
(MALAYSIA)

100%
Pelikan Production 

(M) Sdn. Bhd. 
(MALAYSIA)

100%
Pelikan Produktions AG 
(SWITZERLAND)

100%
Pelikan Middle East FZE 
(UNITED ARAB EMIRATES)

100%
Pelikan Singapore Pte. Ltd. 
(SINGAPORE)

100%
Pelikan Taiwan Co. Ltd.
(TAIWAN)

100%
Pelikan Polska S.P.zo.o. 
(POLAND)

100%
Pelikan Trading 

(Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
(CHINA)

99%
PT Pelikan Indonesia 
(INDONESIA)

99%
Pelikan Trading

India Private Limited 
(INDIA)

75%

95%

50.01%

40%

1%

40%
Columbia Pelikan 
PTY Limited 
(AUSTRALIA)

19.5%
Indistri S.A. 
(COLOMBIA)

100%
Pelikan Costa Rica S.A. 
(COSTA RICA)

49.99%
Productos Pelikan S.A.

de C.V. (MEXICO)

6.24%
Pelikan Argentina S.A. 
(ARGENTINA)

93.76%

60%
Pelikan Ofis Ve Kirtasiye

Malzemeleri Ticaret Ltd. 
(TURKEY)

100%
Pelikan Nordic AB
(SWEDEN)

100%
ReMerch GmbH (fka Pelikan Verwaltungs-GmbH)
(GERMANY)

100%
Pelikan GmbH
(GERMANY)

100%
German Hardcopy ccc GmbH (GERMANY)

100%
German Hardcopy d.o.o. (BOSNIA)

25%
QUADRIGA plus

GmbH i.L.
(GERMANY)

100%
Pelikan S.A.
(SPAIN)

5%
Pelikan Hellas E.P.E.
(GREECE)

49%
Henkel-Pelikan

Office Products 

Ltd. i.L.
(GREECE)

100%
Kreuzer Produktion

+ Vertrieb GmbH
(GERMANY)

100%
Pelikan Hardcopy

Europe Ltd. Sub

Holding
(SCOTLAND)

100%
Pelikan Hardcopy European

Logistics & Services GmbH
(GERMANY)

100%
Initio GmbH 

(fka Pelikan Hardcopy Deutschland GmbH)
(GERMANY)
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1 7 0  Y E A R S o f  I n n o v a t i o n 1 1

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad
Chairman & Independent Non-Executive Director

Loo Hooi Keat
President/Chief Executive Officer

Syed Hussin bin Shaikh Al Junid
Independent Non-Executive Director

Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad
Independent Non-Executive Director

Yap Kim Swee
Independent Non-Executive Director

Hajah Rozaida binti Omar
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Yap Kim Swee  (Chairman)

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad

Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad

NOMINATION COMMITTEE 

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad  (Chairman)

Syed Hussin bin Shaikh Al Junid

Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad

Yap Kim Swee

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad  (Chairman)

Syed Hussin bin Shaikh Al Junid

Yap Kim Swee

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ng Cheong Seng  (MIA 17444)

Chua Siew Chuan  (MAICSA 0777689)

AUDITORS

Messrs Ong Boon Bah & Co

(Firm No.: AF 0320)

B-10-1, Megan Phileo Promenade

189, Jalan Tun Razak

50400 Kuala Lumpur

Malaysia

Tel : (+603) 2163 0292

Fax : (+603) 2163 0316

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tenaga Koperat Sdn Bhd

Level 17, The Gardens North Tower

Mid Valley City

Lingkaran Syed Putra

59200 Kuala Lumpur

Malaysia

Tel : (+603) 2264 3883

Fax : (+603) 2282 1886 

REGISTERED OFFICE

Lot 3410, Mukim Petaling

Batu 121/2, Jalan Puchong

47100 Puchong

Selangor Darul Ehsan

Malaysia

Tel : (+603) 8062 1223

Fax : (+603) 8062 2500

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

CIMB Bank Berhad

HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad

OCBC Bank (Malaysia) Berhad

Public Bank Berhad

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Main Board of Bursa Malaysia

Securities Berhad

Stock Name : PELIKAN

Stock Code : 5231

WEBSITE

www.pelikan.com

CO R PO R ATE  I N FO R M ATI O N
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1 2 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8

B OA R D  O F  D I R E CTO R S ’ P R O F I L E

TAN SRI MUSA BIN MOHAMAD

• Chairman & Independent

Non-Executive Director

• Member of Audit Committee

• Chairman of Nomination Committee

• Chairman of Remuneration Committee

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad, a Malaysian aged 66, was appointed to the Board as

Director on 1 August 2005. Subsequently, he was re-designated as Chairman of the

Company on 14 November 2007. 

He holds a Bachelor of Pharmacy Degree from the National University of Singapore in

1962 and obtained a Master of Science Degree in Pharmaceutical Technology from the

University of London in 1972. He is a Fellow of Malaysian Academy of Sciences and

Malaysian Pharmaceutical Society.

He spent over 20 years in teaching and academic administration in University Sains

Malaysia (“USM”).  He served as a Foundation Dean of Pharmacy at USM from 1975 to

1979 and thereafter as the Deputy Vice Chancellor and Vice Chancellor of the same

university until he retired in 1995.  He then went into corporate life as Chairman in a

number of private limited companies and a Second Board listed company, Poly Glass

Fibre (M) Berhad. He was the Minister of Education Malaysia from 1999 to 2004 and

Chairman of Universiti Telekom Sdn Bhd, a subsidiary of Telekom Malaysia Berhad,

which runs the Multimedia University in Cyberjaya from 2004 until February 2009.  

LOO HOOI KEAT

• President/Chief Executive Officer

Loo Hooi Keat, a Malaysian aged 54, was appointed to the Board as Director on 22 April

2005 and thereafter as an Executive Chairman on 26 April 2005. Subsequently, he was 

re-designated as President/Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 14 November 2007.

He is a certified public accountant and a member of the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“MICPA”). He received his training in accountancy from a reputable

international accounting firm where he obtained his Certified Public Accountant

accreditation. Since then, he has gained experience in various international companies in

Malaysia, namely as Group Accountant for the Sime Darby Group of Companies from 1982 to

1985 and Lion Group of Companies from 1986 to 1989. He was the Group General Manager

for Business Management of United Engineers (Malaysia) Berhad from 1990 to 1992.

Presently, he is the Executive Vice President of Konsortium Logistik Berhad, a public

company listed on the Main Board of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. He is also

President and Board member of Pelikan Holding AG, a subsidiary of the Company listed

on the Zurich Stock Exchange.

Except for certain recurrent related party transactions of a revenue nature which are

necessary for the day-to-day operations of the Group for which he is deemed interested,

there are no other business arrangement with the Group in which he has personal interest. 
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1 7 0  Y E A R S o f  I n n o v a t i o n 1 3

Syed Hussin bin Shaikh Al Junid, a Malaysian aged 56, was appointed to the Board 

as Director on 1 July 1996. 

He graduated from the University of Malaya and holds a Bachelor of 

Economic Degree.

He has extensive experience in the property and construction industry and has been

involved in the development of several major and successful townships in 

Klang Valley.  

He was the Managing Director of Amona Permodalan Holdings Sdn Bhd, an

investment holding company with interests in a group of companies mainly involved

in the development of properties, project management services, construction,

property investment holdings, trading, information technology and multimedia 

business activities.

He is currently overseeing the property development for another local group 

of companies.

SYED HUSSIN BIN SHAIKH AL JUNID

• Independent Non-Executive Director

• Member of Nomination Committee

• Member of Remuneration Committee

Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad, a Malaysian aged 67, was appointed to the Board as

Director on 4 September 2001.

He attended a Diploma Course in “Customs and Excise Management and

Enforcement” in the University of Southern California in Los Angeles, United States of

America.  In 1991, he attended a course on “Value Added Tax” in the Tax College of

Crown Agents in Worthing, England.

He is a retired Director of Customs, having served 32 years in the Royal Customs and

Excise Department of Malaysia.

He serves as a Director of several private limited companies including LANG

Consultancy Services Sdn Bhd where he provides consultancy services relating to

customs, excise, sales tax, service tax, duty exemptions, refund and drawback claims,

licenses and incentive under the laws administered by the Royal Customs and 

Excise Department.

HAJI ABDUL GHANI BIN AHMAD

• Independent Non-Executive Director

• Member of Audit Committee

• Member of Nomination Committee

B OA R D  O F  D I R E CTO R S ’ P R O F I L E
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1 4 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8

B OA R D  O F  D I R E CTO R S ’ P R O F I L E

YAP KIM SWEE

• Independent Non-Executive Director

• Chairman of Audit Committee

• Member of Nomination Committee

• Member of Remuneration Committee

Yap Kim Swee, a Malaysian aged 62, was appointed to the Board as Director on 

22 May 2006.  

He is a Chartered Accountant of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) and a

Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”).

He started his career in Hanafiah Raslan Mohd & Partners in 1969.  In 1972, he joined

Coopers & Lybrand a legacy firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers as an audit senior and was

thereafter appointed as a Director in 1987.  He was admitted as a Partner in 1991 and

retired from the partnership in PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2002. With his many years in

audit and business advisory service, he has extensive knowledge in the operations of

companies in various industries covering manufacturing, financial, insurance,

telecommunication, housing development and plantation.

Currently, he is a Director of NV Multi Corporation Berhad, a public company listed on

the Main Board of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and is also a Director of Quill Capital

Management Sdn Bhd.

HAJAH ROZAIDA BINTI OMAR

• Non-Independent Non-Executive

Director

Hajah Rozaida binti Omar, a Malaysian aged 46, was appointed to the Board as Director

on 21 November 2008.

She is a Chartered Accountant of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) and a

Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”).

She started her career as a Financial Accountant at FELDA in 1986.  In 1990, she became a

Credit Manager at Citibank Berhad until 1991. She then joined Guthrie Trading Sdn Bhd as

a Finance Manager until 1993. After that, she became a Finance Director of Glaxo

SmithKline Consumer Healthcare Sdn Bhd from 1994 until 2003.

Currently, she sits on the Board of Syarikat Takaful Malaysia Berhad.  She is also the Group

Chief Financial Officer of Lembaga Tabung Haji.

Additional notes to the Directors’ Profile: 

None of the Directors have:

• any conflict of interest with the Company; 

• any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company; and

• any conviction for offences within the past 10 years other than traffic offences.
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Loo Hooi Keat
President/Chief Executive Officer

Loo Hooi Keat, a Malaysian aged 54, is a certified public accountant and a member of the

Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“MICPA”). He received his training in

accountancy from a reputable international accounting firm in Malaysia where he received his

Certified Public Accountant accreditation. Since then, he has gained over 23 years of

experience in various international companies in Malaysia, namely as Group Accountant for

the Sime Darby Group of Companies (1982-1985) and Lion Group of Companies (1986-1989). 

He was the Group General Manager for Business Management of United Engineers (Malaysia)

Berhad from 1990 to 1992. 

Arno Alberty
Head of Sales and Marketing, Europe

Arno Alberty, a German aged 49, joined Pelikan Hardcopy Holding AG in May 2006. He began

his career in 1984 at Saint Gobain in the sales department before joining 3M Office Products in

1988 working in the sales and marketing, key accounts management and as the sales manager

in the German office. In 1996, he worked with Henkel Adhesives where he held positions such

as the Head of Pritt brand in Germany and Head of International Customers Adhesive

Consumer Business. He is responsible for sales and marketing of the Europe region.

Peter Raijmann
CFO of Europe

Peter Raijmann, a Dutch aged 49, has a Bachelor in Business Administration. He joined Pelikan

Group in 1991 as group controller for Europe. In 1996 he was appointed as Head of Controlling

department in Hanover and in 2004 was appointed Head of Finance and Administration 

in Europe. 

Claudio Esteban Seleguan
Head of Sales and Marketing, Americas

Claudio Esteban Seleguan, an Argentinean aged 47, has a Bachelor in Business Administration.

He joined Pelikan Group as a Manager of Pelikan Costa Rica in 1989. In 1992, he was appointed

as Chief Executive Officer of Pelikan Mexico. He is now responsible for the sales and marketing

in the Americas region.

from top to bottom

Loo Hooi Keat President/ Chief Executive Officer

Arno Alberty Head of Sales and Marketing, Europe

Peter Raijmann CFO of Europe

Claudio Esteban Seleguan Head of Sales and Marketing, Americas
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Ng Cheong Seng
Head of Corporate Services

Ng Cheong Seng, a Malaysian aged 37, joined Pelikan Holding AG as Vice President of 

Corporate Planning in 2003. He is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified

Accountants (“ACCA”), and graduated from the University of London with a Masters in 

Financial Management.

Loo Seow Beng
Head of Procurement

Loo Seow Beng, a Malaysian aged 51, has a Bachelor of Science in Business. Previously, he

worked with a large audit firm. He joined Pelikan Singapore-Malaysia Pte. Ltd. in 1995 and was

subsequently transferred to Pelikan Hanover, then Pelikan Holding AG, responsible for the

coordination of sales in Asia/Rest of World. He is now in charge of sourcing and international

procurement for Pelikan Group.

Thorsten Lifka
Head of Product Development, Production and R&D

Thorsten Lifka, a German aged 43, joined Pelikan Hardcopy Production AG on January 2006 as

Managing Director, becoming a member of the operational management of Pelikan Hardcopy

Group. He graduated with Diploma in Chemistry from Germany, and subsequently obtained a

PH.D. Degree in Natural Science. After having worked as an academic researcher for German

and Japanese universities, he joined Agfa-Gaevert group in 1996 as a R&D Manager, where he

developed new products and production processes in digital offset plate making. With 6 years

of international experience as Plant Manager in Sao Paolo, Brazil and an assignment to build

and start-up a new production site in Wuxi, China in the graphics industry, he is now

responsible for the production plants, R&D facilities, product development and industrial sales

division of Pelikan Group.

from top to bottom

Ng Cheong Seng Head of Corporate Services

Loo Seow Beng Head of Procurement

Thorsten Lifka Head of Product Development, Production and R&D

Sabine Vincenti CFO of Group Production and R&D

Sabine Vincenti
CFO of Group Production and R&D

Sabine Vincenti, an Austrian aged 38, has a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration and

Management. She joined Pelikan Hardcopy Holding AG as a Production Controller in 2001. In

2008, she was appointed as Chief Financial Officer for Pelikan Group Production and R&D.

Before joining Pelikan, she has gained experience in Finance and Controlling positions in

various international companies. 
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Safuan Basir
Head of Sales and Marketing, Middle East, India and Africa

Safuan Basir, a Malaysian aged 41, joined Pelikan Group in 2005 as the Senior Vice President in

charged of operations in Asia, Middle East and Africa. He is a fellow member of the Association

of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”), United Kingdom and a graduate from

Nottingham Trent University. Over the past 10 years, he has had exposure to various Malaysia

and regional operational, planning and consultancy work with leading conglomerate in

Malaysia and international companies. He is now responsible for the sales and marketing of

Middle East, India and Africa regions. 

William Liu
Head of Sales and Marketing, People’s Republic of China, Hong Kong and Taiwan

William Liu, a Taiwanese aged 51, graduated with a Bachelor of Agriculture from National

Chung Hsing University, Taiwan. He has had more than 20 years experience in the Taiwan

consumer market. He was the Country Manager for Pelikan business in Taiwan and is

responsible for the sales and marketing in People's Republic of China, Hong Kong and Taiwan

markets since 2007.

Azuma Ikeda
Head of Sales and Marketing, Japan and South Korea

Azuma Ikeda, a Japanese aged 55, has a Bachelor of Arts in Commerce and a Masters of

Business Administration. He joined Pelikan Japan K.K. in 1990 as Finance Manager. He was

promoted to Managing Director in 1993 and is responsible for the sales and marketing in Japan

and South Korea markets. He is also a Board Member of the Japan Imported Pen Association

for the past 8 years.

Kenny Kang
Head of Sales and Marketing, South East Asia

Kenny Kang, a Malaysian aged 36, has a Masters of Business Administration in Marketing

Management. He joined Pelikan Group in 2007 as the Vice President of South East Asia and is

responsible for regional sales and marketing. Before joining Pelikan, he worked at Canon

Malaysia for over 13 years and was the youngest manager in Canon’s history to manage a

region’s business.

from top to bottom

Safuan Basir Head of Sales and Marketing, Middle East, India and Africa

Azuma Ikeda Head of Sales and Marketing, Japan and South Korea

William Liu Head of Sales and Marketing, People’s Republic of China,

Hong Kong and Taiwan

Kenny Kang Head of Sales and Marketing, South East Asia
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Reunification
of
Pelikan Brand

Expansion
of
Pelikan Brand

D E L I V E R I N G  FO R E S I G H T  TH AT  M AT TE R S. . .

Ever so often, we are faced with challenges that test our endurance. Grappling

the uncertainties that lie ahead, we forge on with clear conscience and a

steadfast focus. 

With the recent reunification of the Pelikan Group, we are venturing into new

sectors and markets. Undertaking fresh endeavours that test our brand

allegiance and innovating solutions that attest to our values.
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Optimisation
of
Margins

. . .TH R O U G H  R E N EW E D  COM M I TM E N T

Building on our strength, we focus on increasing our brand awareness. We are

committed to optimising our margins and improving shareholders value, by

expanding our distribution networks through the exploration of new channels

and the introduction of innovative products.
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, we are pleased to present the 

Annual Report of Pelikan International Corporation Berhad 

(“Pelikan International”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2008. 

Chairman and Chief Executive

170 Years! 
Pelikan Group celebrated another inspiring year for the brand and company in

2008. For Pelikan’s 170th anniversary, over 100 new products were launched to

commemorate this milestone, creating buzz in the market over Pelikan’s

clever innovative products and marketing concepts. Overall, new products

improved Pelikan International’s business and market share in 2008. Growth

was temperate, given the economic situation that has swept across the globe. 
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While many global organisations were severely hit by the impending challenges, we

are striving to remain resilient by mapping and implementing vigilant strategies that

focused on cost reduction measures and streamlining our operations. Though our

strongest markets have faced challenges from the credit crunch and decline in

consumer spending, the Group is taking significant measures to sustain performance

and believe that by building up our fundamentals through continuous investment and

effort into research and development (“R&D”), technology and craftsmanship on our

products, the Group will deliver long term growth and earnings. 

The Global Economy 2008 (statistics sourced from 

World Bank)

In 2008, nearly all economies were affected by the

widening financial crisis that escalated since September

2008 with the sudden collapse of major financial

institutions. The deepening global credit crisis and

weakening domestic demand conditions are expected to

weigh down economic growth going forward. Pelikan

Group was no exception during the crisis and was not

spared from the deterioration in economic conditions. The

global financial crisis and market uncertainties have

affected the Group’s second half of 2008 results and we

foresee this market sentiment to prolong in the coming

periods. Significant market-related declines are being felt

in our bigger European markets. As a result of the global

economic contractions, the Group had to cope with

unrelenting higher input costs, including raw materials,

logistics and business operations. 

In 2008, World Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”) growth fell

to 1.9 percent (2007: 3.6 percent). High-income countries

grew an average of 0.8 percent (2007: 2.6 percent) whilst

developing economies recorded average GDP growth of

5.8 percent (2007: 7.9 percent). Compared to earlier

projections of GDP growth for 2008, the global financial

crisis has affected economies more dramatically than

previously expected, resulting in rapid deceleration of

economic growth. The outlook for key OECD countries

shows that recession will be inevitable for 2009.

Europe, our largest market, registered a weak growth of

0.7 percent in 2008 in the Euro areas, but overall region

growth was at 4.2 percent. Latin America and the

Caribbean countries, a region that experienced four years

of robust growth, were affected by the inflation in

commodities and impact of recession in the United States.

GDP growth in Latin America was 4.3 percent, but is

projected to contract by 0.6 percent in 2009. East Asia

region grew at 5.8 percent, a decline from 2007 marked by

slowdown in manufacturing output, reversal in capital

flows and halt in investment growth. Middle East and

North Africa, an underdeveloped and potential growth

region for Pelikan, appeared least affected and grew by 5.5

percent in 2008.

Officer’s Statement

C H A I R M A N  &  C H I E F  E X E C UTI V E  O F F I C E R ’ S  STATE M E N T
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The Group’s continuous investment

in innovation and R&D in 2009

reflects on our commitment

to be pioneers in the product

development and innovation field   .

Malaysia’s economy registered a slower growth of 4.6

percent in 2008 (2007: 6.3 percent), supported by robust

domestic demand. In the second half of 2008, sharp

deterioration in the global economic conditions and

correction in commodity prices led to significant decline in

external demand, resulting in slower growth of 2.4

percent in the second half year compared to 7.1 percent in

the first half of 2008. 

Such prolonged economic conditions and uncertainties

are expected to weigh down demand and affect all levels

of the business value chain including end consumers. In

light of such global events, Pelikan International will

strategise on reducing excess capacity in our production

plants and higher costs of production to ease the impacts

of the sharp drop in market demand. The Group will focus

and strive on all levels to mitigate the effects of recession

and financial turmoil in our major markets.

Financial Performance

Revenue for Pelikan International was RM1.29 billion, an

increase of 7.8 percent from the previous year 

(2007: RM1.195 billion). Profit before taxation for the

financial year 2008 however declined to RM49.4 million

(2007: RM99.8 million) due to rising costs and sluggish

market conditions in the second half of the year. As

anticipated, overall margins declined because the

Hardcopy printer consumables business generated a

lower margin than the traditional stationery business.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for

financial year 2008 declined to RM36.7 million 

(2007: RM93.1 million).

The Group’s revenue for the first quarter was 

RM313.0 million (2007: RM239.6 million), a marked

increase compared to the corresponding quarter in 2007

as a result of the full consolidation of the newly acquired

businesses namely Pelikan Hardcopy Holding AG Group

(“PHH Group”), German Hardcopy AG (“GHAG”) and

Pelikan Argentina S.A. In the first quarter, profit before

finance cost and share of results of associates increased to 

RM33.3 million (2007: RM28.1 million). Margin in the first

quarter was higher as compared to the preceding quarter

due to higher production volume in preparation for the

forthcoming peak season in mid year.

In the second quarter of 2008, the Group’s revenue

increased 21 percent to RM407.5 million compared to the

corresponding quarter of 2007 as a result of enhanced

sales performance in the traditional stationery business

particularly for the ‘back to school’ season which started

in April 2008. The profit before finance cost and share of

results of associates has increased to RM58.8 million

(2007: RM52.1 million).

“

“
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In the third quarter of 2008, the Group’s revenue increased by 14 percent to RM340.1 million compared to the corresponding

quarter in 2007 but decreased compared to RM407.5 million in the preceding quarter. As anticipated, sales recorded lower

growth in third quarter as compared to the second quarter as the business is affected by seasonality effect of the “back to

school” period in June. The Group had to absorb the higher costs of raw materials and other operating expenses, which

affected the margin for the period. As a result, the Group’s profit after tax declined by 19.9 percent to RM18.3 million

compared to the corresponding quarter in 2007. 

The Group’s revenue for the fourth quarter fell by 28.6 percent to RM228 million compared to the corresponding quarter in

2007 and by 33 percent compared to the preceding quarter. Traditionally a quarter that breaks even in revenue, the fourth

quarter was the weakest quarter for the Group as the full impact of the financial crisis was felt in the final months of 2008.

Sales have been affected by weakening domestic demand especially in Europe. During the year end, distributors held out

their purchase orders due to the tighter credit squeeze, resulting in less demand. 2008 proved more severe for the Group in

the last quarter as sales declined significantly as a result of the financial crisis. Rising costs of raw materials and other

operating expenses have affected the margin for the period, and the lower sales level with constant fixed costs has caused

the Group to report losses for the last quarter. Other exceptional costs relating to severance and retrenchment payments and

closure of the production plant in Bosnia were also incurred in the last

quarter. The loss before tax for the current quarter was RM45.7 million

as compared to the restated profit before tax of RM2.2 million for the

corresponding quarter in 2007.

Dividends

In light of prevailing uncertainties and market conditions, the Board of

Directors of Pelikan International felt it prudent to reduce the full year

dividend and has recommended a final single tier dividend of 2 sen per

share in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2008. Subject

to approval by shareholders at the forthcoming 27th Annual General

Meeting (“AGM”) on 10 June 2009, the final dividend will be paid on 

8 September 2009. 
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Highlights of 2008

Having finally united the entire Pelikan brand and group of companies, 2008 was a year of celebration that coincided with

Pelikan’s 170th anniversary. Through the publicity generated by anniversary campaigns, the Group focused on further

strengthening our brand and boosting our presence in 160 countries worldwide. Pelikan global activities were further

consolidated by the establishment of regional headquarters to enhance our presence through capitalisation on new

inventions, product offerings and product enhancements.

Building on our global presence, Pelikan International sought to enrich both our existing and potential customers. In tune with

the Group’s long-term strategies, we are passionate about developing products that reflect our customers’ expression and

creativity. Through innovative technologies, the Group engaged on re-branding Pelikan products to cater to the current market

trends. The Group invested a total of RM30.6 million in 2008 to further enhance the Group’s R&D capabilities in the centralised

facilities and expand the current product range. From the R&D and product development centre, the Group was proud to release

a new product for 2008 called griffix®, a learn-to-write system, which proved to be a market hit for the trade and consumers

alike. By leveraging on Pelikan’s strong reputation for quality, the Group has achieved credible results across our product range.

Another highlight for the year was developing more prominent Corporate Social Responsibilities (“CSR”). In this area, the Group

further enhanced our presence through the support of global events and community related activities. 

Outlook for 2009 (statistics sourced from World Bank)

The Group anticipates a difficult 2009 as global GDP is projected to contract by 1.7 percent in 2009, a substantial decline in world

output on record. OECD economies are expected to contract an average of 3 percent this year, whilst developing economies will

likely experience slow growth of 2.1 percent. Accordingly, the management will take the necessary actions and develop the right

strategies such as having a tighter credit management, cost reduction, working capital management and cash conservation to

embrace the possibility of decrease in the level of sales. At the same time, the management will continue to invest and

restructure the organization to achieve productivity and economies of scales in all levels of corporate and operations.

Whilst the global market outlook is bearish, the Group resumes to explore new businesses and investments with the view of

acquisitions focusing on further market expansion plans. The Group is actively seeking new companies that will complement and

strengthen our brand and business, and above all create value for the shareholders.  The Group will also continue to build on its

resources in sales network especially in the under developed and under represented markets in Asia, Latin America and Africa.
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As the Group streamlines its operations and production

processes to be more lean and focused, the Group’s

continuous investment in innovation and R&D in 2009

reflects our commitment to be pioneers in the product

development and innovation field. Creating new products

will further complete our product offerings to customers,

and establish greater presence in growing markets that will

contribute to sales growth of the Group. The Group is ready

to launch several new school and office products in the

second and third quarter of 2009. Ultimately, in 2009, the

Group aims to sustain market share and improve

performance of the global business.  

Corporate Governance

In 2008, Pelikan International made changes to the Board

to further enhance Corporate Governance by ensuring the

integrity and independence. The Board would like to take

this opportunity to extend our most sincere welcome to

Madam Hajah Rozaida binti Omar who serves as a Non-

Independent and Non-Executive Director. Drawing from

her years of experience and background, her contribution

to the Group and brand will certainly be of value to both

Pelikan’s growth and presence. 

In Appreciation

Ushering in the new financial year, we, on behalf of the

Board, would like to take this opportunity to thank the

management and employees of Pelikan International for

their unwavering commitment and hard work to the

Group. The Group would also like to express gratitude and

thanks to Hans Paffhausen who has retired from his role as

the CEO of Pelikan Europe after serving with Pelikan for

over 31 years. His dedication and passion for the brand,

business and company has been a pivotal anchor for the

Group. On behalf of the Board, we would also like to thank

all investors and shareholders of Pelikan International 

for their continuous support and encouragement, as well

as special thanks to all our business partners, customers

and suppliers.

Conclusion

One of the most trusted brands in the last century, the

Pelikan brand has stood the test of time and weathered

economic challenges through time tested values of

quality, trust and innovation. As we move forward, we

seek to continue on our journey in creating a brand that is

reputable as well as visible and recognisable throughout

the world. We also strive to associate the Group and the

brand with products and services of quality, trust,

credence, value and above all safe for our stakeholders.  

At the same time, the Group will continue to develop and

enhance distribution networks to incorporate streamlined

strategies that will allow us to reduce operational cost while

improving product offerings across all market segments. The

Group will also implement various techniques to further

help us in reach out to our stakeholders efficiently by

reducing the redundancies and improving communication

throughout our entire supply chain. This will definitely help

the Group ensure better margins without compromising our

values, strategies and efficiency. 

Above all, the Group will look into prudent and vigilant

strategies to offset the outcome of global recession in

2009, which proves to be a challenging journey that will

see us striving for uncompromising results.

C H A I R M A N  &  C H I E F  E X E C UTI V E  O F F I C E R ’ S  STATE M E N T

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad Loo Hooi Keat

Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Selangor Darul Ehsan

Malaysia

Report_0040  14/05/2009  3:47 PM  Page 25



2 6 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8

G R O U P  O P E R ATI O N S  R EV I EW  2 0 0 8

OPERATIONAL
HIGHLIGHTS
2008

• Focused on consolidating common divisions within the Group to further maximise cost

and operational efficiencies.

• Successfully incorporated Pelikan Trading India Private Limited, Pelikan Nordic AB &

Pelikan France S.A.S.

• Embarked on improving and enhancing the skills of the Company’s workforce.

• Launched a total of 173 new products.

• First to introduce a fully compatible microchip inkjet cartridge.

• Achieved the ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 Certificate issued by the Swiss Certification

Institute which ensures the highest standard in quality and operations.

• Enhanced the Group’s Supply Chain Management to globally control and monitor

inventory levels, purchase orders and logistics.

• Reorganised Group’s operations to set up a centralised production hub and to improve

economies of scale.

Embarking on a new phase in our operations, we have
vigilantly strategised our options to provide the best in
management, procedures and developments.
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In 2008, Pelikan International completed the merging of the traditional stationery business with that of

Hardcopy business under the Pelikan Hardcopy Holding AG Group (“PHH Group”). The Group aims to deliver

the synergies and common cost savings. To this end, the Group has successfully merged the sales and

marketing arms of PHH Group into Pelikan Group in terms of human resource, office space, systems, accounts

and finance, logistics and administration. One of the positive measures imposed to reduce operational costs

in 2008 was the implementation of centralised operation locations. Other methods included streamlining our

production to further minimise cost and to provide efficient communication within the Group and our

consumers. For 2008, the Group focused on merging both traditional and Hardcopy businesses completely

and smoothly while striving to expand organically. 

The Group initiated plans to expand the Hardcopy sales, which has traditionally been contributed by European

markets, to Asia and Latin America regions by investing in acquiring market information through surveys and

research on the printer supplies industry. The Group believes that sales of printer consumables can be further

developed given the right cost and quality standards. For 2008, the Group strived to drive growth and create

shareholder value by focusing on higher productivity, cost saving projects post merger, and executing the

right strategies and solutions without significant delays.

Corporate Services

Corporate Planning 

In May 2008, the Group acquired a dormant

company incorporated in Sweden, which has

subsequently been renamed Pelikan Nordic AB, to

expand the Group’s sales activities in Norway.

Sweden and Finland. 

In June 2008, Pelikan Group successfully

incorporated a new subsidiary in Mumbai, India

namely, Pelikan Trading India Private Limited

(“Pelikan India”), with principal business 

activities of trading in stationery items, printer

consumables, office equipments, writing utensils,

pre-school and school articles. In December 2008,

the Group also incorporated a new subsidiary in

France, namely, Pelikan France S.A.S. (“Pelikan

France”) by Pelikan Holding AG which has similar

business activities as Pelikan India.

For 2009 and beyond, Group Corporate Services

aims to acquire potential companies that will

complete and complement the Group in terms of

distribution channels, product range and market

share. In January 2009, Pelikan Group completed

the acquisition of Indistri S.A., Colombia 

(“Pelikan Colombia”) through Productos Pelikan

S.A de C.V. (“Pelikan Mexico”). Pelikan Colombia

was incorporated on 14 September 1959 with
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principal activity of manufacturing and

distribution of office, schools and stationery

supplies. The acquisition is timely and strategic for

the Group as we expect to boost sales, 

market position and strength of Pelikan brand in

Latin America. 

Finance 

The Group’s strategic financial division targets to

achieve a reasonable return on capital employed

and positive cash flow. In 2008, the Group

restructured its organisation according to Group

functions and responsibilities rather than by

corporate entities, and enhanced reporting

structures to reflect actual performance of

departments and individuals throughout

the Group. 

Human Resource and Employees 

As at end 2008, Pelikan Group had a total global

workforce of 2,442 employees, of whom 1,418

employees or 58 percent are hired in the

production plants and R&D centres. With ongoing

internal restructuring throughout 2008, the Group

concentrated on redeploying employees with the

right skills, knowledge and mind set to the

appropriate departments and job functions in

order to maximise capabilities and eliminate

inefficiencies. There had been some employee

layoffs in Europe after the merging and internal

restructuring, but certain subsidiaries had

resumed hiring and headhunting for excellent

personnel to join and enrich their organisations.

Pelikan International carefully streamlined the

corporate culture and management styles

between traditional stationery and Hardcopy

business entities to smoothen the transition

period for employees and ensure that business

resumes as usual. Pelikan International aims to

further restructure organisations within the Group

by redeploying more employees to job functions

and departments where they can excel and

perform better. 

Legal

The Group’s legal department defends our most

valuable assets, namely the Pelikan trademarks.

The legal team protects the corporate 

trademark and design rights, and coordinates the

enforcement of these rights for Pelikan Group. 

In recent years, Pelikan Group has encountered and

battled against product piracy that have increased

on a large scale. Fake products using the Pelikan

trademark will damage the reputation of our brand

as these counterfeits are highly toxic, non-

environmental friendly, low quality and disrupt our

sales and marketing efforts worldwide. These fake

goods also damage the Pelikan brand image as they

are sold under the impression of the real products

to customers. All Pelikan subsidiaries work with the

legal department to identify and seize potential

fake Pelikan products in their respective markets.

The fight against pirated crime of our products will

continue in order to protect the Pelikan brand and

trademark, and to ensure that only real Pelikan

products reach our consumers.
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Group Product Development, Production and Research and Development

Product Development

In 2008, Pelikan Group launched 173 new products of which 45 new articles are stationery products and 128

are new printing supplies products, in conjunction with Pelikan’s 170th anniversary. 2008 was an exceptional

innovation year for Pelikan in the traditional stationery markets with the strongest product innovation

launching. The product developers worked closely with the R&D team, sales and marketing, and product

managers to brainstorm on product marketing ideas based on market feedback and trends. Pelikan launched

a Limited Edition fine writing instrument called Anniversary Pen 170 Years based on the Majesty series to mark

the occasion. 
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Summary of new products of 2008:

1. Fine Writing instruments

• Limited Edition 170 Years

Anniversary Pens

• Limited Edition Calculation 

of times

• Limited Edition Maki-e Cherry

Blossom & Autumn Leaves

• Special Edition Polar Lights

• Special Edition Mount Everest

• Souverän M625 Dark

Aubergine colour

5. Printer consumables

• Pelikan inkjet cartridges

• For use in Canon PIXMA Printer Series replacing 

CLI-8, PGI-5 cartridges

• For use in Epson Stylus Printer Series replacing 

T071x cartridges

• For use in Epson Stylus Photo Printer Series 

replacing T080x cartridges

• For use in Brother MFC Printer Series replacing 

LC-1000, LC970 cartridges

• Refill shop - development of a machine for a refill shop

concept applicable to recycle more than 100 different HP,

Lexmark and Canon print heads

• Pelikan toner cartridges

• For use in Lexmark printer series replacing 

64416XE, 0E352H21E and 0012016SE cartridges

• For use in HP printer series replacing Q7516A, 

Q7553A and Q7551A  cartridges

• For use in Epson printer series replacing C13S050166

and C13S050187-190 cartridges

• For use in Samsung printer series replacing CLP-K300A, 

CLP-C300A, CLP-M300A and CLP-Y300A cartridges

• For use in Kyocera printer series replacing 

TK-120 and TK-310 cartridges

• For use in Dell printer series replacing 593-10082

cartridge

3. School

• Pelikano Orange

• Pelikano Purple 

• Ladykiller Purple

• ProColour 2008 - Lilac/Pink

and Blue/Green

• Clickbox for water colour

• Gallery - new design

• Collect Me ink eradicators

4. Office

• xcycle correction roller

• Fancy correction roller

2. Design Writing
instruments

• Pura Lady with Swarovski

crystals
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Special Feature: griffix®

Of all the products launched, griffix® received the

most buzz and awards for its excellent design,

concept and ergonomic grip. Pelikan set new

standards in school writing instruments market

with a multi-award and clever learn to write

system. The ergonomic design was created in

cooperation with the Frauenhofer Institute,

Germany by researching on how pupils should

hold and use a writing instrument with the perfect

grip. This revolutionary way of teaching how to

write in school is successful with teachers, parents

and educators. Pelikan plans to launch more

accessories to the griffix® assortment to 

make learning to write fun and educational for

young children.  

Special Feature: inkjet cartridges for use in 

Canon printers 

Thanks to the Group’s R&D competence and

knowledge in microelectronics, Pelikan was the

first on the market with compatible inkjet

cartridges for use in Canon PIXMA printer series

replacing CLI-8 and PGI-5 cartridge, featuring a full

compatible micro chip. This was a huge milestone

for R&D as the product was well received by the

market, which waited for alternative Canon printer

consumables for the last 2 years. In early 2009,

Pelikan Group planned out a series of new inkjet

product launches to provide alternative printing

solutions for the complete actual portfolio of

Epson, Brother, Lexmark and HP printers.

The Group Product Development’s challenges

continue to be creating and developing products

that meet local demands and stand out against

the competition. In light of the economic

slowdown in several key markets in 2009, the

Group will reinforce its Product Development and

Product Management Organisations with clear

targets, namely to grow Pelikan’s leading position

in school business and emphasize on launching

global stars of stationery products such as global

roll-out of griffix® and mass writing instruments. 

Production

In 2008, Pelikan Group had 7 production plants

spread over 3 continents under its management.

Each of the production plant is specialised on a

definite product assortment and supplies 

products to Pelikan global sales and marketing

organisations as well as to customers. Pelikan

Group aims to run a global manufacturing

platform in order to better capitalise on country

specific advantages such as labour and material

costs, and improved economies of scale by

centralising certain product groups in one plant.

As part of the reorganisation of the operation

processes project which started in 2007, it became 

possible for certain production projects to be

realised in a different production plant due to 

cost method effectiveness. Transferring of

technology, manpower and production was

implemented between the production plants such 

that optimisation of margins and capacity 

were achieved. 

The Group Production continued to implement

consolidations and cost saving strategies.

Amongst the major projects for 2008 was the

transfer of the production of German Hardcopy

Holding AG (“GHAG”) remanufactured inkjet refill

cartridges, which was integrated into Pelikan

Group’s operations in Kyjov, Czech Republic plant

in order to consolidate all remanufacturing

activities in one site. Operations of GHAG in Bosnia

were completely wind down by end of 2008,

resulting in closure of the plant. 

In 2008, the Group continued the Kyjov, Czech

Republic plant expansion by integrating the

production of GHAG’s remanufactured inkjet refill

cartridges as mentioned, as well as setting up the

European Packaging Centre. The centralisation of

packing activities for inkjet and toner products

under one management finalised last year resulted

in improvements in delivery and lead times. The

Group also consolidated the empties collection for

used inkjet and toner cartridges at Kyjov plant due
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to its strategic location in Europe. Pelikan Group set

up a Pelikan European Recycling centre since 2008

to handle the empties collection which allowed the

Group to contribute towards reducing waste and

achieve savings. 

In 2008, Pelikan Group upgraded its production

plants and technology centres to a multi-site ISO

9001 and ISO 14001 Certificate issued by the Swiss

Certification Institute (SGS SOCIETE GENERALE DE

SURVEILLANCE SA) to ensure that high standards of

quality are equally applied across all Pelikan

operations. Pelikan Group established a uniform

environmental management system according to

ISO 14001 standard in all production plants. The

Environmental and Quality management processes

of all production plants are steered and controlled by

the Swiss and German technology centres. 

Another long term cost saving project executed

was the continuous global sourcing of raw

materials in Asia which accounted for annual

savings in the Malaysian and China plant

operations. Pelikan Group acquired a production

plant in Bogotá, Colombia that was included as

part of the Pelikan Colombia acquisition in early

2009. Therefore, Pelikan Group will continue its

strategy of consolidating redundant production

operations in 2009, and continuously improve and

reduce production and overhead costs. 

Research & Development

The Group technology centres in Wetzikon,

Switzerland and Vöhrum, Germany since August

2007 had successfully churned out award winning

products based on innovative designs, German

technology and superior R&D capabilities. Pelikan

Group is proud of the R&D team of 53 highly

specialised and experienced German and Swiss

engineers, chemists and researchers for their

passion and competence to make the technology

centres perfect platforms for fast and efficient

development of new products and production

processes. In 2008, Pelikan Group invested in a

new test equipment and laboratory for the

research and development of toner, finishing-pilot

line for colour toner and a chip programming

equipment for the R&D centres.  

Investment

Pelikan Group is committed to enriching its R&D

and technology capabilities in manufacturing and

design by continuously investing into R&D, new

tools and equipment for production lines of new

products, and upgrading of production machinery.

In 2008, Pelikan Group invested RM30.6 million

(2007: RM30.1 million) into product development,

R&D and fixed assets across all product groups. 

Implementing REACH

REACH is a European Community Regulation on

chemicals and their safe use (EC 1907/2006) which

deals with the Registration, Evaluation,

Authorisation and Restriction of Chemical

substances that came into force on 1 June 2007.

REACH requires that all chemicals produced or

imported into the European Union in a volume of

more than 1 tonne per year are pre-registered or

registered with the European Chemical Agency

(“ECHA”).
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Pelikan is fit for REACH and supports the law as it improves the protection of human health and the

environment through the better identification of chemical substances. This will enhance the innovative

capability and competitiveness of the EU chemicals industry in which Pelikan is part of.

Pelikan is primarily a downstream-user of chemicals and we are in very close contact with all our suppliers to

ensure a confirmed pre-registration of their products. As Pelikan is also an importer and re-importer of

chemicals in Europe, Pelikan has pre-registered all the imported/re-imported chemicals (> 1 tonne/year) with

the ECHA in Helsinki, Finland. Pelikan has made every effort to successfully fulfil the requirements of REACH

and is able to ensure full availability of the chemicals in future. Pelikan is also careful that no Pelikan products

supplied include more than 0.1 % of a substance from the SVHC (substances of very high concern) candidate

list published by ECHA.

As REACH requires exact knowledge about the use of chemicals, preparations and products/articles, Pelikan is

in contact with our suppliers and customers to exchange information along the supply chain. With 170 years

of history in school and office chemistry and inks, Pelikan is perfectly prepared to support and fulfil REACH

legislation in Europe.

Group International Procurement Centre

Group Procurement was established to ensure Pelikan Group sources the best quality raw materials, semi- and

finished goods at the right prices, as well as procure for latest innovative products that maybe suitable for Pelikan

Group. The International Procurement Centre (“IPC”) was set up in Puchong, Malaysia to control and manage

global sourcing for all divisions of the Group including product and packaging demands from sales and

marketing organisations.

In 2008, the IPC team managed two major projects: cost down and new product launches. The IPC team searches

for alternate materials that are cost effective and without compromise in quality to substitute for the current

products and packaging in order to optimise margins of Pelikan products. The IPC team managed to reduce cost

and gain savings from changing suppliers and using alternate materials in certain production materials, finished

goods as well as new products. In 2008, the team visited stationery and office trade fairs in Frankfurt and

Shanghai to stay updated with the trends of the global industry and to obtain market data and feedback. 

As part of good corporate practice, the IPC engages close relationships with its suppliers and vendors. In 2008,

the IPC division selected and qualified suppliers through the Supplier Management Programme based on Pelikan

Group’s requirements. The IPC team frequently audits suppliers’ performances and rewards those that fulfil
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Pelikan Group’s criteria, including the Group’s

Environmental, Health and Safety regulations. In

order to maintain Pelikan’s high quality standards in

products and packaging, the IPC commits to

educate suppliers through a quality management

system in order to establish long term partnerships,

provide necessary training for suppliers based on

audit findings and encourage suppliers to be

certified to the highest level. The continuous

development of new suppliers will also enhance

cost competitiveness and production processes. 

Group Supply Chain Management

Supply chain has become a big feature for Pelikan

Group as we expand globally and encounter more

challenges. With the increased globalisation and

offshore sourcing, the Group Supply Chain

Management (“SCM”) had set up teams to work on

several projects. One of the main projects is group

inventory management which handles 

the materials management, manufacturing

management, and logistic management. Despite

higher revenue, the inventory level was lower as a

result of the continuous improvements on all

processes. Lower inventory level had contributed

cost savings in terms of lower working capital

requirement and also lower warehouse costs. The

Group SCM can foresee greater cost savings in the

coming years with all the plans to be carried out

without fail.

The sales and marketing organisations had work

intensively to reduce the range of inventory holding

based on product groups. The teams are putting in

tremendous efforts to achieve low range of

inventories, particularly the fast moving articles.

Looking at the current market situation, forecast

management will be one of the areas to be given

top priority to emphasise on in the coming year. 

Group Production managed to improve planning

and management routines which yield a reduction

of raw materials in the production facilities in 2008.

Group Production also managed to achieve better

management and process of projected demand at

production, better management of stock aging and

empties, as well as less inventories on finished

goods due to shorter reactions time as a result from

the new centralised packing centre in Europe. 

Group SCM is also exploring better logistics and

transport contracts for the Group in the current

financial crisis so as to achieve effectiveness in the

moving and delivery of goods. Moving forward,

Group SCM continues to implement all the above

strategies to achieve the ultimate efficient

SCM process from product development through to

the customers. 

More detailed information about Pelikan Group’s

products in 2008, new products for 2009, product

development and R&D processes, and production

facilities can be found at www.pelikan.com/picb
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Europe

Germany, Switzerland, Austria, Italy, France, Benelux, Greece, Spain, Hungary, Turkey, UK & Nordic, Russia, Eastern

Europe

Europe accounted for 83 percent of Pelikan Group’s revenue in 2008. Pelikan, with a strong brand heritage of 

170th years, is firmly established as a market leading brand with high quality products in the region. In 2008, Pelikan

Europe reported a total of RM1.07 billion in revenue, a 4 percent increase from 2007’s revenue of RM1.03 billion. The

revenue gain was attributable to the completed consolidation of the Hardcopy business, making Pelikan the largest

non-Original Equipment Manufacturer (“OEM”) and distributor of printer consumables in Europe. New products

launched, especially griffix® which gained the brand tremendous publicity and recognition, also improved market

share for the region.

Some 2008 Highlights in Europe:

• A special exhibition on Pelikan’s history opened in the Historical Museum of Hanover, Germany from 

20 February to 13 July 2008. For the first time, the Historical Museum of Hanover dedicated an exhibition to

a company founded in the beautiful city of Hanover, and featured the success story of the well-known and

traditional Pelikan. 250 guests were invited to the opening ceremony of the exhibition where Mr. Thomas

Wark (Director of the Museum) and Mr. Arno Alberty (Head of Sales & Marketing, Europe) spoke about the

importance of Pelikan in the city. Many of the exhibited products demonstrated the technical innovations

and developments of Pelikan in the 20th century. Pelikan’s most important Fine Writing Instruments (“FWI”)

customers were invited to Hanover on 3 July where the new shop-in-shop concept was shown to all

participants at the Historical Museum. In addition, customers visited the production plant in Vöhrum,

Germany where the FWI section was shown and explained to them. 

• Pelikan Europe initiated a great campaign to celebrate the 170th year by launching a search for 170 most

creative talents. Anyone who created an artwork themed “Pelikan celebrates its birthday” - be it painted,

printed or in written form - could participate and win great prizes. Based on the most ingenious and creative

artworks among the entries at the end of 2008, the outstanding talents were awarded prizes from Pelikan

in January 2009. 

• Pelikan Hellas, Greece developed an advertisement to announce Pelikan’s 170th anniversary and placed the

advertisement in the trade fair catalogues from 9 - 12 May 2008. 

• Pelikan Spain participated in the EUROPAPER fair held in Lisbon from 13 - 16 March 2008 and highlighted the

Power Pad series and ‘back to school’ products. 

• On 16 - 19 March 2008, Pelikan France participated for the first time at the 10th SMAC (trade show for crafts

and creative arts) in Paris. 
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• Pelikan Turkey supported three distributors who participated in the Stationery Fair in Istanbul on

2 - 6 April 2008. This international office products fair is the world’s fourth and Europe’s second largest fair

with over 200 participants and 22,000 visitors. The Stationery Fair proved to be a good showcase for Pelikan

products and distributors to purchase orders.  

• Due to world sporting events in 2008, Pelikan offered an attractive fan-shirt promotion for all sports fans to

cheer for their favourite team. In cooperation with its partner, Shirtcity, Pelikan promoted “Design your own

personal fan shirt and get it printed individually”. To participate, customers need to find a promotion sticker

with an individual code on selected inkjet cartridges, log onto www.shirtcity.com/pelikan to design the

shirt, and the shirt will be printed for free by Pelikan. When it comes to creating the shirts, everything is

possible: State flags, names of famous ball players, fantasy jerseys as well as funny motifs beyond the field

of sports. Several thousand shirts have been created so far. 

• On 6 September 2008, the Pelikan plant in Vöhrum, Germany commemorated its 35th anniversary.

Production at the Vöhrum plant - a former shoe factory - started back in 1973. In the wake of the booming

business with writing materials at the time, production was relocated from Hanover to Vöhrum. Over 1,200

employees and their families gathered in Vöhrum for the celebration. The production plant was opened for

an insight view of all Pelikan writing products and visitors were amazed to see the high quality “Made in

Germany” products from pre-fabrication, the manufacture of the pen nibs through to final assembly of the

writing instrument itself. On site, there were a lot of attractions for kids such as the Pelikan Malmobil where

children could create their own buttons and bags. A nice buffet including Malaysian food excited the Pelikan

employees and their families.

• On 14 October 2008, Pelikan Spain celebrated its 75th anniversary since its establishment in 1933 at the “Day

of the Chamber of Commerce” event held at Barcelona. Pelikan was honoured along with other companies

celebrating their anniversary with important politicians and businessmen in the city. 

• Pelikan Europe launched a year end Cash Back promotion for Pelikan printer consumables that enabled

customers to save money like never before. Pelikan promotion packs and double packs featured a cash-back

sticker with a code number. The procedure was easy and convenient: the customer only had to register at

the website by entering his/her personal cash-back code and personal data, and within a few days, the

refund of either 5 or   8 depending on the selected promotion pack will be remitted to their account. The

response proved successful as 5,000 customers used the cash back promotion by end December 2008. 

For 2009, Pelikan Europe continues to implement strategies that will contribute to higher sales, reduced cost and

inventories, and achieve better productivity. With the slowdown in economic growth and uncertainty over the

financial markets, Pelikan Europe is taking prudent and effective measures to overcome the crisis in its key markets.

Pelikan Europe will re-launch the gluing and correcting products under the blanco and Pelifix brand in the DACH

(Germany, Austria and Switzerland) countries by fourth quarter of 2009, along with new innovative office products.

At the marketing side, the European product managers will execute more sales and product oriented marketing and

below-the-line activities to support sales organisations in 2009. 
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Americas

Mexico, Argentina, Colombia, U.S.A.

Pelikan has been established in Mexico for 45 years and Argentina for 70 years, resulting in strong brand awareness

in the region. In 2008, Pelikan Group continued to invest, expand and pursue marketing activities through Pelikan

Mexico in all the Latin America countries as the region represents a huge opportunity and growing market for 

the Group. 

In 2008, Pelikan Americas continued their streak of double digit growth. The entire region recorded RM129.2 million

in sales, a 22.3 percent increase from 2007, and now represents 10 percent of overall Group turnover. Pelikan Americas

focused on sales and marketing activities in the education and school segment, as well as teamed up with highly

regarded brands in the region for specialised marketing activities that target the same consumer groups.

Some 2008 Highlights for Americas:

• Pelikan Argentina celebrated 75 years of establishing the Pelikan brand in Argentina and Pelikan Mexico

established since 1963 celebrated 45 years of history. 

• On 30 April 2008, Pelikan Colombia celebrated Children’s Day with 800 children by hosting modelling clay

workshops using the “dot” technique. The activity was carried out in 16 stores throughout the country and

2 commercial centres in Bogotá.

• From 29 - 31 August 2008, Pelikan Argentina presented the school product assortment in the

18th International Kindergarden Teachers Congress with theme “Nature, Society and Culture” that took

place at Patio de la Madera Convention Centre, in Rosario City, Santa Fe. 

• In October, Pelikan Mexico took part in the annual Humboldt School Oktoberfest and amused children with

activities using different Pelikan products such as colour pencils and watercolours. The top selling products

at the Pelikan booths were Markatodo in thick and think liner versions, triangular jumbo colour pencils and

the new Non-stop pencils. 

• Pelikan carried out promotions in Multiplaza, Metrocentro and Unicentro malls at El Salvador City in

October 2008 to introduce Pelikan products to the children who visited the Pelikan booth.

• From November to December 2008, Pelikan Mexico teamed up with Africam Safari Zoo to promote a

campaign with main client stores in Puebla for customers to visit the zoo via a 2x1 sticker on the Pelikan

products. The promotion was reinforced with banners and posters at the participating stores and the

website. 

• Pelikan Mexico conducted its annual promoters’ training from December 2008 - January 2009 in four main

cities: Mexico City, Monterrey, Guadalajara and Puebla. Promoters were trained to increase product

knowledge in order to improve sales techniques during product exhibitions and demonstrations. 
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As of early 2009, Pelikan Mexico managed

to acquire the remaining stake in Pelikan

Colombia, which yields sales of USD14

million (RM46.4 million), with the help of

Pelikan International. The new acquisition

will lead to strengthening commercial

operations held by Pelikan Group in

different countries and achieve a higher

market share for writing instruments,

school and office supplies. Pelikan Americas

will continue to consider and evaluate

potential joint ventures/partnerships with

local companies in other Latin American

countries to strategically move into the

markets with suitable and innovative

Pelikan products in order grow the business

and brand in 2009.

Asia, Middle East & Africa

Malaysia, Singapore, Thailand, Indonesia,

Japan, Taiwan, P.R. of China, Middle East,

India, Africa

As the engine of growth for Pelikan sales,

Asia and Middle East regions accounted for

7 percent of the Group’s revenue in 2008, in

line with the regions’ expectations of

expanding revenue share to 9 percent by

2010. These regions performed very 

well and recorded total revenue of RM90

million in 2008, up 51.5 percent from 2007’s

results. Due to the fragmented markets

and stiff competition from local based

stationery brands, Pelikan in Asia, 

Middle East and Africa countries must

differentiate itself in the markets by

engaging consumers through promotions

and marketing activities.
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Some 2008 Highlights for Asia:

• On 28 April 2008, Pelikan International announced at a press conference in Kuala Lumpur the 170th

anniversary and addressed the media about the Group’s strategies moving forward. Pelikan International

also threw an office party with all employees to celebrate the milestone. 

• Pelikan Thailand held a press conference at the Grand Millennium Sukhumvit Hotel, Bangkok on 8 May

2008 to launch Pelikan brand and company to the media and public. 

• On 2 June 2008, Pelikan International hosted a gala dinner after its AGM for its stakeholders including

business partners, shareholders, distributors and employees to commemorate 170 years of history. An

exhibition of Pelikan’s history and products were displayed to approximately 800 guests. 

• On 16 May 2008, Pelikan Singapore celebrated the 170th anniversary with the launch of a new office on

Tannery Lane and marked new beginnings for the brand in Singapore after being present for more than 

70 years. 

• On 10 August 2008, Ei Publising Company conducted a survey of the top 10 best selling fountain pens

among seven major pen shops in Japan and found that Pelikan outperformed other brands by having 3 of

its fountain pens, Souverän M800, M600 and M400, in the top 5.

• Pelikan Japan held a Pelikan Fair for 10 days in September 2008 at the ground floor of Itoya book store in

Ginza, Tokyo - the most expensive shopping area in Japan which gained the brand very good exposure. 

• On 22 September 2008, Pelikan China participated in a 3 day exhibition in Shanghai that showcased

Pelikan’s fine writing instruments and school products. 

2008 Highlights for Middle East & Africa:

• In January, Pelikan Middle East and Ashrafs Distribution LLC participated in the Indian School Fair 2008 in

Bahrain and showcased Pelikan’s school products. A drawing competition based on the theme “On the Spot

Xpress Urself with Pelikan” was held and the first 500 participants were given complimentary Fineliners. 

• In Chennai and Bangalore, India, Pelikan Middle East in support of Staimex International participated and

sponsored an event called “Come on Kids 2008”, which was targeted towards major stationery retailers,

parents and students during the ‘back to school’ season. The exhibition showcased the entire range of

Pelikan school products, and Staimex International proved a professional partner for the brand with this

successful launch in South India. 

• From 19 - 23 October, Pelikan Middle East participated in GITEX 2008, the largest IT exhibition in the region.

A new marketing concept was unveiled - “Solutions u can apply” - to differentiate and emphasize the

competitive advantage of the brand by offering office, school and printing solutions. Pelikan’s innovative

products such as griffix® were introduced, and Pelikan also promoted the products through contests and

free prizes to build up brand awareness amongst the consumers during the event. 
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Germany

Austria

Italy

Poland

Hungary

Turkey

Greece

Spain

Mexico

Colombia

Argentina 

Sweden

Switzerland

Belgium

France

The Netherlands

Strengthen distribution and sales network of printer

consumables via Pelikan Hardcopy AG and stronger integrated

sales and marketing entities througout Europe with the release

of new innovative products.

EUROPE

AMERICAS

Acquisition of Pelikan Argentina SA allows for expansion into

neighbouring countries by synergising common market

approach to build a stronger brand awareness with improved

distribution networks. 

Percentage 

of revenue

83%
(2007: 86.2%)

Employees

1,467
(2007: 1,522)

Manufacturing 

facilities

• 4 plants 

• 2 technology and 

R&D centres

Percentage 

of revenue

10%
(2007: 8.8%)

Employees

448
(2007: 446)

Manufacturing 

facilities

• 1 plant in Puebla

Mexico 

Our international presence has succeeded in building increased brand 

awareness. Creating not only scale of economies but also a brand that is

associated with quality, reliability and value.

B U I L D I N G  P E L I KA N ’ S  WO R L DW I D E  R E P UTE . . .
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ASIA, MIDDLE EAST & AFRICA

Penetrating into new markets via local partners by building a

strong focus in both Pelikan’s education and office products.

Anticapate move into the retail sectors and corporate sectors with

plans of introducing new products.

. . .O F  D I STI N CTI O N

We are passionate about building a brand of significance, a brand of devotion,

and above all, a sterling brand that stays true to our roots. At Pelikan, we create a

brand of distinction.

India

UAE

Taiwan

China

Japan

Australia

Thailand

Malaysia

Indonesia

Singapore

Percentage 

of revenue

7%
(2007: 5%)

Employees

527
(2007: 475)

Manufacturing 

facilities

• 2 plants in Malaysia

and China

Report_0040  14/05/2009  3:47 PM  Page 41



4 2 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8

STATE M E N T  O N  CO R PO R ATE  G OV E R N A N C E

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Pelikan International Corporation Berhad (“Pelikan

Internationalor “the Company”) is pleased to report to shareholders on the manner in which the Pelikan

International group of companies (“the Group”) applies the principles and extent of compliance with

the Best Practices of Good Corporate Governance as set out in Part 1 and 2 respectively of the Malaysian

Code on Corporate Governance (Revised 2007) (“the Code”) and pursuant to Paragraph 15.26 of the

Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”).

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Composition, duties and responsibilities

The Group is led by an experienced Board under the leadership of Independent Non-Executive Chairman, Tan Sri Musa bin

Mohamad and President/Chief Executive Officer, Loo Hooi Keat, supported by three (3) Independent Non-Executive

Directors and one (1) Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. This is in compliance with Paragraph 15.02 of the Listing

Requirements of Bursa Securities which requires at least one-third (1/3) of the Board to comprise of independent Directors.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and each has a clear accepted division of responsibilities

to ensure that there is a balance of power and authority. The Chairman is responsible for ensuring Board effectiveness and

conduct whilst the Chief Executive Officer has the overall responsibilities over the Company’s operating units,

organisational effectiveness and implementation of Board policies and decisions. 

The Board is satisfied that its current composition fairly reflects the investment in the Company, and that its current

size and composition are effective for the proper functioning of the Board. The Independent Non-Executive Directors as

defined under Paragraph 1.01 of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities are independent from the management

and are free from any business or other relationships that could materially interfere with the exercise of independent

judgment. The independent Directors provide a broader view and an independent and balanced assessment. 

The Board has been supplied with timely information to enable them to discharge their duties efficiently.  The Board

takes full responsibility for the overall performance of the Company and the Group. This includes:

a) reviewing and adopting strategic business plans for the Group;

b)  overseeing the conduct of the Company’s business to evaluate whether the business is being properly managed;

c) identifying principal risks and ensuring the implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks;

d) managing and overseeing the operations of the Group’s businesses;

e) developing and implementing an investor relations programme or shareholders communications policies for the

Company; and

f) reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s systems of internal controls and management system

including systems for compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, directives, and guidelines.

2. Board meetings

The Board meets at least four (4) times a year with additional meetings being held as and when required. All Directors

have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretaries who ensure that the Board receives appropriate and

timely information for its decision-making, and that the Board procedures are followed and that the statutory and

regulatory requirements are met. During these meetings, the Board reviews the Group’s financial statements where

results are deliberated and considered. Management and performance of the Group and any other strategic issues that

may affect the Group’s businesses are also deliberated. The deliberations at the Board meetings and the conclusions are

minuted by the Company Secretaries.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2008, the Board met five (5) times, where it deliberated and considered a

variety of matters affecting the Company’s operations including the Group’s financial results, business plan and the

direction of the Group.
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3. Appointments to the Board

The Board has established a Nomination Committee who is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on

the optimum size of the Board and review of the effectiveness of the Board and its committees. 

The Nomination Committee had assessed the effectiveness of the individual Directors, the Board as a whole, the Audit

Committee and the Remuneration Committee. All the assessments have been properly documented in compliance with

the Code.

The Nomination Committee is satisfied with the size of the Company’s Board and that there is appropriate mix of

knowledge, skills, attributes and core competencies in the composition of the Board. 

4. Re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (“the Articles”), all Directors who are appointed by the Board

during a financial year are subject to retirement at the following Annual General Meeting.  The Articles also provide that

at least one third (1/3) of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or multiple of three, then the

number nearest to one-third (1/3) shall retire from office provided always that all Directors shall retire from office at

least once every three (3) years but shall be eligible for re-election.

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad and Yap Kim Swee are due to retire pursuant

to Article 127 of the Company’s Articles of Association while Hajah Rozaida binti Omar is due to retire pursuant to Article

132. They being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

5. Directors’ training

All Directors have attended and completed the Mandatory Accreditation Programme as prescribed by Bursa Securities.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2008, the Company had invited external trainer to provide a half 

day in-house training on “Secret of a Director/CEO” to the  Directors and senior management officers of the Company

to further enhance their professionalism in discharging their duties to the Group.

Training on the Code and the amendments to the Companies Act, 1965 were given by the Company Secretary to all

Directors to facilitate knowledge enhancement in the areas of the Code and relevant compliance areas. The Directors

are kept abreast with general economic, industry and technical developments by senior management’s briefing to the

Board from time to time.

The Company will on a continuous basis, evaluate and determine the training needs of its Directors.

Directors No. of Meetings Attended Percentage (%)

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad 5 out of 5 100

Loo Hooi Keat 5 out of 5 100

Syed Hussin bin Shaikh Al Junid 5 out of 5 100

Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad 5 out of 5 100

Yap Kim Swee 5 out of 5 100

Hajah Rozaida binti Omar (Appointed on 21 November 2008) Not Applicable Not Applicable

The Boards’ attendance record is as follows:

STATE M E N T  O N  CO R PO R ATE  G OV E R N A N C E
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

The Directors’ remuneration is linked to experience, scope of responsibility, seniority, performance and industry information.

Directors’ fees are paid to Non-Executive Directors and these are approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

The details of Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2008 are as follows:

Description Defined Benefit-
Fees Salaries Contribution in-kind Total
(RM) (RM) Plan (RM) (RM) (RM)

Executive Director

Loo Hooi Keat – 1,200,000 144,000 128,000 1,472,000

Non-Executive Directors

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad 72,000 – – 10,000 82,000

Syed Hussin bin Shaikh Al Junid 60,000 – – 10,000 70,000

Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad 60,000 – – 7,750 67,750

Yap Kim Swee 70,000 – – 2,180 72,180

Hajah Rozaida binti Omar 6,667 – – – 6,667

Total 268,667 1,200,000 144,000 157,930 1,770,597

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

1. Financial reporting

The Board takes responsibility for ensuring that the financial statements of the Group and the Company give a true and

fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as required under Section 169(15) of the Companies Act,

1965 and the applicable Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia. 

The Board also ensures the accurate and timely release of the Group’s quarterly and annual financial results to 

Bursa Securities.

2. Directors’ Responsibility Statement in preparing the annual audited financial statements

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the annual audited financial statements of the Group and the Company

are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and the applicable Financial Reporting

Standards in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company at the end

of the financial year and of the results of their operations and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have:

a) selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;

b) made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

c) ensured that all applicable accounting standards have been followed; and

d) prepared financial statements on going concern basis as the Directors have a reasonable expectation having made

appropriate enquiries that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to continue in operational

existence for the foreseeable future.

The Directors have the duty to ensure that the Company keeps accounting records which disclose with reasonable

accuracy the financial position of the Group and Company and which enable them to ensure that financial statements

comply with the Companies Act, 1965.

The Board has the overall responsibility to take all steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the

Group to prevent and detect frauds and other irregularities.
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3. Internal Audit function

In line with Paragraph 15.28 of the amended provision of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, the Group has its

own internal audit function following the adoption of its Internal Audit Charter by the Audit Committee. The internal

audit review of the Group’s operations encompassed an independent assessment of the Group’s compliance with its

internal controls and makes recommendations for improvements.

The Group has established an Internal Audit & Risk Management department as an independent appraisal function.

This is to provide the Audit Committee and the management with independent and objective advice on the

effectiveness of the Group’s business and operations. It recognizes that it is management’s responsibility to analyze the

risks and to devise and implement effective systems of internal control. The fulfilment of the above objective is

achieved by providing reasonable assurance through an effective and efficient programme of independent review

across the Group to Management and to the Audit Committee and Board on an on-going basis. This is not confined to

but includes:

a) appraising the adequacy and integrity of the internal control and management information system of the Group;

b) ascertaining the effectiveness of operating management in identifying principal risks and to manage such risks

through appropriate systems of internal control set-up by the Group;

c) ascertaining the level of compliance with the Group’s plan, policies, procedures and adherence to laws and

regulations;

d) appraising the effectiveness of administrative and financial controls applied and the reliability and integrity of

data that is produced within the Group;

e) ascertaining the adequacy of controls for safeguarding Group’s assets;

f) conducting special reviews or investigations requested by management or by the Audit Committee; and

g) consultation with management, reviewing operations as a whole from the viewpoint of economy and productivity

with which resources are employed and making cost effective recommendations to management.

4. External Audit function

The Company’s independent external auditors fill an essential role for the shareholders by enhancing the reliability of

the Company’s financial statement and giving assurance of that reliability to users of these financial statements.

The external auditors, Messrs. Ong Boon Bah & Co. has continued to report to members of the Company on their

findings which are included as part of the Group’s and Company’s financial reports with respect to each year’s audit on

the statutory financial statements. In doing so, the Group and the Company have established a transparent

arrangement with the auditors to meet their professional requirements. From time to time, the auditors highlight to

the Audit Committee and the Board on matters that require the Board’s attention.

STATE M E N T  O N  CO R PO R ATE  G OV E R N A N C E
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RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

1. The Annual General Meeting 

The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. At the Company’s AGM,

shareholders have direct access to the Board and are given the opportunities to ask questions. The shareholders are

encouraged to participate in the question and answer session. The Chairman of the Board in the AGM often presents to

the shareholders, the Company’s operations in the financial year and outlines the future prospects of the Group.

Further, the Group’s Company Secretaries could provide shareholders and investors with a channel of communication

on which they can provide feedback to the Group. Queries regarding the Group may be conveyed to the Company

Secretaries at the Company’s registered address. 

2. Dialogue between the Company and Investors 

The Group values dialogue with shareholders and investors as a means of effective communication that enables the

Board to convey information with regards to the Group’s performance, corporate strategy and other matters that affect

shareholders’ interest. The Company holds discussion with analysts and institutional shareholders regularly.

Presentations based on permissible disclosure are made to explain the Group’s performance and major development

plans. However, price sensitive information about the Group is not discussed in these exchanges until after the

prescribed announcement to the Bursa Securities has been made.  
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Board Responsibility 

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Pelikan International Corporation Berhad (“Pelikan International” or “the Company”)

is responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal control and reviewing its adequacy and integrity so as to safeguard

the shareholders’ investments and the assets of Pelikan International group of companies (“the Group”). The Board and

management have implemented a control system designed to identify and managed risks faced by the Group in pursuit its

business objectives. This internal control system, by its nature, can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance

against material misstatement or loss.

The Group has in place on-going process for identifying, evaluating, monitoring and managing significant risks faced by the

Group during the financial year. The management is responsible for the identification and evaluation of significant risks

applicable to their respective areas of business and to formulate suitable internal controls.

Risk Management Framework 

The Board has extended the responsibilities of the Audit Committee to include the work of monitoring all internal controls

on its behalf, including identifying risk areas and communicating these risk areas to the Board. Detailed risk events were

identified and discussed and with the approval from the Board, appropriate measures were taken to control and mitigate

these risks.

Internal Control System

The key elements of the Group’s risk management strategies are described below:

a) Clearly defined lines of accountability and delegated authority;

b) Regular and comprehensive information provided to management, covering operating and financial performance and

key business indicators such as resource utilisation and cash flow performance and sales achievement;

c) Detailed budgeting process where operating units prepare budgets for the coming year, which are approved at both the

operating unit level and the Board;

d) Monthly monitoring of results against budget, with major variances being followed up and management action taken,

where necessary;

e) Regular visits to operating units by members of the Board and Senior Management; and

f) The Internal Audit & Risk Management department independently reviews the control processes implemented by the

management from time to time and periodically reports on its findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee.

The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are detailed in the Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee, by consideration of both internal and external audit reports, is able to gauge the effectiveness

and adequacy of the internal control system, for presentation of its findings to the Board. 

STATE M E N T  O N  I N TE R N A L  CO N TR O L
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In line with Appendix 9C, paragraph 30 of the amended provision of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities

Berhad (“Bursa Securities”), the internal audit function of Pelikan International Corporation Berhad group of companies (“the

Group”) is performed in-house, in which the Internal Audit Charter had been formally adopted by the Audit Committee. The

internal audit review of the Group’s operations encompassed an independent assessment of the Group’s compliance with

its internal controls and makes recommendations for improvements. 

1. Purpose

In accordance with the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, the Group Internal Audit & Risk Management (“IARM”)

department is established to ensure not only the effective implementation and compliance of good corporate

governance, but also to ensure that effective systems of internal controls are in place. Such examination and evaluation

of all departments’ activities serves as a service to corporate management and it’s Board of Directors (“the Board”)

across all companies under the Group’s management control.  It is an internal control that functions by measuring and

evaluating the effectiveness of other controls.

2. Terms of Reference

The Group IARM department is responsible for providing the respective country’s management with information about

the adequacy and the effectiveness of its system of internal controls and quality of operating performance when

compared with established standards.  To accomplish this responsibility, all corporate activities are subject to audit. It

is the responsibility of the Group IARM department to serve the Group in the manner that is consistent with the

“Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditors” and the professional standards of conduct such as the

“Code of Ethics of the Institute of Internal Auditors”. 

3. Policy Guideline

3.1 Organisational Status

Whilst, the Group IARM Department is an integral part of the Company and functions in accordance with policies

established by its Senior Management and the Board, it is essential for the Group internal auditor to be

independent of the activities audited. To enhance and ensure this independence, it is authorised to access all

relevant records, personnel and physical properties.

In view of the fact that its organisational status and support accorded to it by Senior Management are major

determinants of its range and value. The Group IARM department reports to the Audit Committee, whose

authority is sufficient to ensure a broad range of audit coverage and an adequate consideration of effective action

on internal audit findings and recommendations.

The Group IARM department has an independent functional responsibility to the Audit Committee, which made

up of Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company for the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of

internal controls. The Head of IARM department shall meet with the Audit Committee on quarterly basis. 

3.2 Objectivity

Objectivity is essential to auditing. Thus, the Group IARM department should not normally develop or install

accounting procedures or controls, prepare records, or engage in activities that its personnel would normally

review and appraise and that could reasonably be construed to compromise its independence. Objectivity need

not be adversely affected by the determination and recommendations of standards and techniques of control to

be applied in developing systems and procedures under its review nor lending its technical assistance to

management in systematic analysis of operations or activities. 
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3.3 Scope

The scope of internal auditing encompass examining and evaluating the adequacy and the effectiveness of the

Company’s system of internal controls and the quality of operating performance against established standards in

carrying out assigned responsibilities.  The scope of the examination and the evaluation performed in areas of the

Company includes the review of:

a) the reliability and integrity of financial and operating information and the means used to identify, measure,

classify and report information;

b) the systems established to ensure compliance with policies, plans, procedures, law and regulations that could

have a significant impact on operations and reports including determining whether the organisation is in

compliance;

c) the means of safeguarding assets and verifying their existence;

d) the economy and efficiency with which resources are utilised and employed; and

e) operations or programmes to ascertain whether results are consistent with established objectives and goals

and whether the operations and programmes are being carried out as planned.

The audit will be conducted in such a manner as the Head of IARM department considers necessary to fulfil his

responsibilities and will include such tests of transactions and of the existence, ownership and valuation of assets

and liabilities as the Group IARM department consider necessary.  The nature and extent of the audit tests will vary

according to the internal auditor’s assessment of the Company’s accounting system, system of internal controls

and cover any aspect of the business operations. The Group IARM department shall report any significant

weaknesses in or observations on, the Company’s system which comes to its notice and which the Group IARM

department thinks should be brought to the attention of the Board and/or the Audit Committee.  

The responsibility for the prevention and detection of irregularities and fraud rests with the operating

management. However, the IARM department shall endeavour to plan its audit so that it has a reasonable

expectation of detecting material misstatements in accounting and operational records resulting from irregularities

or fraud, but its examination should not be relied upon to disclose irregularities and frauds which may exist.   

4. Additional Information Relating to the Internal Audit Function

4.1 Internal Audit Administration

The Head of IARM department is generally responsible for the administration of this policy and functionally

directing internal audit activities throughout the Company.

Group corporate management and operating management are responsible for providing the Group IARM

department with relevant and timely access to all records, personnel and physical properties and for making sure

that appropriate actions are taken to address audit recommendations. 

4.2 Internal Audit Function Costs 

The costs incurred by the Group internal audit function in respect of the financial year 2008 are as follows:

2008
RM

Salaries & bonus 363,167

Defined contribution plan 42,708

Travelling, accommodation & others 233,805

Total 639,680

Report_0040  14/05/2009  3:47 PM  Page 49



AU D I T  COM M I T TE E  R E PO RT

5 0 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Pelikan International Corporation Berhad (“the Company”) is pleased to present the

Audit Committee Report for the financial year 2008.

Membership and Meetings of Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises the following three (3) members who are all Independent Non-Executive Directors. The

Chairman of the Audit Committee is an Independent Non-Executive Director, who is also a member of the Malaysian

Institute of Accountants.  The Vice President ( Internal Audit & Risk Management) and the representative from the external

auditors of the Company were also invited to attend the Audit Committee meetings. 

The Audit Committee members’ attendance record is as follows:

Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee

1. Objective

The primary objective of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its fiduciary duties relating to corporate

accounting and reporting practices of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”).

In addition, the Audit Committee shall:-

a)  evaluate and appraise the quality of audits conducted both by the Company’s and the Group’s internal and

external auditors;

b)  maintain open lines of communication between the Board, internal and external auditors for the exchange of

views and information, as well as to confirm their respective authority and responsibilities; 

c) determine the quality, adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s administrative, operating and accounting controls;

d) oversee compliance with laws and regulations and observance of a proper code of conduct; and

e) provide assurance that the financial information presented by management is relevant, reliable and timely.

2. Composition

The Audit Committee shall be appointed by the Board from amongst the Directors and shall consist of not fewer than

three (3) Non-Executive Directors, a majority of whom shall be Independent Directors.  No alternate Director shall be

appointed as a member of the Audit Committee.

All members of the Audit Committee shall be financially literate and at least one (1) member of the Audit Committee

must be:-

a) a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountant (“MIA”); or

b) if he is not a member of MIA, he must have at least three (3) years of working experience and:

i)  he must have passed the examinations specified in Part I of the 1st Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967; or

ii) he must be a member of one of the associations of the accountants specified in Part II of the First Schedule

of the Accountants Act 1967; or

c) fulfils such other requirements as prescribed by the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”).

The term of office and performance of Audit Committee and each of its members shall be reviewed by the Board at

least once in every three (3) years.

If a member of the Audit Committee resigns, or for any reason ceases to be a member with the result that the number

of members is reduced to below three (3), the Board shall, within three (3) months of that event, appoint such number

of new members as may be required to make up the minimum number of three (3) members. 

Audit Committee members No. of Meetings Attended Percentage (%)

Yap Kim Swee (Chairman) 5 out of 5 100

Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad 5 out of 5 100

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad 5 out of 5 100
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3. Chairman of the Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee shall elect a Chairman from amongst their number who shall be an Independent

Non-Executive Director.

In the absence of the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the other members of the Audit Committee shall amongst

themselves elect a Chairman who must be an Independent Director to chair the meeting.

4. Secretary

The Company Secretary or his/her nominee shall be the Secretary of the Audit Committee. In his/her absence, the

Chairman shall appoint the Secretary.

5. Meetings

The Audit Committee shall meet regularly with due notice of issues to be discussed, and should record its conclusion in

discharging its duties and responsibilities. In addition, the Chairman may call for additional meetings at any time at the

Chairman’s discretion.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee shall also convene a meeting if requested to do so by any member, the

Management or the internal auditors or external auditors to consider any matter that falls within the scope of

responsibilities of the Audit Committee.

Notice of Audit Committee Meetings shall be given to all Audit Committee members unless the Audit Committee

waives such requirement.

The Chairman of Audit Committee shall engage on a continuous basis with Senior Management, such as the Chairman,

the Chief Executive Officer, the Finance Director, the Head of Internal Audit and the external auditors in order to be kept

informed of matters affecting the Company and the Group.

The Finance Director and the Head of Internal Audit should normally attend such meetings. Representatives of the

external auditors are to be in attendance at meetings where matters relating to the audit of the statutory accounts

and/or external auditors are to be discussed. Other Directors, officers and employees of the Company and the Group

may attend meetings upon the invitation of the Audit Committee. However, the Audit Committee should meet the

external auditors without Executive Board members present at least twice a year.

Questions arising at any meeting of the Audit Committee shall be decided by a majority of votes of the members

present, and in the case of equality of votes, the Chairman of the Audit Committee shall have a second or casting vote.

A resolution in writing signed by a majority of the Audit Committee members for the time being entitled to receive

notice of a meeting of the Audit Committee shall be as valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the

Audit Committee duly convened and held. Any such resolution may consist of several documents in like form, each

signed by one (1) or more members of the Audit Committee.

For the purpose of contemporaneous linking together by an instantaneous telecommunication device of a number of the

member of the Audit Committee no less than the quorum required, whether or not any one or more of the member of the

Audit Committee is out of Malaysia, is deemed to constitute a meeting of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee will

apply to such meeting held by instantaneous telecommunication device so long as the following conditions are met:-

a) all the member of the Audit Committee shall have received notice of a meeting by instantaneous

telecommunication device for the purpose of such meeting. Notice of any such meeting will be given on the

instantaneous telecommunication device or in any other manner permitted;

b) each of the member of the Audit Committee taking part in the meeting by the instantaneous telecommunication

device must be able to hear each other at the commencement and for the duration of the meeting; and

c) at the commencement of the meeting each of the member of the Audit Committee must acknowledge his

presence for the purpose of the meeting to all of the other member of the Audit Committee taking parts.
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6. Minutes

The Secretary shall also be responsible for keeping the minutes of meeting of the Audit Committee at the registered

office and distribute to each member of the Audit Committee and also to the other members of the Board. The Audit

Committee Chairman shall report on each meeting to the Board. 

The minutes of the Audit Committee meeting shall be signed by the Chairman of the meeting at which the proceedings

were held or by the Chairman of the next succeeding meeting.

7.  Quorum

The quorum for the Audit Committee meeting shall be the majority of members present who must be Independent

Directors.

8.  Reporting

The Audit Committee shall report to the Board, either formally in writing or verbally, as it considers appropriate,  on the

matters within its terms of reference at least twice a year, but more frequently if it so wishes.

The Audit Committee shall report to the Board on any specific matters referred to it by the Board for investigation 

and report.

9.  Authority

The Audit Committee shall, in accordance with a procedure to be determined by the Board and at the expense of the

Company and the Group:-

a) have explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, resources to do so, and full access

to information. All employees shall be directed to co-operate as requested by members of the Audit Committee;

b) have full and unrestricted access to any information, records, properties and personnel of the Company and of any

other companies within the Group;

c) have direct communication channels with the external auditors and person(s) carrying out the internal audit

function or activity;

d) obtain independent professional or other advice and to invite outsiders with relevant experience and expertise to

attend the Audit Committee’s meetings (if required) and to brief the Audit Committee;

e) have right to ensure the attendance of any particular Audit Committee meeting by other Directors and employees

of the Company shall be at the Audit Committee’s invitation and discretion and must be specific to the relevant

meeting; and

f) have the view that a matter reported by it to the Board has not been satisfactorily resolved resulting in a breach

of the Bursa Securities requirements, the Audit Committee must promptly report such matter to the Bursa

Securities.

10. Duties and Responsibilities

The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are as follows:-

a) to consider the appointment of the external auditors, the audit fee and any question of resignation or dismissal;

b) to discuss with the external auditors before the audit commences, the nature and scope of the audit, and ensure

co-ordination when more than one audit firm is involved;

c) to review with the external auditors his evaluation of the system of internal controls and his audit report;

d) to review the quarterly and year-end financial statements of the Board, focusing particularly on:-

i) any change in accounting policies and practices;

ii) significant adjustments arising from the audit;

iii) the going concern assumption; and

iv) compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;

e) to discuss problems and reservations arising from interim and final audits, and any matter the external auditors

may wish to discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);

f) to review the external auditor’s management letter and management’s response;
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g) to do the following, in relation to the internal audit function:-

i) review the adequacy of the scopes, functions and resources of the internal audit function, and ensure that it

has the necessary authority to carry out its works;

ii) review the internal audit programme and results of the internal audit process and, where necessary, ensure

that appropriate actions are taken on the recommendations of the internal audit function;

iii) review any appraisal or assessment of the performance of the members of the internal audit function;

iv) approve an appointment or termination of senior staff members of the internal audit function; and

v) take cognizance of resignations of internal audit staff members and provide the resigning staff member an

opportunity to submit his reasons for resigning.

h) to consider any related party transactions that may arise within the Group including any transaction, procedure or

code of conduct that raises questions of management integrity;

i) to consider the major findings of internal investigations and management’s response;

j) to determine the remit of the internal audit function; 

k) to consider other topics as defined by the Board; and

l) to report its findings on the financial and management performance, and other material matters to the Board.

Summary of Activities of the Audit Committee

During the financial year 2008, the Audit Committee carried out its duties as set out in the terms of reference. Other main

activities carried out by the Audit Committee during the financial year included the following:-

1. Financial Results

a) Review the quarterly and year-to-date unaudited financial results of the Group before tabling to the Board for

consideration and approval; and

b) Review the reports and the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group together with external

auditors prior to tabling to the Board for approval.  The review was, inter alia, to ensure compliance with:-

i) Provision of the Companies Act 1965;

ii) Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities;

iii) Applicable Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia; and

iv) Other legal and regulatory requirements.

In the review of the annual audited financial statements, the Audit Committee discussed with Management and the

external auditors the accounting principles and standards that were applied and their judgement of the items that may

affect the financial statements as well as issues and reservations arising from the statutory audit. 

2. External Audit

a) Review the external auditors’ scope of work and audit plan for the year and made recommendations to the Board

on their appointment and remuneration;

b) Review and discussed the external auditor’s audit report and areas of concern highlighted in the management

letter, including management’s response to the concerns raised by the external auditors; and

c) Discussed on significant accounting and auditing issues, impact of new or proposed changes in accounting

standards and regulatory requirements.

3. Internal Audit

a) Reviewed the internal audit plan, resources planning requirements for the financial year and assessed the

performance of the Internal Audit & Risk Management department;

b) Reviewed the internal audit reports which highlighted the audit issues, recommendation and the management responses

and directed actions to be taken by the management to rectify and improve the system of internal control; and

c) Monitored the implementation programme recommended by the Internal Audit & Risk Management department

arising from its audits in order to obtain assurance that all key risks and controls have been fully dealt with.

AU D I T  COM M I T TE E  R E PO RT
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R E MU N E R ATI O N  COM M I T TE E  R E PO RT

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Pelikan International Corporation Berhad (“the Company”) is pleased to present the

Remuneration Committee Report for the financial year 2008.

Objective

The Group operates in a competitive environment and it is essential that part of its strategy is to attract, motivate and retain

the highest achievers who are able to deliver the business objectives. The level of remuneration and benefits that the Company

offers is the key to support the objectives and maintaining the Group’s market position as an employer of choice. The Company

provides competitive salaries and benefits for all its employees, consistent with its business strategy and performance.

Composition of Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 6 June 2001 and comprises exclusively of Independent Non-Executive

Directors:

The Remuneration Committee recommends to the Board the reward framework to allow the Company to attract and retain

its Executive Director giving due regard to the financial and commercial health of the Company. The Remuneration

Committee’s approach reflects the Company’s overall philosophy that all employees should be appropriately rewarded.

Remuneration Policy

The Company aims to align the interests of its Executive Director as closely as possible with the interests of shareholders in

promoting the Group’s strategies. Total remuneration comprises salaries, fees, performance related bonus and benefit-in-

kind. Salaries and benefits are competitive and reviewed annually. In making recommendations on the framework for

retaining and rewarding senior management, the Remuneration Committee reviews the total reward package, making use

of internally and externally published information. The salaries of the Executive Director is set by the Remuneration

Committee annually after consideration of the Company’s performance, market conditions, the level of increase awarded to

employees throughout the business and the need to reward individual performance.

Quorum

The quorum for meetings shall be a minimum of two (2) members.

Responsibilities

a) To recommend to the Board, the remuneration and compensation of the Executive Director in all its form, drawing from

external advise where necessary; and

b) To establish a formal procedure for developing policy on Executive Director’s remuneration and compensation package.

Attendance

The Remuneration Committee met once during the financial year. The meeting was attended by all the members of the

Remuneration Committee.

Name of Remuneration Committee Member

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad Chairman

Independent Non-Executive Director

Syed Hussin bin Shaikh Al Junid Member 

Independent Non-Executive Director

Yap Kim Swee Member 

Independent Non-Executive Director
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N OM I N ATI O N  COM M I T TE E  R E PO RT

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Pelikan International Corporation Berhad (“the Company”) is pleased to present the

Nomination Committee Report for the financial year 2008.

Objective

The Nomination Committee was set-up to ensure business continuity of the Company and the Group by having in place a

succession plan for the Board and senior management.

Composition of Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 6 June 2001 and comprises exclusively of Independent Non-Executive

Directors:

Nomination Committee Policy

Fundamentally, new appointments to the Board are made by the whole Board and potential Non-Executive Directors are

proposed by any Director and reviewed by the Nomination Committee before any approach is made to the candidate. Any

new appointment is made by the Board only after a recommendation from the Nomination Committee. In view of the

essential requirement for potential Directors to understand the nature of responsibilities of the Board and the extensive

operations of the Group, it is vital for the Chairman to take part in the briefing of any nominees to the Board. Accordingly,

the Nomination Committee is structured as a sub-committee of the whole Board so that all Directors can particpate in the

nomination process.

Quorum

The quorum for meetings shall be a minimum of two (2) members.

Responsibilities

a) To review the structure, size, and composition of the Board;

b) To review formal succession plan in identifying and mentoring potential Executive and Non-Executive Directors and

senior management personnel;

c) To propose and recommend new appointments of potential candidate to the Board; and

d) To propose and recommend to the Board, the retirement and re-appointment of existing Executive and Non-Executive

Directors, in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.

Attendance

The Nomination Committee met twice during the financial year. The meeting was attended by all the members of the

Nomination Committee.

Name of Nomination Committee Member

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad Chairman

Independent Non-Executive Director

Syed Hussin bin Shaikh Al Junid Member 

Independent Non-Executive Director

Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad Member 

Independent Non-Executive Director

Yap Kim Swee Member 

Independent Non-Executive Director
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CSR
HIGHLIGHTS
2008

• Our commitment to adhere to responsible practices is focused not only on our

operations but also to the communities we serve.

• Restructured the Group’s internal human workforce to reduce personnel costs and

increase personnel productivity through trainings, seminars and workshops.

• Enhanced the Group’s compensation schemes through results-oriented goals and

personal achievements to further promote healthy competition within the workforce.

• Supports and advocates re-use, recycle and reduce campaigns to promote an

environmentally friendly culture .

• Improved efficiencies in product packaging and usage of materials while reducing

excess in the value chain.

• Effective management of production facilities to help capitalise on economies of scale,

and eliminate waste, process inefficiencies and unsafe environmental practices.

• Participated in numerous charitable activities worldwide to further foster close ties with

the underprivileged, the marginalised and the disabled, to help develop their full

potential.

• Embarked on a continuous apprenticeship-training programme to develop and harvest

quality manpower.

• Encouraged voluntary programmes within the Group’s workforce to foster stronger ties.

Our commitment to adhere to responsible practices is
focused not only on our operations but also to the
communities we serve.

STATE M E N T  O N  CO R PO R ATE  S O C I A L  R E S PO N S I B I L I T Y
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For the past 170 years, Pelikan has become a global leader in the market for writing instruments, school

stationery, hobby paints and office supplies. As a manufacturer of writing instruments and stationery for

schools, homes and offices, the Group continuously invests significant amounts of resources and expertise

into research and development (“R&D”) to ensure that our products are of the highest standards in quality,

safety and technology. In its history of 170 years, Pelikan has achieved significant milestones in product

innovations by knowing what our customers need and how to improve their well-being from using our

products. We want to be a company that pioneers innovations in our industry, and establishes the standard

to which high product quality, craftsmanship and creativity are achieved. This is a promise that Pelikan

intends to deliver to all stakeholders. 

Practising Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) is

not new to Pelikan. The Group traditionally placed

great importance and emphasis on the support for

education and schools in Germany. Pelikan has

cooperated with educators and school teachers for

over 30 years to create products that cater to the

needs of children at different stages of their

development. Pelikan has a long traditional history

of innovating tools for school children to express

their thoughts, hence activities that contribute to

educational causes and develop the creativity of

children have always been part and parcel of both

our brand building initiative, corporate culture and

our commitment. As such, Pelikan’s CSR framework

is aimed at enriching the lives of children and the

environment they live in by creating tools that will

guide and improve their potential in education. The

Group aims to build and integrate this value and

commitment across all our operations, and

eventually to our stakeholders. Pelikan International

also aims to increase communication and protect

the interests of our stakeholders by exercising better

control and implementation of fair policies over 

its Marketplace, Workplace and Environment

dimensions of CSR.  

THE MARKETPLACE

The Group is committed to ensuring good

governance, transparency and consistency in

reporting every aspect of our operations. As the

Group grows, we are confronted with the concerns

and expectations of a wider and diverse range of

stakeholders. We seek to establish consistent

dialogue with all stakeholder groups. 

Pelikan Global Best Practices

Pelikan International released a guideline for all

Pelikan subsidiaries to adopt, called Pelikan Global

Best Practices, which seeks to address the broad

principles of internal controls governing key

business operations in the areas of inventory,

logistics, purchasing, accounts payable, sales

administration, and accounts receivables controls.

As operations of each Pelikan subsidiary varies

according to their markets, Pelikan Global Best

Practices has the intention to harmonise the

diversity of Pelikan international’s operations and

form the basic minimum threshold of internal

control standards by which all countries are required

to comply regardless of their size and complexity. 

STATE M E N T  O N  CO R PO R ATE  S O C I A L  R E S PO N S I B I L I T Y
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Investor Relations

Pelikan International is dedicated to maintain its

position as a reputable investment partner by

continuously building a good relationship with the

investing community directly and through our

business partners. In 2008, Pelikan International

held regular meetings, road shows, presentations

and factory tours for investors and shareholders

interested to understand the business. We also

kept business analysts, financial institutions and

the media updated with the performance of the

Group. For 2009, the Group will embark on new

strategies to ensure that the investing community

remain interested and committed to the company.

The Group aims at a long-term increase in

shareholder base and value. 

THE WORKPLACE

Employment and Diversity

Pelikan Group operates a non-discriminatory policy

and provides equal opportunity in all aspects of

employment. In 2008, Pelikan Group continued to

recruit, sustain, train and develop employees in the

key markets. As the Group completed its

consolidation and integration of Pelikan Hardcopy

Holding AG, human resource restructuring plans

included reduction in personnel costs and

increasing personnel productivity. The company-

wide initiative of matching the right jobs with the

right people enabled the Group to operate by

employee function, responsibilities and KPIs,

rather than by entity. The Group also enhanced the

management committee by including a more

diverse group of key management staff to ensure a

...Pelikan’s CSR framework is aimed at enriching the lives 

of children and the environment they live in by creating tools

that will guide and improve their potential in education   

“ “

STATE M E N T  O N  CO R PO R ATE  S O C I A L  R E S PO N S I B I L I T Y

Report_0040  14/05/2009  3:47 PM  Page 58



1 7 0  Y E A R S o f  D i s t i n c t i o n 5 9

greater balance, understanding of regional

markets, sensitivity to labour issues and culture

norms, and constructive decision making process.

The Group is also looking into promoting and

developing second-tier managers through

succession programmes for senior management.

In 2009, the Group aims to focus more on

developing leadership and advocacy practices for

employees with potential managing skills and

talent as those are important factors to ensure

long term business success. 

Performance Management

Pelikan Group supports and encourages internal

promotions. Employees are measured by their

annual performance and assessed based on

individual achievements against objectives and

KPIs set by their divisions. The Group believes that

employees who are managed effectively and

supported to perform to their full potential make

the Group more efficient and competitive. Pelikan

Group’s compensation schemes are hence results-

oriented and based on individual achievements,

potential and value. Pelikan’s employees have 

the opportunity to partake in training and

development, and they are entitled to go for skilled

training courses relevant to their jobs in order to

acquire the competence and qualifications

necessary to meet their division’s strategic goals. 

Employee Welfare

Employee welfare in the form of medical coverage,

subsidized meals, in-house cafeterias and

discounted product purchases are offered by the

Group. Activities which encourage good health and

lifestyle are also practiced. In 2009, the Group aims

to boost the motivation and dedication of employees

by practicing ongoing employee-manager dialogues,

engaging employees through internal surveys and

organising more staff gatherings. 

Health and Safety

The health, safety and well-being of our employees are

important to the company, and Pelikan has policies and

targets in place to assure that. The Group aims to

provide a safe and healthy working environment for all

employees, as well as a sustainable work-life balance.

In 2008, the Group Production and R&D division

managed to achieve integrated management system

for all 7 production plants and R&D centres. The Group

Production and R&D department achieved a multi-site

ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 Certificate issued by the 

Swiss Certification Institute for all production plants,

which confirms that an efficient and well documented

global Quality Management System is being operated

to ensure reliability and high quality production

processes. Other aspects that are taken into 

account are legal requirements, communication, 

sub-contractor work, chemical handling, scheduled

waste management, spills control and response, as

well as control of environment, safety and health. 

STATE M E N T  O N  CO R PO R ATE  S O C I A L  R E S PO N S I B I L I T Y
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THE ENVIRONMENT

Pelikan takes caring for the environment seriously and

incorporates the concern for re-use, reduce and recycle

in the production plants, product development

department and supply chain management. 

Waste Management via Product Development and

Production 

The Group carefully considers the type of raw

materials, the processes involved and the packaging for

the product to improve efficiency and reduce excess in

the value chain. For school stationery, Pelikan develops

products of high quality that are not only made from

safe, non-toxic materials, but also to ensure durability

and sustainability. Pelikan creates tools that have safe

features and allows consumers to replenish stationery

through refills. Refills are an alternative and solution to

reducing the amount of stationery consumption. For

example, Pelikan’s opaque paint boxes that have been

in the market for the past forty years are refillable on an

individual colour basis. Hence consumers do not need

to purchase a new opaque paint box when certain

colours have been used up.

In terms of manufacturing, all production plants

operate on fully automated and semi-automated

processes, ensuring that efficiency in the

manufacturing, assembling, packaging and

logistics of products are near 100 percent. The

engineering and tool making department worked

to ensure machines used in production have zero

tolerance for errors and hence the level of faulty

goods produced is kept to a very minimal. 

Environmental Management System 

With a global production network strategically

spread over 3 continents, each production plant

specialises on specific product assortments.

Effective management of production plants not

only allows the Group to capitalise on economies

of scale, but helps to eliminate waste, process

inefficiencies and unsafe environmental practices.

Pelikan’s production plants are also required to

follow standard procedures with regards to the

environmental management system according to

the ISO 14001 standard. In 2008, Pelikan invested in

environment protection for the production 

plant in Turiff, Scotland with a state-of-the-art

regenerative thermal oxidizer (“RTO”). The RTO

purifies all exhaust air of the plant with high

efficiency and the plant aims to reduce the fuel

consumption by a significant amount per annum.

The Group also established a Pelikan European

Recycling Centre in Kyjov, Czech Republic to collect

and recycle used inkjet and toner cartridges within

the region. Not only will used inkjet and toner

cartridges be recycled, but better empties

management will reduce packaging materials and

improve delivery times. 

STATE M E N T  O N  CO R PO R ATE  S O C I A L  R E S PO N S I B I L I T Y
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THE COMMUNITY

Pelikan aims to be a socially responsible company

not only towards our stakeholders, but towards

the communities that we work in too. We want to

have a positive influence on the social and

environmental well-being of the local

communities by empowering them through

education. We have a special interest in the

welfare of children, young people, as well as the

underprivileged, the marginalized and the

disabled. Pelikan, believing that all children need

to be given a chance to develop to their 

full potential, views education as the greatest gift

that a child could be given. In 2008, Pelikan 

Group has regionally and locally contributed 

direct cash donations as well as in-kind 

donations to selected organisations, employee

volunteering and partnerships with community

groups, non-government organisations and

educational institutions. 

Apprenticeship

Pelikan Germany continues to engage in

programmes that provide young people with skills

and on-the-job training. As part of the German

work culture for many decades, a majority of

Pelikan’s current employees began their

employment in the company since their

apprenticeship days. Each year, eight to ten

trainees receive the opportunity to train in

technical, chemical or commercial matters for

three years. Altogether there are about 30 trainees

in the company and although this number is

higher than the number of jobs available at

Pelikan, Pelikan regards this as one of its social

responsibility - to provide job-related skills and

basic work training to young people.

Engaging with Universities 

On 30 June 2008, 7 students from the Engineering

department of Universiti Malaysia Pahang had the

privilege of visiting Pelikan in Hanover, Germany

and the production plant in Vöhrum with the

objective of learning about technology applied by

Pelikan in the areas of manufacturing, packaging,

quality systems and occupational health and

safety. Pelikan was one of the many German

companies that sponsored the trip of this group of

third year students.

In Spain, Pelikan cooperated actively with the

University of Valencia (“UPV”) in helping them

establish their new safe environmental system, by

providing them with all relevant information for a

more efficient and hazard free printing. Their interest

lies mainly in the recycling system and standards

followed. The project is part of their new “Green-

Students” club, and by engaging with UPV, Pelikan is

now a familiar brand for printer consumables

amongst the thousands of UPV students.

STATE M E N T  O N  CO R PO R ATE  S O C I A L  R E S PO N S I B I L I T Y
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Community Projects in 2008:

• In conjunction with Pelikan’s 170th anniversary,

Pelikan International teamed up with HOPE

worldwide KL, a non-profitable organisation, for

the next three years to set up an art learning

centre for underprivileged children in Sentul,

Kuala Lumpur. Pelikan International sponsors the

centre, materials and teaching staff to promote

painting, drawing and arts and crafts to  children

who would not have had the opportunities to

learn otherwise. Aptly named “Learning with

Pelikan Activity Corner”, classes are held twice a

month and helped by volunteers of both Pelikan

Malaysia and HOPE worldwide KL. 

• Also in the spirit of 170th anniversary, Pelikan

Middle East spent a day of fun activities with

children from the Red Crescent Society in

collaboration with Wafi City’s Encounter Zone.

Pelikan Middle East donated USD10,000 worth

of products as a special support to the Red

Crescent Society, whereby the selected children

will receive a school bag filled with Pelikan

school products every school year until they

finish schooling. Pelikan Middle East also

organised smaller projects, such as a joint

anti-obesity awareness campaign with an

association in Dubai, to sponsor art materials to

7500 children from different age groups who

participated in a painting competition.

• In June 2008, volunteers from Pelikan Malaysia

teamed up with a HSBC branch to lend a hand and

bring happiness to primary school children at

SRJK (T) Pulau Carey. 92 students from

underprivileged families of oil palm estate

workers in the area were enrolled in the school.

Volunteers spent an entire day painting the

school walls and playing games with the children.

Pelikan also organised a colouring competition

which saw full participation from the students.

Pelikan school bags filled with essential stationery

products were given away to each child. 

• In Latin America, Pelikan Mexico visited children

at the “Niño Poblano Hospital”, “Nuevo 

Mundo en Educaciòn Especial”, “Tonatiuhcali

Educational Center”, and other civil associations

in charge of taking care of the children and

integral development with different capacities.

Pelikan Mexico donated stationery products for

their school needs. Pelikan Mexico also

cooperated with congresses for teachers

organized by ANFAEO (National Association of

Manufacturers of Scholastic and Office Article)

such as the National Meeting of Welfare Services

that took place on 3 - 5 December 2008 in the

Fiesta Americana Hotel, Mexico City. 170 school

kits were donated to the attendants.

Corporate Volunteering

One of our objectives for community projects is to

gain social engagement through staff volunteering

efforts. We want employees to voluntarily

contribute to the communities they work in by

donating their time and skills towards those in

need, particularly underprivileged, marginalized or

disabled children who will benefit from being

taught art, as well as reading and writing.

For more information on Pelikan Group’s CSR activities in

2008, please visit www.pelikan.com/picb 

STATE M E N T  O N  CO R PO R ATE  S O C I A L  R E S PO N S I B I L I T Y

Report_0040  14/05/2009  3:47 PM  Page 62



Financial S t at e m e nt s

Directors’ Report 64

Statement by Directors 67

Statutory Declaration 67

Independent Auditors’ Report 68

Income Statements 70

Balance Sheets 71

Consolidated Statement of 73

Changes in Equity

Company Statement of 75

Changes in Equity

Consolidated Cash Flow 76

Statement

Company Cash Flow Statement 77

Notes to the Financial Statements 78

Financial_0040  14/05/2009  4:26 PM  Page 63



D I R E CTO R S ’ R E PO RT

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the

Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries include manufacturing and distribution of writing instruments,

art, painting and hobby products, school and office stationery, printer consumables and investment holding. The Group

distributes its products through wholesalers, dealers, retailers, modern trade including hypermarkets, schools and

specialised stores for luxury items. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the

financial year.

Group Company 

RM’000 RM’000

Profit for the financial year 37,812 26,207

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 36,665 26,207

Minority interests 1,147 –

37,812 26,207

DIVIDENDS

Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company has paid a final dividend of 6.0 sen per ordinary

share of RM1 each, comprising 5.2 sen per ordinary share single tier dividend* and 0.8 sen per ordinary share less 26% tax,

amounting to RM16,830,927 in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2007, paid on 27 August 2008.

The Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of 2.0 sen per ordinary share of RM1 each single tier dividend*. The proposed

dividend is subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

* single tier dividend is non-tax deductible under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 and is exempt from Income Tax in the hands of

the shareholders pursuant to paragraph 12B of Schedule 6 of the said Act.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

All material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year are shown in the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who have held office since the date of the last report are as follows:

Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad

Loo Hooi Keat

Yap Kim Swee

Syed Hussin bin Shaikh Al Junid

Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad

Hajah Rozaida binti Omar (Appointed on 21 November 2008)

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad and Yap Kim Swee are due to retire pursuant to

Article 127 of the Company’s Articles of Association while Hajah Rozaida binti Omar is due to retire pursuant to Article 132

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

6 4 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8

Financial_0040  14/05/2009  4:26 PM  Page 64



1 7 0  Y E A R S o f  I n t e g r i t y 6 5

SHARE CAPITAL, DEBENTURES AND SHARE OPTIONS

Treasury shares

During the financial year, the Company repurchased 2,963,200 of its issued ordinary shares from the open market at an average

price of RM3.44 per share. The total consideration paid for the repurchase including transaction costs was RM10,187,321. The

shares repurchased are being held as treasury shares in accordance with Section 67A of the Companies Act, 1965.

As at 31 December 2008, the Company held 3,709,200 treasury shares. Such treasury shares are held at carrying amount of

RM13,501,000. Further details are disclosed in note 27(b) to the financial statements.

Issue of shares

During the financial year, 55,100,960 new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each were issued by the Company by virtue of the

conversion of Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks (“ICULS”) and Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan

Stocks (“RCULS”) at the conversion price of RM1.25 per share.

All newly issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company except that they will

not be entitled to any rights, dividend and/or distributions, the entitlement date of which is prior to the date of allotment

of such new shares.

There was no share option issued during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

During and at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2008, no arrangements subsisted to which the Company is a

party, being any arrangements with the objects of enabling the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of

the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit

by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which he is a

member or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest except for the following:

(a) Directors’ fees and other emoluments as disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements;

(b) deemed benefits arising from related party transactions as disclosed in note 38 to the financial statements; and

(c) deemed benefits accruing to respective Directors deemed interested in the shares of the Company and its related

corporations from the transactions among related corporations in the ordinary course of business.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, particulars of interests of Directors who held office at the end of the

financial year in the shares of the Company and its related corporations are as follows:

Number of Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each

As at As at

1.1.2008 Additions Disposals 31.12.2008

Loo Hooi Keat

- Direct 468,680 3,053,400 – 3,522,080

- Indirect 45,134,570 58,043,125 (6,648,025) 96,529,670

By virtue of Loo Hooi Keat’s direct and indirect interests in the shares in the Company, he is deemed interested in the shares

in the Company’s related corporations to the extent of his interest.

Other than Loo Hooi Keat, none of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial year held any interest in the shares

in the Company and its related corporations during the financial year.

D I R E CTO R S ’ R E PO RT
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D I R E CTO R S ’ R E PO RT

STATUTORY INFORMATION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Before the income statements and balance sheets were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:

(a) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance

for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate

allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

(b) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course of business their values as shown in the

accounting records of the Group and Company had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(a) which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in the

financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(b) which would render the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the

Company misleading; or

(c) which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities of the

Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate; or

(d) not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements which would render any amount stated in the

financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

No contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve

months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the ability

of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(a) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which

secures the liability of any other person; or

(b) any contingent liability of the Group or Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year other than the

contingent liabilities as disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the

financial statements which would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the results of the Group’s and of the Company’s operations during the financial year were not substantially affected by

any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature; and

(b) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item,

transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the

Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Details of significant events subsequent to the balance sheet date are disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution dated 23 April 2009.

TAN SRI MUSA BIN MOHAMAD LOO HOOI KEAT

Director Director

Kuala Lumpur
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We, TAN SRI MUSA BIN MOHAMAD and LOO HOOI KEAT, being two of the Directors of PELIKAN INTERNATIONAL

CORPORATION BERHAD, state that, in the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 70 to 124 are

drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act 1965 so as

to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2008 and of the results

and cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution dated 23 April 2009.

TAN SRI MUSA BIN MOHAMAD LOO HOOI KEAT

Director Director

STATE M E N T  BY  D I R E CTO R S
Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, LOO HOOI KEAT, the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of PELIKAN INTERNATIONAL

CORPORATION BERHAD, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 70 to 124 are, in

my opinion, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the

provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

LOO HOOI KEAT

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above named LOO HOOI KEAT at Kuala Lumpur on 23 April 2009.

Before me,

MOHAN A. S. MANIAM

Commissioner for Oaths

Kuala Lumpur

STATUTO RY  D E C L A R ATI O N
Pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965
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I N D E P E N D E N T  AU D I TO R S ’ R E PO RT
to the Members of Pelikan International Corporation Berhad (Company No: 63611 U)

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of PELIKAN INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION BERHAD, which

comprise the balance sheets as at 31 December 2008 of the Group and of the Company, and the income statements,

statements of changes in equity and cash flow statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then

ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 70 to 124.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in

accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. This responsibility

includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying

appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in

accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free

from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement

of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control

relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and

the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the

Company as of 31 December 2008 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.
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I N D E P E N D E N T  AU D I TO R S ’ R E PO RT
to the Members of Pelikan International Corporation Berhad (Company No: 63611 U)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report on the following:

(a) in our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and

by its subsidiary companies have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) we have considered the financial statements and the independent auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries which we

have not acted as auditors, which are indicated in note 18 to the financial statements.

(c) we are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiary companies that have been consolidated with the Company’s

financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations as

required by us for those purposes.

(d) the audit reports on the accounts of the subsidiary companies did not contain any qualification or any adverse

comment made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

Other matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act,

1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of 

this report.

ONG BOON BAH & CO WONG SOO THIAM

AF: 0320 1315/12/10(J)

Chartered Accountants Partner of the Firm

Kuala Lumpur

23 April 2009
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I N COM E  STATE M E N TS
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Revenue 7 1,288,493 1,194,949 20,255 55,926

Change in the level of finished 

goods and work in progress (6,610) (5,617) – (2,766)

Other operating income 46,500 40,268 39,867 39,915

Materials used (554,846) (402,826) (15,761) (29,078)

Staff costs 8 (360,597) (359,050) (4,524) (7,006)

Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment (31,720) (36,899) (278) (4,005)

Amortisation of intangible assets (3,758) (2,615) – –

Other operating expenses (300,420) (308,869) (6,260) (8,601)

Profit from operations 77,042 119,341 33,299 44,385

Share of profits of associates 4,545 7,218 – –

Finance costs 11 (32,179) (26,760) (7,305) (9,447)

Profit before taxation 12 49,408 99,799 25,994 34,938

Taxation 13 (11,596) (3,629) 213 341

Profit for the financial year 37,812 96,170 26,207 35,279

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 36,665 93,083 26,207 35,279

Minority interests 1,147 3,087 – –

Profit for the financial year 37,812 96,170 26,207 35,279

Earnings per share attributable to

equity holders of the Company (sen) 14

- Basic 12.30 33.81 – –

- Fully diluted 12.30 28.90 – –

Dividends per share (sen) 15

- declared – 5.00 – 5.00

- proposed 2.00 6.00 2.00 6.00

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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BA L A N C E  S H E E TS
as at 31 December 2008

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 16 343,661 355,850 1,190 16,956

Intangible assets 17 162,246 152,638 – –

Investment in subsidiaries 18 – – 131,980 130,389

Investment in associates 19 29,044 36,677 300 300

Long term investments 20 16,845 13,300 13,013 10,012

Long term receivable 21 – – 81,141 72,340

Pension Trust Fund 22 185,847 187,465 185,847 187,465

Deferred tax assets 23 29,934 27,050 – –

767,577 772,980 413,471 417,462

Current assets

Inventories 24 313,470 322,480 989 5,974

Receivables, deposits and prepayments 25 311,894 323,584 90,820 68,225

Tax recoverable 3,237 3,414 1,116 533

Pension Trust Fund 22 28,053 26,435 28,053 26,435

Deposits, bank and cash balances 26 77,009 111,776 2,952 3,786

733,663 787,689 123,930 104,953

Total assets 1,501,240 1,560,669 537,401 522,415

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity holders

of the Company

Share capital 27 343,169 288,068 343,169 288,068

Share premium 59,869 46,093 59,869 46,093

Currency translation (34,888) (13,113) – –

Retained profits 28 188,977 166,595 37,280 25,356

Treasury shares at cost 27 (13,501) (3,314) (13,501) (3,314)

RCULS – 4,406 – 4,406

543,626 488,735 426,817 360,609

Minority interests 19,177 20,779 – –

Total equity 562,803 509,514 426,817 360,609
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Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-current liabilities

Payables 33 10,607 16,644 – –

Post employment benefits obligations 29 273,351 284,045 – –

Provisions 30 – 1,348 – –

Borrowings 31 196,530 200,661 50,018 37,931

RCULS 32 – 64,232 – 64,232

Deferred tax liabilities 23 8,617 10,310 – 718

489,105 577,240 50,018 102,881

Current liabilities

Payables 33 255,699 307,625 23,670 26,928

Post employment benefits obligations 29 14,797 14,536 – –

Provisions 30 654 2,202 – –

Borrowings 31 169,876 141,298 36,896 30,212

RCULS 32 – 1,785 – 1,785

Current tax liabilities 8,306 6,469 – –

449,332 473,915 60,566 58,925

Total liabilities 938,437 1,051,155 110,584 161,806

Total equity and liabilities 1,501,240 1,560,669 537,401 522,415

Note:

ICULS - Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks

RCULS - Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

BA L A N C E  S H E E TS
as at 31 December 2008
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CO N S O L I DATE D  STATE M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  E Q U I T Y
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008

Irredeemable Redeemable

Convertible Convertible

Unsecured Unsecured

Share Currency Loan Stock Loan Stock Attributable

premium translation Retained Treasury (ICULS) (RCULS) to equity

Share (non (non profits shares (equity (equity holders of Minority

capital distributable) distributable) (distributable) (distributable) component) component) the Company interests Total

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 

2007 221,521 29,457 (4,514) 98,979 – 56,993 5,560 407,996 25,240 433,236

Exchange 

differences

on translation

of foreign 

operations – – (8,599) – – – – (8,599) (2,265) (10,864)

Profit for the

financial year – – – 93,083 – – – 93,083 3,087 96,170

Total recognised 

income and

expense 

for the 

financial year – – (8,599) 93,083 – – – 84,484 822 85,306

Goodwill on 

acquisition

of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – (4,636) (4,636)

Issue of share 

capital

- conversions 

of ICULS 50,298 12,575 – (1,978) – (56,993) – 3,902 – 3,902

- conversions 

of RCULS 16,249 4,061 – 544 – – (1,154) 19,700 – 19,700

Treasury

shares,

at cost 27(b) – – – – (3,314) – – (3,314) – (3,314)

Dividends 15 – – – (24,033) – – – (24,033) (647) (24,680)

At 31 December

2007 288,068 46,093 (13,113) 166,595 (3,314) – 4,406 488,735 20,779 509,514
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Redeemable

Convertible

Unsecured

Share Currency Loan Stock Attributable

premium translation Retained Treasury (RCULS) to equity

Share (non (non profits shares (equity holders of Minority

capital distributable) distributable) (distributable) (distributable) component) the Company interests Total

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2008 288,068 46,093 (13,113) 166,595 (3,314) 4,406 488,735 20,779 509,514

Exchange 

differences on

translation

of foreign

operations – – (21,775) – – – (21,775) (2,749) (24,524)

Profit for the 

financial year – – – 36,665 – – 36,665 1,147 37,812

Total recognised

income and

expense for the 

financial year – – (21,775) 36,665 – – 14,890 (1,602) 13,288

Issue of share 

capital

- conversions 

of RCULS 55,101 13,776 – 2,548 – (4,406) 67,019 – 67,019

Treasury

shares, 

at cost 27(b) – – – – (10,187) – (10,187) – (10,187)

Dividends 15 – – – (16,831) – – (16,831) – (16,831)

At 31 December 

2008 343,169 59,869 (34,888) 188,977 (13,501) – 543,626 19,177 562,803

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

CO N S O L I DATE D  STATE M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  E Q U I T Y
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008
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COM PA N Y  STATE M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  E Q U I T Y
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008

Irredeemable Redeemable

Convertible Convertible

Unsecured Unsecured

Share Loan Stock Loan Stock

premium Retained Treasury (ICULS) (RCULS)

Share (non profits shares (equity (equity Total

capital distributable) (distributable) (distributable) component) component) Equity

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2007 221,521 29,457 15,544 – 56,993 5,560 329,075

Profit for the financial year,

representing total income/

expense for the 

financial year – – 35,279 – – – 35,279

Issue of share capital

- conversions of ICULS 50,298 12,575 (1,978) – (56,993) – 3,902

- conversions of RCULS 16,249 4,061 544 – – (1,154) 19,700

Treasury shares, at cost 27(b) – – – (3,314) – – (3,314)

Dividends 15 – – (24,033) – – – (24,033)

At 31 December 2007 288,068 46,093 25,356 (3,314) – 4,406 360,609

Profit for the financial year,

representing total income/

expense for the 

financial year – – 26,207 – – – 26,207

Issue of share capital

- conversions of RCULS 55,101 13,776 2,548 – – (4,406) 67,019

Treasury shares, at cost 27(b) – – – (10,187) – – (10,187)

Dividends 15 – – (16,831) – – – (16,831)

At 31 December 2008 343,169 59,869 37,280 (13,501) – – 426,817

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CO N S O L I DATE D  CA S H  F LOW  STATE M E N T
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007 

Note RM’000 RM’000

Operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 1,362,886 1,233,609

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (1,290,146) (1,154,372)

72,740 79,237

Interest received 3,417 1,949

Interest paid (21,308) (15,744)

Taxation paid (11,033) (11,344)

Net cash flow generated from operating activities 43,816 54,098

Investing activities

Acquisition of new subsidiaries – (40,333)

Acquisition of existing subsidiary – (4,156)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (38,932) (38,207)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 11,404 22,703

Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets 476 –

Proceeds from disposal of associate – 62,878

Purchase of intangible assets (767) (11,267)

Purchase of investments (3,001) (606)

Development expenses paid (7,808) –

Interest paid (9,145) (5,510)

Dividends received 3,971 747

Net cash flow used in investing activities (43,802) (13,751)

Financing activities

Repayment of hire purchase and lease creditors (1,759) (2,201)

Bank borrowings, net 30,306 44,439

Interest paid (1,622) (5,733)

Repurchase of shares (10,187) (3,314)

Deposits uplifted/pledged 2,016 (3,843)

Dividends paid to shareholders (16,831) (27,281)

Dividends paid to minority interests – (647)

Net cash flow generated from financing activities 1,923 1,420

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the financial year 1,937 41,767

Currency translation (26,846) (4,457)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 65,693 28,383

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 26 40,784 65,693

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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COM PA N Y  CA S H  F LOW  STATE M E N T
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007 

Note RM’000 RM’000

Operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 17,917 13,386

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (28,890) (33,385)

(10,973) (19,999)

Interest received 159 374

Interest paid (7,305) (10,085)

Taxation paid (157) (157)

Receipt from Pension Trust Fund 26,206 26,573

Net cash flow generated from/(used in) operating activities 7,930 (3,294)

Investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates (37) (14,167)

Investment in subsidiaries (1,454) (891)

Purchase of investments (3,001) (606)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (370) (5,427)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – 87

Proceeds from disposal of associate – 62,878

Net cash outflow, on transfer of business to a subsidiary 34 (2) –

Dividends received 4,347 1,571

Net cash flow (used in)/generated from investing activities (517) 43,445

Financing activities

Bank borrowings, net 18,771 (11,215)

Deposits uplifted/(pledged) 1,274 (171)

Dividends paid to shareholders (16,831) (27,281)

Repurchase of shares (10,187) (3,314)

Net cash flow used in financing activities (6,973) (41,981)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

during the financial year 440 (1,830)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 2,378 4,208

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 26 2,818 2,378

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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N OTE S  TO  TH E  F I N A N C I A L  STATE M E N TS
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008

1. General information

The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and listed on the Main Board

of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries include manufacturing and distribution of writing

instruments, art, painting and hobby products, school and office stationery, printer consumables and investment

holding. The Group distributes its products through wholesalers, dealers, retailers, modern trade including

hypermarkets, schools and specialised stores for luxury items.

The address of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company is as follows:

Lot 3410 Mukim Petaling

Batu 12 1/2, Jalan Puchong

47100 Puchong

Selangor Darul Ehsan

Malaysia

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 23 April 2009.

2. Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Group and Company have been prepared under the historical cost convention unless

otherwise indicated in this summary of significant accounting policies and comply with the provisions of the

Companies Act, 1965 and the applicable Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) in Malaysia.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries

made up to the end of the financial year using the purchase method of accounting.

Under the purchase method of accounting, the cost of business combination is measured at the aggregate of fair

values at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued plus

any costs directly attributable to the business combination.

At the date of acquisition, the cost of business combination is allocated to identifiable assets acquired, liabilities

assumed and contingent liabilities in the business combination which are measured initially at their fair values at

the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of business combination over the Group’s interest in the fair value of

the identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill (see Note 3c(i) to the financial

statements on goodwill). If the cost of business combination is less then the interest in the net fair value of the

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, the Group will:

(a) reassess the identification and measurement of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent

liabilities and the measurement of the cost of business combination; and

(b) recognise immediately in profit or loss any excess remaining after that assessment.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the acquisition date, which is the date on which the Group effectively obtains

control, until the date on which the Group ceases to control the subsidiaries. Control exists when the Group has

the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In

assessing control, the existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible

are taken into consideration.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Intragroup balances, transactions and unrealised gains and losses on intragroup transactions are eliminated in

full. Intragroup losses may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in the consolidated financial

statements. If a subsidiary uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the consolidated financial

statements for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to its

financial statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The gain or loss on disposal of a subsidiary, which is the difference between net disposal proceeds and the Group’s

share of its net assets as of the date of disposal including the carrying amount of goodwill and the cumulative

amount of any exchange differences that relate to the subsidiary, is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Minority interests is that portion of the profit and loss and net assets of a subsidiary attributable to equity

interests that are not owned, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries’ identifiable assets and liabilities at the

acquisition date and the minority’s share of changes in subsidiaries’ equity since that date.

Where losses applicable to the minority in a subsidiary exceed the minority’s interest in the equity of that

subsidiary, the excess and any further losses applicable to the minority are all allocated against the Group’s

interest except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make additional investment

to cover the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, such profits are allocated to the Group’s interest

until the minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has been recovered.

Minority interests is presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity and is presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity separately from equity attributable to equity holders of the Company.

Minority interests in the results of the Group is presented in the consolidated income statement as an allocation

of the total profit or loss for the financial year between minority interest and equity holders of the Company.

Transactions with minority interests are treated as transactions with parties external to the Group. Disposals to

minority interests result in gains and losses for the Group and are recorded in profit and loss. Purchases from

minority interests result in goodwill, being difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share

acquired of the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary.

(b) Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a

separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to

the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All

other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

After initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any

accumulated impairment losses.

Freehold land is not depreciated as it has an infinite life. Construction/capital work-in-progress is not depreciated

until such time when the asset is available for use. Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is

provided for on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of each asset to its residual value over the estimated

useful life, at the following annual rates:

Buildings 10 - 50 years

Machinery and technical equipment 5 - 30 years

Mould 1 - 25 years

Office equipment, furniture and fittings 3 - 10 years

Motor vehicles 3 - 7 years
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N OTE S  TO  TH E  F I N A N C I A L  STATE M E N TS
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(b) Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indications

exist, an analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying amount of the asset is fully recoverable. A write down

is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. See accounting policy note on impairment of assets.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year end to ensure that

the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern

of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment. If

expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future

economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any

and the carrying amount is included in profit and loss.

(c) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill includes purchased goodwill and excess of the fair value of purchase consideration of subsidiaries

and associates over the Group’s share of the net fair value of their identifiable assets, liabilities and

contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated

impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Negative goodwill represents the excess of the Group’s share of the fair value of identifiable net assets

acquired over the cost of acquisition. Negative goodwill is recognised in the income statement immediately.

(ii) Research and development

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense when incurred. Expenditure incurred on projects to develop

new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of

completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its

ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of

resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.

Product development expenditures which do not meet these criteria are expensed when incurred.

Development costs, considered to have finite useful lives, are stated at cost less any impairment losses and

are amortised using the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products not

exceeding 5 years. Impairment is assessed whenever there is an indication. The amortisation period and

method are also reviewed at least once at each balance sheet date.

(iii) Trademark

Trademark relates to the “Geha” brand (in stationery and presentation equipment) and was acquired through

business combinations. The management believes there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the

brands are expected to generate net cash flows to the Group. Trademarks are measured at cost and reviewed

for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

value may be impaired.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(c) Intangible assets (Cont’d)

(iv) Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to

use specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (3 - 5 years).

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an

expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique

software products controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding

costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the software development

employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives

(not exceeding 3 years).

(d) Investments

(i) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Group and the Company have power to control financial and operating

policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are

currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group has such power over

another entity.

An investment in subsidiary, which are eliminated on consolidation, is stated in the Company’s separate

financial statements at cost less impairment losses, if any. On disposal of such an investment, the difference

between net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is included in profit and loss account.

(ii) Associates

Associates are entities in which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an

interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating

policy decisions of the investee but is not in control or joint control over those policies.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, an investment in associate is stated at cost less impairment

losses, if any.

An investment in associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method

of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment in associate in the consolidated balance sheet is

initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of net

assets of the associate. The Group’s share of net profit and loss of the associate is recognised in the

consolidated profit or loss. When there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,

the Group recognises its share of such changes. In applying the equity method, unrealised gains and losses

on transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in

the associate. After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to

recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in the associate. The

associate is equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant influence until the date the

Group ceases to have significant influence over the associate. Equity accounting is discontinued when the

carrying amount of the investment in an associate reaches zero, unless the Group has incurred obligations or

made payments on behalf of the associate.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(d) Investments (Cont’d)

(ii) Associates (Cont’d)

Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and

contingent liabilities over the cost of investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and

is instead included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the

period in which the investment is acquired.

The most recent available audited financial statements of the associates are used by the Group in applying

the equity method. Where the dates of the audited financial statements used are not coterminuous with

those of the Group, the share of the results is arrived at from the last audited financial statements available

and management financial statements to the end of the accounting period. Uniform accounting policies are

adopted for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

On disposal of such investments, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and their carrying

amounts is included in profit and loss.

(iii) Other investments

Investment in other non-current investments are stated at cost and an allowance for diminution in value is

made where, in the opinion of the Directors, there is a decline other than temporary in the value of such

investments. Where there has been a decline other than temporary in the value of an investment, such a

decline is recognised as an expense in the period in which the decline is identified.

Marketable securities are carried at the lower of cost and market value, determined on an aggregate basis. Cost

is determined on the weighted average basis while market value is determined based on quoted market values.

Increases or decreases in the carrying amount of marketable securities are recognised in the income statement.

On disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is

charged or credited to the income statement.

(e) Assets acquired under finance lease and hire purchase agreements

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group assumes substantially all the benefits and risks of

ownership are classified as finance lease. Assets acquired under finance lease and hire purchase agreements are

included in property, plant and equipment and the capital element of the leasing and hire purchase commitments

is shown as liabilities. The capital element of the finance lease rental and hire purchase is applied to reduce the

outstanding obligations and the interest element is charged to the income statement so as to give a constant

periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability at the end of each accounting period. Assets acquired under

finance leases and hire purchases are depreciated over the useful lives of equivalent owned assets.

(f) Operating leases

Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are

classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a

straight line basis over the lease period. When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has

expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period

in which the termination takes place.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(g) Receivables

Receivables are carried at invoice value less an allowance for doubtful debts. The allowance is established when

there is evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of

receivables. Bad debts are written off in the period in which they are identified.

Receivables that are factored out to finance institutions for a single non-returnable fixed sum with no recourse to

the Group are treated as being fully settled. The corresponding payment from the finance institution is recorded

as a cash receipt from customers and no liability is recognised. Any fee incurred to effect the factoring is

recognised as an expense in the period in which the factoring takes place.

(h) Inventories

Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is determined using weighted average method. The cost of raw materials comprises cost of purchase. The cost

of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and an

appropriate proportion of production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable value is the

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling expenses.

(i) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonus and profit-sharing, based on formula that takes into

consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognises

a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the

period in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group.

(ii) Defined contribution plan

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the income statement in the period

to which they relate. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group has no further payment obligations.

(iii) Defined benefit plan

The liability in respect of a defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the

balance sheet date minus the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for actuarial gains/ losses

and past service cost. The Group determines the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the fair

value of any plan assets with sufficient regularity such that the amounts recognised in the financial

statements do not differ materially from the amounts that would be determined at the balance sheet date.

The defined benefit obligation, calculated using the projected unit credit method, is determined by independent

actuaries, considering the estimated future cash outflows using market yields at balance sheet date of government

securities which have currency and terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arise from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions. The amount

of net actuarial gains and losses recognised in the income statement is determined by the corridor method.

(iv) Termination benefits

The Group recognises termination benefits according to the relevant laws applicable in the countries concern, when it is

demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan

without possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary

redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after balance sheet date are discounted to present value.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

( j) Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each balance sheet

date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s

recoverable amount is estimated to determine the amount of impairment loss.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment or more

frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the goodwill or intangible asset might be impaired.

The recoverable amount of an asset is estimated for an individual asset. Where it is not probable is determined on

an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from

other assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which

the asset belongs to. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each

of the Group’s CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,

irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the

asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired

and is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of

CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or group of units

and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a

revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for as a revaluation decrease to the extent that

the impairment loss does not exceed the amount held in the asset revaluation reserve for the same asset.

Impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. An impairment loss for an asset other than

goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable

amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is

increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that

would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the

asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in profit or loss, unless

the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

(k) Income taxes

Current tax expense is determined according to the tax laws of each jurisdiction in which the Group operates and

includes all taxes based upon the taxable profits including withholding taxes payable by a foreign subsidiary and

associate on distributions of retained earnings to companies in the Group.

Deferred tax is recognised in full using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the

amounts attributed to assets and liabilities for tax purposes and their carrying amounts in the financial

statements. However, deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in

a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor

taxable profit and loss. See key accounting estimates and assumption note 5(c) on deferred tax assets.

Tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date are used to determine deferred tax.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances, bank overdrafts, deposits and other short term,

highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash and which have an insignificant risk of changes in

value. For the purpose of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts and

pledged deposits.

(m) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised based on the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. In

subsequent periods, borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective yield method; any difference

between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over

the period of the borrowings.

Borrowing are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of

the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(n) Revenue recognition

(i) Revenue

Revenue comprises the invoiced value for the sale of goods and services net of sales taxes, rebates and

discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group in the consolidated income statement. Revenue from

sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to

the buyer.

(ii) Dividend income

Dividend income is accounted for when the shareholders’ right to receive payment is established.

(iii) Interest income

Interest income are recognised on an accruals basis unless collectibility is in doubt.

(iv) Royalties

Revenue arising from royalties is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the

relevant agreements.

(o) Share capital

(i) Classification

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

The presentation and disclosures of FRS 132 – “Financial Instruments, Disclosure and Presentation” have been

adopted in respect of the equity and liability components of financial instruments that contain both liability and

equity elements (“compound instruments”). Upon the issuance of a compound instrument, the fair value of the

liability portion is determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent financial instrument; this amount

is carried as liability on the amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the instrument.

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option which is recognised and included in

shareholders’ equity; the value of the conversion option is not changed in subsequent periods. Upon conversion

of the instrument to equity shares, the amount credited to share capital and share premium is the aggregate of

the amounts classified within liability and equity at the time of conversion. No gain or loss is recognised.

(ii) Share issue cost

Cost directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown as a deduction in equity.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(o) Share capital (Cont’d)

(iii) Dividends to shareholders of the Company

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as liabilities when declared by shareholders before the balance

sheet date. A dividend proposed or declared after the balance sheet date, but before the financial statements

are authorised for issue, is not recognised as a liability at the balance sheet date. Upon the dividend

becoming payable, it will be accounted for as a liability.

(p) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,

when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate

of the amount can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed (for example, under an insurance

contract), the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

(q) Warranty

The Group recognises the estimated liability to repair or replace products still under warranty at the balance sheet

date. This provision is calculated based on past history of the level of repairs and replacements.

(r) Foreign currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of

the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The

consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is the Company’s functional

and presentation currency.

(ii) Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies in Group companies are converted into Ringgit Malaysia at rates of

exchange ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the balance

sheet date are translated into Ringgit Malaysia at the rates of exchange ruling at the date. All exchange

differences arising from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation of foreign

currency monetary assets and liabilities are included in profit and loss in the period they arise. Non-monetary

items initially denominated in foreign currencies, which are carried at historical cost are translated using the

historical rate as of the date of acquisition, and non-monetary items which are carried at fair value are

translated using the exchange rate that existed when the values were determined for presentation 

currency purposes.

(iii) Foreign operations

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the

presentation currency (RM) of the consolidated financial statements are translated into RM as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate prevailing at the

balance sheet date;

- income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this

average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the

transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and 

- all resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of equity.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(r) Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

(iii) Foreign operations (Cont’d)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisitions of foreign operations on or after 1 January

2006 are treated as assets or liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency

of the foreign operations and translated at the closing rate at the balance sheet date. Goodwill and fair value

adjustments which arose on the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries before 1 January 2006 are deemed to be

assets and liabilities of the parent company and are recorded in RM at the rates prevailing at the date

of acquisition.

The principal closing rates used in translation of foreign currency amounts are as follows:

2008 2007

Foreign currency RM RM

EUR (EU Euro) 4.9160 4.8827

CHF (Swiss Franc) 3.3034 2.9451

PLN (Polish Zloty) 1.1866 1.3559

USD (US Dollar) 3.4872 3.3151

MXN (Mexican Peso) 0.2556 0.3046

JPY (Japanese Yen) 0.0386 0.0295

SGD (Singapore Dollar) 2.4184 2.2931

TWD (New Taiwan Dollar) 0.1064 0.1020

CNY (Chinese Yuan Renminbi) 0.5115 0.4545

AUD (Australian Dollar) 2.4086 2.9065

COP (Colombian Peso in million) 1.5810 1.6780

GBP (British Pound) 5.0491 6.6214

CZK (Czech Koruna) 0.1855 0.1838

HUF (Hungarian Forint) 0.0185 0.0193

SEK (Swedish Krona) 0.4496 0.5180

TRY (Turkish Lira) 2.2942 2.8510

ARS (Argentine Peso) 1.0121 1.0545

HKD (Hong Kong Dollar) 0.4500 0.4249

THB (Thai Baht) 0.1016 0.1114

INR (Indian Rupee) 0.0709 0.0841

(s) Financial instruments

(i) Description

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial

liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.

A financial asset is any asset that is cash, a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from

another enterprise, a contractual right to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under

conditions that are potentially favourable, or an equity instrument of another enterprise.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to

another enterprise, or to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under conditions that are

potentially unfavourable.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(s) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(ii) Financial instruments recognised on the balance sheet

The particular recognition method adopted for financial instruments recognised on the balance sheet is

disclosed in the individual accounting policy statement associated with each item.

(iii) Financial instruments not recognised on the balance sheet - Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

Foreign currency forward contracts are used to hedge foreign exposures as a result of receipts and payments

in foreign currency.

Exchange gains and losses arising on contracts entered into as hedges of anticipated future transactions are

deferred until the date of such transaction, at which time they are included in the measurement of 

such transactions.

All other exchange gains and losses relating to hedge instruments are recognised in the income statement in

the same period as the exchange differences on the underlying hedged items.

(iv) Fair value estimation for disclosure purposes

The fair value of quoted investments is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The fair

value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the

balance sheet date.

In assessing the fair value of other derivatives and financial instruments, the Group uses a variety of methods

and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. Quoted

market prices or dealer quotes for the specific or similar instruments are used for long term debt. Other

techniques, such as option pricing models and estimated discounted value of future cash flows, are used to

determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. In particular, the fair value of financial liabilities

is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate available to

the Group for similar financial instruments.

The face values of financial assets, less any estimated credit adjustments, and financial liabilities with a

maturity of less than one year and floating rate long-term debts are assumed to approximate their 

fair values.

(t) Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

The Group does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements. A

contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by

uncertain future events beyond the control of the Group or a present obligation that is not recognised because it

is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also

arises in the extremely rare circumstance where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be

measured reliably. 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by uncertain

future events beyond the control of the Group. The Group does not recognise contingent assets but discloses its

existence where inflows of economic benefits are probable, but not virtually certain.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(u) Segment reporting

Segment reporting is presented for enhanced assessment of the Group’s risks and returns. Geographical segments

provide products or services within a particular economic environment that is subject to risks and returns that are

different from those components operating in other economic environments. Business segments provide products

or services that are subject to risk and returns that are different from those of other business segments. The

business segmentation is not disclosed as the Group is principally engaged in manufacturing and distribution of

related products such as writing instruments, art, painting and hobby products, school and office stationery and

printer consumables.

Segment revenue, expense, assets and liabilities are those amounts resulting from the operating activities of a

segment that are directly attributable to the segment and the relevant portion that can be allocated on a

reasonable basis to the segment. Segment revenue, expense, assets and liabilities are determined before

intragroup balances and intragroup transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process, except to the

extent that such intragroup balances and transactions are between group enterprises within a single segment.

(v) Summary of financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial risk management policies seek to ensure that adequate financial resources are available for

the development of the Group’s businesses whilst managing their risks. Financial risk management is carried out

through risks reviews, internal controls systems and adherence to the Group’s financial risk management policies

that are approved by the Board. The use of financial instruments exposes the Group to financial risks, which are

categorised as credit, liquidity, cash flow, interest rate, market risks and foreign currency exchange risk. It is the

Group’s policy not to engage in speculative transactions.

The policies for controlling these risks when applicable are set out below:

(i) Credit risk

The Group controls its credit risk by the application of credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring

procedures. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount and

limiting the Group’s associations to business partners with an appropriate credit history. Trade receivables

are monitored on an on-going basis.

At balance sheet date, the Group does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or

counterparty nor does it have any major concentration of credit risk related to any financial assets. The

maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial assets.

(ii) Liquidity and cash flow risk

The Group actively manages its debt profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as to

ensure that all repayments and funding needs are met. As part of its overall prudent liquidity management,

the Group endeavours to maintain sufficient levels of cash or cash convertible investments to meet its

working capital requirements. In addition, the Group’s objective is to maintain a balance of funding and

flexibility through the use of credit facilities, short and long term borrowings. Short term flexibility is

achieved through credit facilities and short term borrowings.

(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group finances its operations through operating cash flows and borrowings. Its policy is to derive the

desired interest rate profile through a mix of fixed and floating rate banking facilities. Deposits with licensed

financial institutions are held for short term and not for speculative purpose.

N OTE S  TO  TH E  F I N A N C I A L  STATE M E N TS
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008

Financial_0040  14/05/2009  4:26 PM  Page 89



9 0 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(v) Summary of financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

(iv) Market risk

For key product purchases, the Group establishes floating and fixed price levels that the Group considers

acceptable and enters into short or medium-term arrangements with suppliers. The Group manages its

market risk through the established guidelines and policies.

(v) Foreign currency exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is therefore exposed to different currencies of the countries where

the Group operates. Exposure to currency risk as a whole is mitigated by the operating environment which

provides for a natural hedge. Most payments for foreign payables is matched against receivables

denominated in the same foreign currency or whenever possible, by intragroup arrangements and

settlements. The Group also attempts to limit its exposure for all committed transaction by entering into

forward foreign currency exchange contracts within the constraints of market and government regulations.

4. Effects arising from Adoption of New and Revised FRSs and Amendment to FRS

4.1 Amendment to FRS and new and revised FRSs adopted

(a) Amendment to FRS 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates - Net Investment in a Foreign
Operation is mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007.

This amendment results in exchange differences arising from a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s

net investment in a foreign operation to be recognised in equity irrespective of the currency in which the

monetary item is denominated and whether the monetary item results from a transaction with the Company

or any of its subsidiaries. Previously, exchange differences arising from such transactions between the

Company and its subsidiaries would be accounted for in profit and loss or in equity depending on the

currency of the monetary item.

The adoption of this amendment does not have any material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(b) The following FRSs are mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007: 

FRS 107 Cash Flow Statements
FRS 111 Construction Contracts
FRS 112 Income Taxes
FRS 118 Revenue
FRS 120 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance
FRS 134 Interim Financial Reporting
FRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities

These FRSs align the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) FRSs with equivalent International

Accounting Standards, both in terms of form and content. The adoption of these Standards will only impact

the form and content of disclosures presented in the financial statements.
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4. Effects arising from Adoption of New and Revised FRSs and Amendment to FRS (Cont’d)

4.1 Amendment to FRS and new and revised FRSs adopted (Cont’d)

(c) The following IC Interpretations are mandatory for annual periods beginning on after 1 July 2007:

IC Interpretation 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar Liabilities

IC Interpretation 2 Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments

IC Interpretation 5 Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental
Rehabilitation Funds

IC Interpretation 6 Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market - Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment

IC Interpretation 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under FRS 129 Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies

IC Interpretation 8 Scope of FRS 2

These IC Interpretations are not relevant to the Group’s operations.

(d) Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (“Framework”) is effective for annual

periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007.

The Framework sets out the concepts that underlie the preparation and presentation of financial statements

for external users. It is not a MASB approved FRS as defined in paragraph 11 of FRS 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements and hence, does not define standards for any particular measurement or disclosure issue.

4.2 New FRS not adopted

(a) FRS 8 Operating Segments and the consequential amendments resulting from FRS 8 are mandatory

for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

FRS 8 sets out requirements for disclosure of information on an entity’s operating segments, products and

services, the geographical areas in which it operates and its customers.

The requirements of this standard are based on the information about the components of the entity that

management uses to make decisions about operating matters. The standard requires identification of

operating segments on the basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating

decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and assess its performance.

The standard also requires the amount reported for each operating segment item to be the measure reported

to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of allocating resources to the segment and assessing

its performance. Segment information for prior years that is reported as comparative information for the

initial year of application would be restated to conform to the requirements of this standard.

(b) FRS 4 Insurance Contracts and the consequential amendments resulting from FRS 4 are mandatory for annual

financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. FRS 4 replaces the existing FRS 2022004 General
Insurance Business and FRS 2032004 Life Insurance Business. 

The standard applies to all insurance contracts, including reinsurance contracts that an entity issues and to

reinsurance contracts that it holds. The standard prohibits provisions for potential claims under contracts

that are not in existence at the reporting date, and requires a test for adequacy of recognised insurance

liabilities and an impairment test for reinsurance assets. The standard also requires an insurer to keep

insurance liabilities in its balance sheet until they are discharged or cancelled, or expire, and to present

insurance liabilites without offsetting them against related reinsurance assets.

FRS 4 is not relevant to the Group’s operations.
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4. Effects arising from Adoption of New and Revised FRSs and Amendment to FRS (Cont’d)

4.2 New FRS not adopted (Cont’d)

(c) FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and the consequential amendments resulting from FRS 7 are

mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. FRS 7 replaces the disclosure

requirements of the existing FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation.

The standard applies to all risks arising from a wide array of financial instruments and requires the disclosure

of the significance of financial instruments for an entity's financial position and performance.

The standard requires the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks

arising from financial instruments, including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk

and market risk. The qualitative disclosures describe the management’s objectives, policies and processes for

managing those risks. The quantitative disclosures provide information on the extent to which the entity is

exposed to risk, based on information provided internally to the entity’s key management personnel.

(d) FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and the consequential amendments resulting

from FRS 139 are mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010.

The standard establishes the principles for the recognition and measurement of financial assets and financial

liabilities including circumstances under which hedge accounting is permitted. By virtue of the exemption

provided under paragraph 103AB of FRS 139, the impact of applying FRS 139 on the consolidated financial

statements upon first adoption of the FRS as required by paragraph 30(b) of FRS 108 Accounting Policies,
Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors is not disclosed.

(e) IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives is mandatory for annual financial periods beginning

on or after 1 January 2010.

This Interpretation prohibits the subsequent reassessment of embedded derivatives unless there is a change

in the terms of the host contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required

by the host contract.

The Group does not expect any impact on the consolidated financial statements arising from the adoption

of this Interpretation.

(f) IC Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment is mandatory for annual financial periods

beginning on or after 1 January 2010.

This Interpretation prohibits the reversal of an impairment loss recognised in previous interim period in

respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity instrument or a financial asset carried at cost.

The Group does not expect any impact on the consolidated financial statements arising from the adoption

of this Interpretation in the future.

5. Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements

5.1 Changes in Estimates

FRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment requires the review of the residual value and remaining useful life of an

item of property, plant and equipment at least at each financial year end. Arising therefrom, the Group revised the

residual values and the estimated useful lives of certain machinery and technical equipment. The revisions were

accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate and as a result, the depreciation charges for the

Group for the current financial year have been reduced by RM8,425,000.
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5. Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements (Cont’d)

5.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at

the balance sheet date that, have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial

statements:

(a) Impairment of goodwill and trademark

The Group determines whether goodwill and trademark are impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires

an estimation of the value-in-use of the CGU to which goodwill and trademark are allocated. Estimating value-

in-use amount requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the CGU

and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Details

of the carrying amounts and further details are disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

(b) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful

lives and the residual values, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised. Estimating the value-in-

use amount requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the CGU and

also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying

amounts and further details are disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements.

(c) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unutilised tax losses and capital allowances to the extent that is

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses and capital allowances can be utilised.

Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,

based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

The total carrying amounts of unutilised tax losses is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

(d) Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowances for doubtful debts based on an assessment of the recoverability of receivables.

Allowances are applied to receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

amounts may not be recoverable. The management specifically analyses historical bad debt, customer

concentration, customer creditworthiness, current economic trends and changes in customer payment terms

when making a judgement to evaluate the adequacy of allowances for doubtful debts. Where expectations

differ from the original estimates, the differences will impact the carrying amount of receivables.

(e) Write down for obsolete or slow moving inventories

The Group writes down its obsolete or slow moving inventories based on assessment of their estimated net

selling price. Inventories are written down when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

amounts may not be recoverable. The management specifically analyses sales trend and current economic

trends when making a judgement to evaluate the adequacy of the write down for obsolete or slow moving

inventories. Where expectations differ from the original estimates, the differences will impact the carrying

amount of inventories.
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6. Segmental reporting

The primary reporting format is based on geographical locations of the assets. The business segmentation is not

disclosed as the Group is principally engaged in manufacturing and distribution of related products such as writing

instruments, art, painting and hobby products, school and office stationery and printer consumables.

The Group is organised on a worldwide basis into 6 main geographical units:

- Germany

- Switzerland

- Italy

- Rest of Europe

- Latin America

- Others

Analysis of the Group’s revenue, results and other information by geographical locations of the assets are as follows:

Rest of Latin

Germany Switzerland Italy Europe America Others Elimination Group

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Financial year ended

31 December 2008

External revenue 597,454 149,281 85,032 237,455 129,224 90,047 – 1,288,493

Inter-segment revenue 422,310 306,188 617 16,071 6,029 101,257 (852,472) –

Total revenue 1,019,764 455,469 85,649 253,526 135,253 191,304 (852,472) 1,288,493

Segment result 43,297 14,855 (3,914) (6,960) 25,465 11,432 (34,723) 49,452

Unallocated income

(net of cost) 27,590

Profit from operations 77,042

Share of profit of associates 4,545

Finance costs (32,179)

Taxation (11,596)

Profit for the financial year 37,812

At 31 December 2008

Assets

Segment assets 593,632 186,886 66,961 131,314 130,602 112,642 – 1,222,037

Associates – – – – 1,149 27,895 – 29,044

Pension Trust Fund 213,900

Unallocated assets 36,259

Total assets 1,501,240

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 523,551 55,514 42,848 75,440 33,441 28,730 – 759,524

Unallocated liabilities 178,913

Total liabilities 938,437

Financial year ended

31 December 2008

Other information

Capital expenditure 23,495 13,732 204 5,565 2,541 1,970 – 47,507

Depreciation and amortisation 18,330 4,421 505 3,744 3,531 4,947 – 35,478

Non-cash expenses 875 3,439 2,576 793 203 2,131 – 10,017
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6. Segmental reporting (Cont’d)

Rest of Latin

Germany Switzerland Italy Europe America Others Elimination Group

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Financial year ended

31 December 2007

External revenue 492,457 210,252 94,233 232,956 105,649 59,402 – 1,194,949

Inter-segment revenue 336,652 399,695 – 18,632 5,378 84,498 (844,855) –

Total revenue 829,109 609,947 94,233 251,588 111,027 143,900 (844,855) 1,194,949

Segment result 44,969 43,740 1,888 19,184 15,141 14,235 (43,007) 96,150

Unallocated income

(net of cost) 23,191

Profit from operations 119,341

Share of profit of associates 7,218

Finance costs (26,760)

Taxation (3,629)

Profit for the financial year 96,170

At 31 December 2007

Assets

Segment assets 587,481 219,315 82,156 139,004 133,305 109,145 – 1,270,406

Associates – – – 4,426 2,128 30,122 – 36,676

Pension Trust Fund 213,900

Unallocated assets 39,687

Total assets 1,560,669

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 530,832 75,836 56,009 84,451 39,380 22,775 – 809,283

ICULS / RCULS – – – – – 66,017 – 66,017

Unallocated liabilities 175,855

Total liabilities 1,051,155

Financial year ended

31 December 2007

Other information

Capital expenditure 24,711 14,916 657 3,012 2,644 3,534 – 49,474

Depreciation and amortisation 21,185 6,348 577 2,939 3,752 4,713 – 39,514

Non-cash expenses 1,385 372 1,026 247 1,171 479 – 4,680

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets including those resulting from

acquisition of subsidiaries.
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7. Revenue

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Sale of goods 1,286,812 1,193,451 20,255 55,926

Royalties 1,681 1,498 – –

1,288,493 1,194,949 20,255 55,926

8. Staff costs

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 289,189 287,832 3,975 6,261

Defined contribution retirement plan 53,252 50,837 444 644

Defined benefit retirement plan 8,096 11,101 – –

Other employee benefits 10,060 9,280 105 101

360,597 359,050 4,524 7,006

Staff costs as shown above include the remuneration of Executive Directors as disclosed in note 10.

9. Compensation of key management personnels

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 9,653 9,436 1,200 1,800

Defined contribution retirement plan 765 703 144 216

Defined benefit retirement plan 277 223 – –

Other employee benefits 462 356 128 28

11,157 10,718 1,472 2,044

10. Directors’ remuneration

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-executive Directors

Fee 269 262 269 262

Estimated monetary value of benefits in kind 26 34 26 34

Executive Director

Salaries and bonuses 1,200 1,800 1,200 1,800

Defined contribution retirement plan 144 216 144 216

Estimated monetary value of benefits in kind 128 28 128 28

1,767 2,340 1,767 2,340
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11. Finance costs

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Interest expense on bank borrowings 26,602 21,052 4,537 6,118

Interest expense on ICULS / RCULS 1,911 3,329 1,911 3,329

Interest - others 857 – 857 –

Factoring charges 2,809 2,379 – –

32,179 26,760 7,305 9,447

12. Profit before taxation

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Profit before taxation is arrived at after 

inclusion of the following charges/(credits):

Auditors’ remuneration:

- statutory audit 2,283 2,183 50 35

- underprovision in prior year 10 – 10 –

Impairment of goodwill 1,144 433 – –

Loss from merger of an associate 435 – – –

Rental of land and buildings 19,470 19,056 34 402

Rental of plant and machinery 1,936 2,227 – –

Bad debts written off 1,373 – – –

Allowance for doubtful debts 494 3,127 – –

Waiver of debts to a subsidiary – – 2,684 –

Inventories written down 6,743 1,552 – 51

External logistics, outward freight and 

packaging 70,948 71,045 8 3,864

Sales promotion 72,436 78,077 20 36

Net exchange (gain)/loss:

- unrealised (16,960) (5,521) (4,916) (3,348)

- realised 1,724 (453) (2,150) 77

Gain on disposal of associate – (3,973) – (8,126)

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment (1,222) 1,283 – 173

Dividend income (3,971) (747) (4,347) (1,571)

Interest income (3,417) (1,949) (2,179) (374)

The cost of inventories recognised as expense during the financial year of the Group amounted to RM785,083,000

(2007: RM633,960,000).

Research and development expenses that has been charged to the consolidated income statement for the financial year

amounted to RM30,567,000 (2007: RM30,170,000).
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13. Taxation

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Current tax

- Malaysian tax 270 – – –

- Foreign tax 14,388 11,069 – –

14,658 11,069 – –

Deferred tax (1,967) (7,299) (213) (341)

12,691 3,770 (213) (341)

Prior year’s taxation:

Income tax over provided (1,095) (141) – –

11,596 3,629 (213) (341)

Tax reconciliation between the average effective tax rate and the Malaysian tax rate is as follows:

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Malaysian tax rate of 26% (2007: 27%) 12,846 26,946 6,759 9,433

Tax effect:

- different tax regime 1,825 312 – –

- share of profit of associates 769 (1,625) – –

- expenses not deductible for tax purposes 19,141 2,063 2,395 3,702

- income not subject to tax (29,635) (27,993) (9,367) (13,476)

- current year’s tax losses not recognised 8,813 9,452 – –

- unrecognised temporary differences (411) (3,538) – –

- previous year unrecognised tax losses

now recognised (657) (1,847) – –

- over accrual in prior years (1,095) (141) – –

11,596 3,629 (213) (341)

Malaysian current tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 26% (2007: 27%) of the estimated assessable profit for

the year. The Malaysian statutory tax rate will be reduced to 25% effective from year of assessment 2009. The

computation of deferred tax as at 31 December 2008 has taken into account these changes.
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14. Earnings per share
Group 

2008 2007 

(a) Basic earnings per share

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (RM’000) 36,665 93,083

Elimination of interest expense on ICULS, net of tax (RM’000) – 17

(RM’000) 36,665 93,100

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000) 301,237 276,147

Weighted average number of shares repurchased (’000) (3,028) (746)

(’000) 298,209 275,401

Basic earnings per share (sen) 12.30 33.81

(b) Fully diluted earnings per share:

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (RM’000) 36,665 93,083

Elimination of interest expense on ICULS, net of tax (RM’000) – 17

Elimination of interest expense on RCULS, net of tax (RM’000) – 2,413

(RM’000) 36,665 95,513

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000) 301,237 276,147

Adjustments for ICULS and RCULS (’000) – 55,101

Weighted average number of shares repurchased (’000) (3,028) (746)

(’000) 298,209 330,502

Fully diluted earnings per share (sen) 12.30 28.90

15. Dividends

Dividend declared or proposed in respect of ordinary shares for the financial year are as follows:

Group / Company

Gross Amount of Amount of

dividend dividend, dividend,

per share gross net of tax

Sen RM’000 RM’000

Financial year ended 31 December 2008

Proposed final dividend 2.0 6,863 6,863

Financial year ended 31 December 2007

First interim dividend, paid on 30 July 2007 2.0 5,497 4,013

Second interim dividend, paid on 5 November 2007 3.0 8,504 8,504

5.0 14,001 12,517

Final dividend, paid on 27 August 2008 6.0 17,435 16,831

Total dividends 11.0 31,436 29,348
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15. Dividends (Cont’d)

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2008

of 2.0 sen per share single tier dividend* (2007: 5.2 sen per share single tier dividend and 0.8 sen per ordinary share less

26% tax) amounting to RM6.9 million (2007: RM16.8 million) will be proposed for shareholders’ approval. These

financial statements do not reflect this final dividend which will be accrued as a liability upon approval by shareholders.

* single tier dividend is non-tax deductible under section 108 of the Income Tax Act 1967 and is exempt from Income Tax in the hands

of the shareholders pursuant to paragraph 12B of Schedule 6 of the said Act.

16. Property, plant and equipment
Machinery, Office

technical equipment, Capital

Freehold equipment furniture Motor work-in-

land Buildings and mould and fittings vehicles progress Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Net book value

At 1 January 2007 30,051 73,619 121,375 18,112 1,271 8,002 252,430

Acquisition of subsidiaries 2,520 64,529 26,068 19,442 391 2,729 115,679

Additions – 282 20,157 9,443 2,054 6,271 38,207

Disposals – (19,047) (1,381) (242) (336) (2,980) (23,986)

Transfers – – 867 (630) – (237) –

Depreciation – (3,363) (22,078) (10,628) (830) – (36,899)

Currency translation (1,020) 3,682 5,528 1,627 60 542 10,419

At 31 December 2007 31,551 119,702 150,536 37,124 2,610 14,327 355,850

Additions – 1,076 18,084 12,319 488 6,965 38,932

Disposals (854) – (710) (313) (32) (8,273) (10,182)

Transfers – 160 5,130 230 (43) (6,885) (1,408)

Depreciation – (3,450) (19,066) (8,401) (802) (1) (31,720)

Impairment – – (60) – – – (60)

Write off – – – (47) – – (47)

Currency translation (1,976) (898) (464) (4,354) (143) 131 (7,704)

At 31 December 2008 28,721 116,590 153,450 36,558 2,078 6,264 343,661

At 31 December 2008

Cost 28,721 146,458 313,234 118,872 4,636 6,762 618,683

Accumulated depreciation – (29,868) (159,784) (82,314) (2,558) (498) (275,022)

Net book value 28,721 116,590 153,450 36,558 2,078 6,264 343,661

At 31 December 2007

Cost 31,551 147,724 298,060 116,129 4,558 14,820 612,842

Accumulated depreciation – (28,022) (147,524) (79,005) (1,948) (493) (256,992)

Net book value 31,551 119,702 150,536 37,124 2,610 14,327 355,850
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16. Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Machinery, Office

technical equipment,

equipment furniture and Motor

and mould fittings vehicles Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company

Net book value

At 1 January 2007 11,670 3,924 200 15,794

Additions 3,603 1,046 778 5,427

Disposals (162) (11) (87) (260)

Reclassification 1,567 (1,567) – –

Depreciation (3,375) (459) (171) (4,005)

At 31 December 2007 13,303 2,933 720 16,956

Additions 307 63 – 370

Disposal to a subsidiary (13,303) (2,471) (84) (15,858)

Depreciation (30) (92) (156) (278)

At 31 December 2008 277 433 480 1,190

At 31 December 2008

Cost 307 566 778 1,651

Accumulated depreciation (30) (133) (298) (461)

Net book value 277 433 480 1,190

At 31 December 2007

Cost 17,798 3,500 895 22,193

Accumulated depreciation (4,495) (567) (175) (5,237)

Net book value 13,303 2,933 720 16,956

(a) The net carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment pledged as security for borrowings are 

as follows:

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Freehold land 28,721 31,551 – –

Machinery and technical equipment 40,386 52,883 – 7,925

69,107 84,434 – 7,925

(b) Net book value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment under hire purchase and finance lease agreements

is RM5,575,000 (2007: RM6,101,000).

(c) During the financial year, the Group reviewed the residual values and remaining useful lives of certain machinery

and technical equipment. As a result, the depreciation charges for the financial year have been reduced by

RM8,425,000.

N OTE S  TO  TH E  F I N A N C I A L  STATE M E N TS
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008

Financial_0040  14/05/2009  4:26 PM  Page 101



17. Intangible assets
Computer

Development software

Goodwill Trademarks costs license Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Group

Net book value

At 1 January 2007 81,034 17,004 2,909 – 100,947

Acquisition of new subsidiaries 32,875 1,070 – 4,126 38,071

Acquisition of existing subsidiaries 2,071 – – – 2,071

Additions – – 10,870 397 11,267

Disposals – – – (107) (107)

Amortisation – – (1,168) (1,447) (2,615)

Impairment (433) – – – (433)

Currency translation 1,823 871 472 271 3,437

At 31 December 2007 117,370 18,945 13,083 3,240 152,638

Additions – 105 7,808 662 8,575

Disposals – – – (476) (476)

Amortisation – (43) (2,851) (864) (3,758)

Impairment (1,144) – – – (1,144)

Transfers – – – 1,408 1,408

Currency translation 3,290 127 1,260 326 5,003

At 31 December 2008 119,516 19,134 19,300 4,296 162,246

At 31 December 2008

Cost 121,099 19,177 27,305 20,185 187,766

Accumulated amortisation (1,583) (43) (8,005) (15,889) (25,520)

Net book value 119,516 19,134 19,300 4,296 162,246

At 31 December 2007

Cost 117,838 18,945 18,113 17,468 172,364

Accumulated amortisation (468) – (5,030) (14,228) (19,726)

Net book value 117,370 18,945 13,083 3,240 152,638

Impairment test for goodwill and trademarks

Allocation of goodwill and trademarks:

Goodwill and trademark are allocated to the Group’s CGUs (“Cash Generating Units”) identified according to country of

operation.
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17. Intangible assets (Cont’d)

Group 

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Goodwill

Germany 93,071 90,937

Japan 11,849 11,849

Poland 746 1,182

Taiwan 840 897

Switzerland 2,644 2,071

Argentina 10,366 10,434

119,516 117,370

Trademarks

Germany 19,134 18,945

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow

projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five year period. Cash flows beyond the

five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

EBIT margin Growth rate Discount rate

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

% % % % % %

Germany 9.2 8.5 1.0 1.5 7.8 8.0

Japan 30.0 17.0 1.0 1.5 6.9 2.4

Poland 7.6 5.7 1.0 2.0 5.5 9.0

Taiwan 11.5 11.5 1.0 2.0 4.2 4.2

Switzerland 6.1 6.1 1.5 1.5 6.4 6.4

Argentina 10.1 9.6 1.0 2.0 9.8 11.8

EBIT - budget earning before interest and tax

Growth rate - weighted average growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period

Discount rate - tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections

Management determined EBIT based on past performance and its expectations for the market development.

The weighted average growth rates used are consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports.

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant country.

18. Investment in subsidiaries
Company 

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Quoted shares, at cost 129,191 129,191

Unquoted shares, at cost 2,789 1,198

131,980 130,389

Market values of quoted shares 392,127 715,488
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18. Investment in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

The details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of company Country of Effective Percentage Principal  Activities

Incorporation of Ownership

2008 2007

% %

Direct subsidiaries

Pelikan Holding AG (listed Switzerland 87.64* 87.64* Investment holding

on Zurich Stocks Exchange)

Pelikan Japan K.K. Japan 96.91* 96.91* Distribution of stationery and office products

Productos Pelikan S.A. de Mexico 93.82* 93.82* Production and distribution of stationery

C.V and office products

Pelikan Produktions AG Switzerland 100.00* 100.00* Dormant

Pelikan Polska Sp.z.o.o Poland 100.00* 100.00* Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan Middle East FZE United Arab 100.00* 100.00* Distribution of stationery and office products

Emirates 

Pelikan Singapore Pte Ltd Singapore 100.00* 100.00* Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan Taiwan Co Ltd Taiwan 100.00* 100.00* Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan Trading (Shanghai) China 100.00* 100.00* Distribution of stationery and office products

Co Ltd

PT Pelikan Indonesia Indonesia 99.00* 99.00* Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan Production (Malaysia) Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Production of stationery and office products

Sdn Bhd

Pelikan Hardcopy Holding AG Switzerland 100.00* 100.00* Investment holding

Pelikan Trading India Private India 100.00* – Dormant

Limited 

Indirect subsidiaries

Pelikan (Schweiz) AG Switzerland 87.64* 87.64* Distribution of stationery and office products

(formerly known as 

Pelikan Faber-Castell

(Schweiz) AG)

Gunther Wagner SA Switzerland 87.64* 87.64* Dormant

Pelikan GmbH Germany 87.64* 87.64* Investment holding

Pelikan Vertriebsgesellschaft Germany 87.64* 87.64* Distribution of stationery and office products

mbH & Co. KG

Pelikan PBS- Germany 87.64* 87.64* Production of stationery and office products

Produktionsgesellschaft

mbH & Co. KG

Kreuzer Produktion Germany 87.64* 87.64* Dormant

Vertrieb GmbH

Pelikan PBS-Produktion Germany 87.64* 87.64* Dormant

Verwaltungs-GmbH

Pelikan Vertrieb Germany 87.64* 87.64* Dormant

Verwaltungs-GmbH

Pelikan Verwaltungs-GmbH Germany 87.64* 87.64* Dormant
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18. Investment in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Name of company Country of Effective Percentage Principal  Activities

Incorporation of Ownership

2008 2007

% %

Indirect subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Pelikan Italia S.p.a. Italy 87.64* 87.64* Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan Benelux N.V./S.A. Belgium 87.64* 87.64* Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan Hellas E.P.E. Greece 87.64* 87.64* Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan Austria Ges.m.b.H. Austria 87.64* 87.64* Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan Nederland B.V. Netherlands 87.64* 87.64* Distribution of stationery and office products

(formerly known as 

G.Wagner Pelikan 

Maatschappij B.V.)

Pelikan, Inc USA 87.64* 87.64* Dormant

Pelikan Asia Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 87.64 87.64 Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan Nordic AB Sweden 87.64* – Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan France SAS France 87.64* – Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan Hardcopy Europe Ltd United Kingdom 100.00* 100.00* Investment holding

Pelikan Hardcopy Production Switzerland 100.00* 100.00* Production of office products

AG 

Pelikan Hardcopy Switzerland – 100.00* Distribution of office products

(International) AG 

Pelikan Hardcopy Scotland Ltd United Kingdom 100.00* 100.00* Production of office products

Initio GmbH (formerly 

known as Pelikan Hardcopy Germany 100.00* 100.00* Distribution of office products

Deutschland GmbH)

Greif Werke GmbH Germany 100.00* 100.00* Investment holding

Pelikan Hardcopy European Germany 100.00* 100.00* Services

Logistics and Services GmbH

Pelikan Hardcopy GmbH Austria – 100.00* Distribution of office products

Dongguan Pelikan China 100.00* 100.00* Production office products

Hardcopy Ltd

Pelikan Hardcopy Asia Hong Kong 100.00* 100.00* Dormant

Pacific Ltd 

Pelikan Hardcopy CZ Czech Republic 100.00* 100.00* Production of office products

German Hardcopy AG Germany 87.64* 87.64* Distribution of stationery and office products

German Hardcopy ccc Gmbh Germany 87.64* 87.64* Distribution of stationery and office products

German Hardcopy doo Bosnia 87.64* 87.64* Production of office products

Pelikan Argentina S.A. Argentina 93.42* 93.42* Distribution of stationery and office products

Pelikan Ofis Ve Kirtasiye Turkey 92.58* 92.58* Distribution of stationery and office products

Malzemeleri Ticaret Ltd Sirketi

European Collection Germany 100.00* 100.00* Services

Partner GmbH 

* Not audited by Ong Boon Bah & Co.
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18. Investment in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(a) On 26 May 2008, Pelikan Holding AG (“PHAG”), a subsidiary of the Company, acquired 100% equity share capital

of Goldcup D 3135 AB (“Goldcup”), incorporated in Sweden, representing 100,000 shares of Swedish Krona (SEK) 1

each for a total consideration of SEK100,000 (RM54,500). Subsequently, the share capital was increased from

SEK100,000 to SEK1,000,000 by issue of additional 900,000 new shares of SEK 1 for a total consideration of

SEK900,000. The name of Goldcup was also subsequently changed to Pelikan Nordic AB.

(b) On 11 June 2008, the business (including assets and liabilities) of Pelikan Hardcopy (International) AG has been

merged into Pelikan Hardcopy Production AG.

(c) On 19 June 2008, the Company had incorporated a subsidiary in India, namely Pelikan Trading India Private Limited

(“Pelikan India”), whereby the Company had subscribed for 99% equity interest representing 49,500 shares of

Indian Rupees (INR)10 each for a total consideration of INR495,000 (RM37,521). The remaining 500 shares of INR10

each representing 1% is held by Pelikan Production (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

incorporated in Malaysia.

(d) On 26 September 2008, the business (including assets and liabilities) of Pelikan Hardcopy Ges.m.b.H in Austria has

been merged into Pelikan Austria Gesellschaft m.b.H.

(e) On 3 December 2008, the Group via PHAG had incorporated a new subsidiary in France namely Pelikan France SAS

(“Pelikan France”), whereby PHAG had subscribed for 100% equity interest, representing 25,000 new shares of

EUR10 for a total consideration of EUR250,000 (RM1,229,000).

(f) The Company’s investment in subsidiaries amounting to RM62,218,000 (2007: RM99,612,000) has been pledged

as security for borrowings.

19. Investment in associates
Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 17,055 21,315 300 300

Share of post acquisition reserves 17,240 15,231 – –

Currency translation (5,251) 131 – –

29,044 36,677 300 300

Group’s share of net assets 29,044 36,677 – –

The summarised financial information of the associates are as follows:

Group

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Current assets 47,935 53,763

Non-current assets 72,200 91,481

Current liabilities (32,049) (35,298)

Non-current liabilities (13,053) (15,732)

75,033 94,214

Revenue 75,422 103,693

Profit for the financial year 9,519 12,069
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19. Investment in associates (Cont’d)

Name of company Country of Effective Percentage Principal  Activities

Incorporation of Ownership

2008 2007

% %

Direct associates

Pelikan (Thailand) Co Ltd Thailand 49.00* 49.00* Distribution of stationery and office supplies

Columbia Pelikan  Australia 35.06* 35.06* Production and distribution of stationery

PTY Limited and office products

Faber-Castell Pelikan Austria – 43.82* Distribution of stationery and office products

Austria GmbH

Indistri S.A. Colombia 17.53* 17.53* Production and distribution of stationery

and office products

QUADRIGA plus GmbH Germany 21.91* 21.91* Dormant

Henkel-Pelikan Office Greece 42.94* 42.94* Dormant

Products Ltd.

Artof C.A. Venezuela 21.91* 21.91* Dormant

* Not audited by Ong Boon Bah & Co.

20. Long term investments
Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Quoted shares, at cost 16,886 13,376 13,013 10,012

Allowance for diminution in value (125) (125) – –

16,761 13,251 13,013 10,012

Unquoted shares, at cost 84 49 – –

16,845 13,300 13,013 10,012

Market value of quoted shares 12,554 14,022 9,470 11,498

21. Long term receivable
Company 

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Amount receivable from a subsidiary 81,141 72,340

The long term receivable arose from acquisition of Pelikan Hardcopy Holding AG group. The outstanding amount is

unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
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22. Pension trust fund
Group and Company 

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Current 28,053 26,435

Non-current 185,847 187,465

213,900 213,900

Pursuant to the acquisitions of Pelikan Holding AG group (“PHAG group”) in 2005, part of the defined benefits

retirement plans of the PHAG group in Germany (known as “Removable Pension Liabilities”) is now funded by an

external Pension Trust Fund created for this purpose, whilst the Company is assuming the balance of the said

Removable Pension Liabilities fixed in Ringgit Malaysia as at the completion date of the acquisitions of PHAG group. If

the assets in the Pension Trust Fund are capable of paying the entire Removable Pension Liabilities, the Removable

Pension Liabilities assumed by the Company will be relinquished.

Group and Company 

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Liabilities funded by Pension Trust Fund 176,393 170,821

Liabilities assumed by the Company 65,087 65,087

241,480 235,908

Other post employment benefit obligations of the Group 46,668 62,673

Total post employment benefit obligations 288,148 298,581

23. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows:

Deferred tax assets 29,934 27,050 – –

Deferred tax liabilities

- subject to income tax (4,686) (6,228) – (718)

- subject to capital gains tax (3,931) (4,082) – –

(8,617) (10,310) – (718)

21,317 16,740 – (718)
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23. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (Cont’d)

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 16,740 8,918 (718) 84

Acquisition of subsidiaries – 621 – –

Credited/(charged) to income statement

- tax losses 1,235 11,152 – –

- property, plant and equipment (332) (2,467) – –

- inventories 1 522 – –

- others 1,069 (1,908) 213 341

1,973 7,299 213 341

Currency translation and others 2,099 1,046 – –

Deferred tax on ICULS/RCULS 505 (1,144) 505 (1,143)

At 31 December 21,317 16,740 – (718)

Subject to income tax:

Deferred tax assests

Tax losses 40,269 31,179 – –

Others (10,335) (4,129) – –

29,934 27,050 – –

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (6,865) (3,809) – –

ICULS/RCULS – (718) – (718)

Others 2,179 (1,701) – –

(4,686) (6,228) – (718)

Subject to capital gains tax:

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (3,931) (4,082) – –

The tax effect of the amount of unutilised tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised in the balance sheet

is as follows:

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Unutilised tax losses 266,993 134,246 144 144
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24. Inventories
Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At cost

Raw materials 57,357 42,547 – 3,058

Work in progress 44,698 45,072 – 1,795

Finished goods 169,919 167,257 989 1,121

271,974 254,876 989 5,974

At net realisable values

Raw materials 2,782 30,112 – –

Work in progress 3,552 2,522 – –

Finished goods 35,162 34,970 – –

313,470 322,480 989 5,974

Inventories of the Group pledged as security for borrowings amounted to RM73,325,000 (2007: RM80,579,000).

25. Receivables, deposits and prepayments
Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade receivables 301,189 314,392 110 7,577

Allowance for doubtful debts (21,148) (20,654) – –

280,041 293,738 110 7,577

Amounts receivable from:

- Subsidiaries – – 81,928 60,489

- Associates 3,335 2,817 – 30

- Others 20,979 19,374 8,692 48

Prepayments 6,612 5,616 18 9

Sundry deposits 927 2,039 72 72

311,894 323,584 90,820 68,225

Trade receivables of the Group pledged as security for borrowings amounted to RM25,715,000 (2007: RM15,908,000).

The fair values of trade and other receivables closely approximate their book values.

Credit terms offered by the Group in respect of trade receivables range from 30 to 120 days (2007: 30 to 135 days) from

date of invoices. Amounts receivable from subsidiaries and associates are unsecured, interest free and repayable within

one year, except for an amount owing by a subsidiary which is subject to interest of 5.75% (2007: Nil) per annum.
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25. Receivables, deposits and prepayments (Cont’d)

The currency exposure profile of receivables, deposits and prepayments is as follows:

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

- RM 19,011 15,309 77,726 23,547

- EUR 221,219 233,275 2,091 44,617

- CHF 12,800 4,745 – –

- GBP 3,747 7,571 4,191 –

- CZK 1,321 873 – –

- HUF 925 1,149 – –

- SEK 980 668 – –

- PLN 3,638 5,101 – –

- USD 17,306 25,151 5,425 –

- MXN 10,035 9,712 – 61

- ARS 7,293 9,201 – –

- JPY 10,785 8,106 43 –

- SGD 2,099 1,834 359 –

- TWD 98 185 955 –

- CNY 637 655 – –

- THB – – 30 –

- HKD – 49 – –

311,894 323,584 90,820 68,225

26. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Deposits with licensed banks 3,093 30,867 134 2,840

Bank and cash balances 73,916 80,909 2,818 946

Deposits, bank and cash balances 77,009 111,776 2,952 3,786

Bank overdrafts (Note 31) (33,161) (41,003) – –

43,848 70,773 2,952 3,786

Less: Deposits pledged to licensed banks (3,064) (5,080) (134) (1,408)

40,784 65,693 2,818 2,378

Effective interest rates per annum of deposits as at balance sheet date were as follows:

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

% % % %

Deposits with licensed banks 1.50 - 3.60 2.75 - 3.60 3.00 3.00 - 3.60

The deposits of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2008 have maturity periods ranging between

overnight and one month. Certain fixed deposits have been pledged to certain financial institutions for credit facilities.
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26. Cash and cash equivalents (Cont’d)

The currency exposure profile of cash and cash equivalents is as follows:

Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

- RM 4,871 1,846 388 1,753

- EUR (7,705) 9,751 2,366 319

- CHF 13,220 29,361 – –

- USD 17,614 11,772 64 306

- GBP 1,350 1,371 – –

- CZK 88 1,699 – –

- HUF 163 73 – –

- SEK 1,334 107 – –

- PLN (3,886) (4,770) – –

- MXN 9,352 11,833 – –

- ARS (295) (1,421) – –

- JPY 1,679 2,628 – –

- SGD 89 355 – –

- TWD 870 730 – –

- CNY 2,005 358 – –

- INR 35 – – –

40,784 65,693 2,818 2,378

27. Share capital

Group and Company

Number of shares Group and Company

2008 2007 2008 2007 

’000 ’000 RM’000 RM’000

Authorised:

500,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of RM1.00 each

At 1 January 288,068 221,521 288,068 221,521

Issued during the financial year

- conversion of ICULS – 50,298 – 50,298

- conversion of RCULS 55,101 16,249 55,101 16,249

At 31 December 343,169 288,068 343,169 288,068
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27. Share capital (Cont’d)

(a) Issue of shares

During the financial year, 55,100,960 new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each were issued by the Company by virtue

of the conversion of ICULS and RCULS at the conversion price of RM1.25 per share. The new shares issued shall rank

pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company except that they will not be entitled to

any rights, dividend and/ or distributions, the entitlement date of which is prior to the date of allotment of such

new shares.

(b) Treasury shares

Group and Company

Number of shares Group and Company

2008 2007 2008 2007 

’000 ’000 RM’000 RM’000

At cost:

As at 1 January 746 – 3,314 –

Additions during the year 2,963 746 10,187 3,314

As at 31 December 3,709 746 13,501 3,314

This amount relates to the acquisition cost of treasury shares net of the proceeds received on their subsequent

sale or issuance. 

The shareholders of the Company granted a mandate to the Company to repurchase its own shares at the

Extraordinary General Meeting held on 2 June 2008. The Directors of the Company are committed to enhance the

value of the Company to its shareholders and believe that the repurchase plan can be applied in the best interest

of the Company and its shareholders.

During the financial year, the Company repurchased 2,963,200 of its issued ordinary shares from the open market

at an average price of RM3.44 per share. The total consideration paid for the repurchase was RM10,187,321,

comprising of consideration paid amounting to RM10,151,314 and transaction costs of RM36,007. The repurchase

transactions were financed through internally generated funds. The shares repurchased are being held as treasury

shares in accordance with Section 67A of the Companies Act, 1965.

28. Retained earnings

During the financial year, the Company is given the option to make an irrevocable election to move to a single tier

system or to continue to use its tax credit under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act 1967 for the purpose of dividend

distribution until the tax credit is fully utilised or latest, by 31 December 2013.

The Company has made this election and as a result, there are no longer any restrictions on the Company to frank the

payment of dividends out of its entire retained earnings as at the balance sheet date.
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29. Post employment benefits obligations

The Group operates both funded and unfunded final salary defined benefits retirement plans for its employees. The

latest actuarial valuations of the plans were carried out in 2008.

Removable Pension Liabilities

Funded by Assumed

Pension by the Group

Trust Fund Company Others Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 31 December 2008

Current 14,184 – 613 14,797

Non-current 162,209 65,087 46,055 273,351

176,393 65,087 46,668 288,148

At 31 December 2007

Current 12,513 – 2,023 14,536

Non-current 158,308 65,087 60,650 284,045

170,821 65,087 62,673 298,581

Pursuant to the acquisitions of Pelikan Holding AG group (“PHAG group”) in 2005, part of the defined benefits

retirement plans of the PHAG group in Germany (known as “Removable Pension Liabilities”) is now funded by an

external Pension Trust Fund created for this purpose, whilst the Company is assuming the balance of the said

Removable Pension Liabilities fixed in Ringgit Malaysia as at the completion date of the acquisitions of PHAG group. If

the assets in the Pension Trust Fund are capable of paying the entire Removable Pension Liabilities, the Removable

Pension Liabilities assumed by the Company will be relinquished.

The movements during the financial year in the amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

Removable Pension Liabilities

Funded by Assumed

Pension by the Group

Trust Fund Company Others Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2007 172,647 65,087 33,275 271,009

Reclassified from payables – – 24,701 24,701

Expenses charged to income statement 11,788 – 11,101 22,889

Utilised during the financial year (26,578) – (6,829) (33,407)

Currency translation and others 12,964 – 425 13,389

At 31 December 2007 170,821 65,087 62,673 298,581

Reclassified from provisions – – 4,180 4,180

Expenses charged to income statement 22,296 – 8,096 30,392

Utilised during the financial year (28,597) – (15,873) (44,470)

Currency translation and others 11,873 – (12,408) (535)

At 31 December 2008 176,393 65,087 46,668 288,148
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29. Post employment benefits obligations (Cont’d)

The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet may be analysed as follows:

Group 

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Present value of funded obligations 216,039 260,485

Fair value of plan assets (176,564) (195,808)

Status of funded plan 39,475 64,677

Present value of unfunded obligations 221,988 262,626

Unrecognised acturial gains/(losses) 26,685 (28,722)

288,148 298,581

The amount recognised in the consolidated income statement may be analysed as follows:

Group 

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Current service cost 10,063 4,560

Interest cost 28,265 25,723

Amortisation of transitional liability (2,882) (2,493)

Expected return on plan assets (10,078) (9,031)

Unrecognised past service cost 186 783

Actuarial gain recognised 4,838 3,347

Total included in staff costs 30,392 22,889

The principal actuarial assumptions used in respect of the Group’s defined benefit plans were as follows:

Group 

2008 2007 

% %

Discount rate 3.50 - 6.70 3.75 - 5.75

Expected return on plan assets 2.50 - 6.00 2.50 - 6.20

Expected rate of salary increases 1.00 - 3.00 1.50 - 2.50
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30. Provisions
Group

Warranty

RM’000

At 1 January 2007 2,029

Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,960

Charged to income statement 43

Utilised during the financial year (676)

Currency translation and others 194

At 31 December 2007 3,550

Charged to income statement (2,962)

Utilised during the financial year –

Currency translation and others 66

At 31 December 2008 654

At 31 December 2008

Current 654

Non-current –

654

At 31 December 2007

Current 2,202

Non-current 1,348

3,550

In the current financial year, employee related benefits have been reclassified to payables and accordingly,

comparatives have been restated (refer to note 40).

31. Borrowings
Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Current

Bank overdrafts 33,161 41,003 – –

Bankers’ acceptances 6,642 – – –

Revolving credits 25,950 19,718 18,000 17,765

Discounted bills 14,817 15,908 – –

Short term loans 58,070 42,625 – –

Hire purchase and lease payables 2,660 3,391 – –

Term loans 28,576 18,653 18,896 12,447

169,876 141,298 36,896 30,212

Non-current

Hire purchase and lease payables 2,870 3,898 – –

Term loans 193,660 196,763 50,018 37,931

196,530 200,661 50,018 37,931
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31. Borrowings (Cont’d)

Group Company 
2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Total

Bank overdrafts 33,161 41,003 – –

Bankers’ acceptances 6,642 – – –

Revolving credits 25,950 19,718 18,000 17,765

Discounted bills 14,817 15,908 – –

Short term loans 58,070 42,625 – –

Hire purchase and lease payables 5,530 7,289 – –

Term loans 222,236 215,416 68,914 50,378

366,406 341,959 86,914 68,143

Contractual terms of borrowings:

Effective Total
interest Functional carrying Maturity profile

rate currency amount < 1 year 2nd year 3rd year 4th year 5th year > 5 years
% RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

2008

Unsecured

Bank overdraft 4.50 - 13.25 EUR 24,815 24,815 – – – – –

Bank overdraft 5.00 PLN 4,247 4,247 – – – – –

Bank overdraft 14.50 ARG 3,062 3,062 – – – – –

Revolving credits 6.20 - 6.50 EUR 2,950 2,950 – – – – –

Revolving credits 5.70 RM 1,000 1,000 – – – – –

Short term loans 6.00 - 6.20 EUR 12,607 12,607 – – – – –

48,681 48,681 – – – – –

Secured

Bank overdraft 8.50 EUR 1,037 1,037 – – – – –

Revolving credits 5.00 - 5.50 RM 22,000 22,000 – – – – –

Bankers’ acceptances 5.00 RM 6,642 6,642 – – – – –

Discounted bills 4.60 - 5.50 EUR 14,817 14,817 – – – – –

Short term loans 5.10 - 9.00 EUR 31,070 31,070 – – – – –

Short term loans 4.30 - 9.00 CZK 251 251 – – – – –

Short term loans 6.00 - 7.00 CHF 14,142 14,142 – – – – –

Term loan 5.60 - 8.00 EUR 183,624 19,532 51,697 15,024 30,509 52,607 14,255

Term loan 3.10 USD 25,195 4,708 6,277 6,277 6,277 1,656 –

Term loan 5.00 - 5.20 RM 13,417 4,336 4,336 2,583 1,999 163 –

Hire purchase and 

lease payables 2.90 EUR 3,146 1,303 762 477 359 245 –

Hire purchase and 

lease payables 2.95 CHF 1,427 1,113 314 – – – –

Hire purchase and 

lease payables 6.02 - 8.95 CZK 481 96 98 98 98 91 –

Hire purchase and 

lease payables 13.00 PLN 467 139 199 51 70 8 –

Hire purchase and 

lease payables 4.25 USD 9 9 – – – – –

317,725 121,195 63,683 24,510 39,312 54,770 14,255

366,406 169,876 63,683 24,510 39,312 54,770 14,255
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31. Borrowings (Cont’d)

Effective Total
interest Functional carrying Maturity profile

rate currency amount < 1 year 2nd year 3rd year 4th year 5th year > 5 years
% RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

2007

Unsecured

Bank overdraft 4.90 - 8.85 EUR 29,297 29,297 – – – – –
Bank overdraft 5.00 PLN 4,799 4,799 – – – – –
Bank overdraft 14.50 ARS 3,670 3,670 – – – – –
Revolving credits 7.09 EUR 1,953 1,953 – – – – –
Short term loans 6.37 - 6.50 EUR 12,471 12,471 – – – – –

52,190 52,190 – – – – –

Secured

Bank overdraft 8.50 EUR 3,237 3,237 – – – – –
Revolving credits 4.87 - 5.35 RM 8,000 8,000 – – – – –
Revolving credits 5.91 - 6.84 EUR 9,765 9,765 – – – – –
Discounted bills 4.85 - 5.25 EUR 15,908 15,908 – – – – –
Short term loans 4.25 - 9.25 EUR 22,479 22,479 – – – – –
Short term loans 4.30 - 9.00 CZK 312 312 – – – – –
Short term loans 5.00 CHF 7,363 7,363 – – – – –
Term loan 5.00 - 6.43 EUR 176,995 10,349 15,571 45,717 9,283 80,667 15,408
Term loan 7.00 CHF 3,811 – 3,811 – – – –
Term loan 7.07 USD 23,953 5,967 5,967 5,967 5,967 85 –
Term loan 5.59 RM 7,594 2,337 2,337 2,337 583 – –
Term loan 8.72 MXN 3,063 – 3,063 – – – –
Hire purchase and 

lease payables 2.90 EUR 5,826 2,319 1,470 830 562 425 220
Hire purchase and 

lease payables 2.95 CHF 674 674 – – – – –
Hire purchase and 

lease payables 7.10 CZK 331 295 36 – – – –
Hire purchase and 

lease payables 7.50 - 11.81 PLN 458 103 159 196 – – –

289,769 89,108 32,414 55,047 16,395 81,177 15,628

341,959 141,298 32,414 55,047 16,395 81,177 15,628

Company

2008

Secured

Revolving credits 5.00 - 5.80 RM 18,000 18,000 – – – – –

Term loan 5.60 EUR 30,298 9,852 9,852 9,852 742 – –

Term loan 3.10 USD 25,195 4,708 6,277 6,277 6,277 1,656 –

Term loan 5.00 - 5.20 RM 13,421 4,336 4,336 2,583 1,999 167 –

86,914 36,896 20,465 18,712 9,018 1,823 –

2007

Secured

Revolving credits 4.87 - 5.35 RM 8,000 8,000 – – – – –
Revolving credits 5.91 - 6.84 EUR 9,765 9,765  – – – – –
Term loan 5.79 - 6.84 EUR 18,831 4,144 4,144 4,144 4,144 2,255 –
Term loan 6.52 - 7.29 USD 23,953 5,966 5,966 5,966 5,966 89 –
Term loan 5.59 - 5.62 RM 7,594 2,337 2,337 2,337 583 – –

68,143 30,212 12,447 12,447 10,693 2,344 –
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31. Borrowings (Cont’d)

Group 

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Minimum hire purchase and lease payment:

- Not later than 1 year 3,026 3,116

- Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,619 5,545

5,645 8,661

Future finance charges (115) (1,373)

5,530 7,288

Present value of hire purchase and lease payables

- Not later than 1 year 2,660 3,391

- Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,870 3,897

5,530 7,288

Discounted bills are secured over the subsidiaries’ receivables.

Short term loans and bank overdrafts are secured over the subsidiaries’s property, plant and equipment as disclosed in

note 16 to the financial statements.

The term loans, revolving credits and bankers’ acceptances are secured by legal charges over the property, plant and

equipment as disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements, investment in subsidiaries as disclosed in note 18,

deposits with licensed banks as disclosed in note 26.

Hire purchase and lease payables are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the

event of default.

32. Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks (“ICULS”) and Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan

Stocks (“RCULS”)

On 8 April 2005, the Company issued 98,900,000 5-year 3% ICULS at a nominal value of RM1.00 each and 115,000,000 5-year 3%

RCULS at a nominal value of RM1.00 each. The ICULS and RCULS are constituted by the Trust Deeds dated 5 April 2005 entered

into between the Company and the trustee, AmTrustee Berhad. The salient features of the ICULS/RCULS are set out below:-

(a) The ICULS/ RCULS bear interest at 3% per annum payable annually on 8 April calculated in respect of the period

commencing from date of the issue of ICULS/ RCULS on 8 April 2005.

(b) The registered holders of the ICULS/ RCULS have the option at any time from issue date on 8 April 2005 till 8 April

2010 (“Maturity Date”) to convert the ICULS/ RCULS into new ordinary shares in the Company at RM1.25 nominal

amount of the ICULS/ RCULS respectively per ordinary share of RM1.00 each (hereinafter referred to as “Conversion

Price”). The Conversion Price will be subject to adjustment under certain circumstances in accordance with the

provision of the Trust Deeds dated 5 April 2005. Such circumstances being a change in the par value of the shares,

a bonus issue, a capital distribution, a rights issue, and an issue of shares by the Company where the total effective

consideration for each share is less than 90% of the current market price for each share. The original conversion

price was RM1.50 adjusted to RM1.25 to take into account the Bonus Issue of 1 for 5 on 25 September 2006.

(c) Any outstanding ICULS will automatically be converted into new ordinary shares by the Company on 8 April 2010

at the conversion mode stated in (b). The ICULS will not be redeemable by the Company in cash.

(d) Unless otherwise converted, the Company shall redeem all outstanding RCULS in cash at 100% of their nominal

value on the Maturity Date. There shall be no early redemption of the RCULS. However, the RCULS shall

immediately be repayable if the Company does not comply with the terms of payment under the Trust Deed

constituting the RCULS subject to any applicable grace periods or cure period therein.
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32. Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks (“ICULS”) and Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan

Stocks (“RCULS”) (Cont’d)

(e) The ICULS/ RCULS shall be direct, unsecured and unconditional obligations of the Company and shall rank pari passu

in all respects, without priority amongst the respective holders and with all other present and future unsecured and

unsubordinated obligations of the Company from time to time outstanding, but shall be subordinated to all other

obligations and liabilities of the Company which are preferred solely by the laws of Malaysia.

(f) The new shares allotted and issued upon conversion of the ICULS/ RCULS will be considered as fully paid-up and

shall rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company, except that they will not be

entitled to any dividends, rights, allotments and/or any other distributions that may be declared, made or paid,

the entitlement date of which is prior to the allotment date of such new shares.

(g) The ICULS and RCULS have been fully converted into ordinary shares on 11 February 2008 and 13 November 2008

respectively. Trading in the ICULS and RCULS had been suspended from 20 February 2008 and 13 November 2008

respectively and removed from the official list of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 21 February 2008 and 18

November 2008 respectively.

The liability components of ICULS and RCULS recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

Group and Company

ICULS RCULS Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Nominal value at date of issue, 8 April 2005 98,900 115,000 213,900

Equity conversion component (89,651) (7,170) (96,821)

Deferred tax asset/(liability) 3,597 (2,788) 809

Liability component on initial recognition 12,846 105,042 117,888

Interest expense accrued/paid (1,704) (2,586) (4,290)

Conversion during the financial year (3,387) 331 (3,056)

Interest expense 370 3,936 4,306

Deferred tax (income)/expense 374 (379) (5)

Liability component as at 1 January 2006 8,499 106,344 114,843

Interest expense accrued/paid (2,030) (2,892) (4,922)

Conversion during the financial year (1,828) (23,476) (25,304)

Interest expense 368 4,483 4,851

Deferred tax (income)/expense 516 (496) 20

Liability component as at 1 January 2007 5,525 83,963 89,488

Interest expense accrued/paid (129) (1,924) (2,053)

Conversion during the financial year (5,449) (18,957) (24,406)

Interest expense 23 3,306 3,329

Deferred tax (income)/expense 30 (371) (341)

Liability component as at 1 January 2008 – 66,017 66,017

Interest expense accrued/paid – (1,414) (1,414)

Conversion during the financial year – (66,301) (66,301)

Interest expense – 1,911 1,911

Deferred tax income – (213) (213)

Liability component as at 31 December 2008 – – –
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32. Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks (“ICULS”) and Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan

Stocks (“RCULS”) (Cont’d)

Group and Company

ICULS RCULS Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 31 December 2007

Current – 1,785 1,785

Non-current – 64,232 64,232

– 66,017 66,017

Interest expense on the ICULS/ RCULS is calculated on the effective yield basis by applying the interest rate of 5% per annum.

33. Payables
Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade payables 124,467 151,366 1,721 1,780

Amount payable to subsidiary – – 2,397 3,435

Accruals:

- Staff costs 28,234 28,050 1,498 1,151

- Bonus to customers 39,381 45,093 – –

- ICULS/RCULS interest 782 1,336 1,182 1,336

Employee related benefits 12,527 21,449 – –

Other payables 60,915 76,975 16,872 19,226

266,306 324,269 23,670 26,928

At 31 December

Current 255,699 307,625 23,670 26,928

Non-current 10,607 16,644 – –

266,306 324,269 23,670 26,928

The fair values of trade and other payables closely approximate their book values.

Credit terms of trade payables granted to the Group and Company range from no credit to 120 days (2007: no credit to

90 days). Amounts payable to subsidiaries and associates are unsecured, interest free and payable within one year.

N OTE S  TO  TH E  F I N A N C I A L  STATE M E N TS
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008

Financial_0040  14/05/2009  4:26 PM  Page 121



33. Payables (Cont’d)

The currency exposure profile of payables is as follows:
Group Company 

2008 2007 2008 2007 
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

- RM 26,188 45,794 19,718 21,767

- EUR 177,233 206,727 2,407 4,071

- CHF 24,327 20,971 – 740

- GBP 4,110 8,562 – –

- CZK 1,822 5,280 – –

- HUF 180 390 – –

- SEK 579 477 – –

- PLN 40 1,626 – –

- TRY – – – 113

- USD 5,917 6,340 1,477 237

- MXN 12,985 12,893 – –

- ARS 6,071 7,868 – –

- JPY 2,944 2,235 40 –

- SGD 1,337 1,476 – –

- TWD 63 48 – –

- CNY 908 911 – –

- HKD 1,602 2,671 – –

- THB – – 28 –

266,306 324,269 23,670 26,928

34. CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Disposal of business operations

During the financial year, the Company disposed the business operations of Textmarker and Hardcopy to a

subsidiary, Pelikan Production (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd (“PPMSB”) for a total consideration of RM62,494,402 and this

amount is included in receivables.

Company

2008

RM’000

Property, plant and equipment 15,858

Inventories 5,976

Trade receivables 39,995

Other receivables 2,170

Cash and bank balances 2

Trade payables (1,154)

Other payables (253)

62,594

Less: Capital contribution other than cash (100)

Total consideration 62,494

Less: Amount owing by a subsidiary (62,494)

–

Cash and bank balances disposed off (2)

Net cash outflow on transfer of business to PPMSB (2)
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35. Capital commitment
Group

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Capital commitments authorised and contracted for:

Property, plant and equipment 2,545 6,239

36. Non cancellable operating lease commitments
Group

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Future minimum lease payments:

Not later than 1 year 17,837 21,226

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 21,239 44,045

Later than 5 years 1,286 4,234

40,362 69,505

37. Contingent liabilities

(a) In the ordinary course of business, the businesses of Pelikan Hardcopy Holding AG and German Hardcopy AG

groups (dealing with manufacturing and distribution of hardcopy related products and printer consumables such

as inkjet and toner cartridges, thermal transfer, office media and impact cartridges, hereinafter referred to as the

“Hardcopy business”) are involved in several lawsuits. In particular, the Group has several large legal claims

brought by Original Equipment Manufacturers for perceived breach of patents with an assessed potential

maximum exposure of EUR20.3 million (RM99.8 million). The Group is of the view that litigation matters are an

inherent part of the Hardcopy business. Historically, the groups have been successful in defending most cases and

management remains confident that the groups’ exposure to these claims can be reduced or can be successfully

defended. In the opinion of the management, the lawsuits, claims and proceedings which are pending against the

groups will not have a material effect on the Group’s financial statements.

(b) Based on the latest actuaries assumption as at 30 September 2008, Pelikan Hardcopy Holding AG’s (“PHH”) wholly

owned subsidiary Pelikan Hardcopy Scotland Limited’s (“PHSL”) retirement fund has GBP15.6 million (RM78.8

million) assets to meet pension liabilities of GBP24.7 million (RM124.7 million). The Company provided a corporate

guarantee for the short fall. An amount of GBP1.6 million (RM8.0 million) has been recognised as a pension liability

for the financial year ended 31 December 2008 in accordance with the FRS 119.

The Group believes that its operational cash flow and the assets in the retirement fund of PHSL are sufficient to

meet the payouts of the retirement scheme.

(c) The Company has provided corporate guarantees to financial institutions for financing arrangements of certain

subsidiaries amounting to RM69,261,000 (2007: RM56,213,000).

N OTE S  TO  TH E  F I N A N C I A L  STATE M E N TS
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2008
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38. Significant related party transactions

In addition to related party disclosures mentioned elsewhere in the financial statements, significant related party

transactions entered into by the Group during the financial year ended 31 December 2008 are set out below. These

transactions were carried out on terms, conditions and prices obtainable in transactions with unrelated parties.

Group

2008 2007 

RM’000 RM’000

Sales of goods to associates:

- Indistri S.A. 241 240

- Columbia Pelikan PTY Limited 155 99

- Pelikan (Thailand) Co Ltd 780 911

Sales of stationery and office supplies to KLB group 821 903

Purchase of logistics services from KLB group 443 421

Rental of building from KLB 843 868

Sales of goods to Geha Werke (M) Sdn Bhd 16,967 –

KLB group (Konsortium Logistik Berhad and its subsidiaries) are a group of companies which a Director and substantial

shareholder, Loo Hooi Keat has substantial interest. Geha Werke (M) Sdn Bhd is a company of which a director of certain

subsidiaries of the Company has substantial interest.

39. Significant events subsequent to the Balance Sheet date

On 13 January 2009, the Group via Productos Pelikan S.A. de C.V., acquired a further 80.5% equity interest in Indistri S.A.,

Colombia (“Indistri”) representing 5,836,933,444 shares of Colombian Peso (“COP”) 1 each for a total consideration of

USD4,250,000 (RM15,200,000). The Group’s effective interest in Indistri has increased to 92.62% immediately after acquisition.

The principal activities of Indistri are the manufacturing and distribution of office, schools and stationery supplies.

40. Comparatives

In the current financial year, the employees related benefits have been reclassified from provisions to payables and

accordingly the comparatives have been restated as follows:

As previously As

stated Adjustment restated

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Financial year ended 31 December 2007

Group

Non-current liabilities

Payables – 16,644 16,644

Provisions 17,992 (16,644) 1,348

Current liabilities

Payables 302,820 4,805 307,625

Provisions 7,007 (4,805) 2,202

1 2 4 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8
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A D D I TI O N A L  COM P L I A N C E  I N FO R M ATI O N

The following information is provided in compliance with the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad:

1. Utilisation of Proceeds Raised from Corporate Proposals

There were no proceeds raised from corporate proposals during the financial year.

2. Share Buy-backs

The details of shares bought back during the financial year under review are as follows:

* Including brokerage, commission, clearing house fee and stamp duty.

During the financial year, a total of 2,963,200 shares were repurchased as treasury shares with a total cost of

RM10,187,321. All shares purchased by the Company were retained as treasury shares and none of the shares

repurchased was resold or cancelled during the financial year.

3. Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities

During the financial year under review, 55,100,960 new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each were issued by the Company by

virtue of the conversion of 3% 5-Year Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks 2005/2010 (“ICULS”) and 3% 

5-Year Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks 2005/2010 (“RCULS”) at the conversion price of RM1.25 per share.

4. American Depository Receipts (ADR) or Global Depository Receipts (GDR) Programme

During the financial year, the Company did not sponsor any ADR or GDR programme.

5. Imposition of Sanctions and/or Penalties

There were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries, Directors or management by

the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Monthly  No. of Shares Minimum Price Maximum  Price Average Price Total 

Breakdown of Purchased Per Share Per Share Per Share* Amount Paid* 

Shares Purchased (RM) (RM) (RM) (RM)

January 2008 1,788,400 3.9833 4.3718 4.0072 7,166,432

March 2008 50,000 3.2800 3.3040 3.3066 165,328

April 2008 540,400 2.9348 3.1435 2.9670 1,603,362

May 2008 43,600 2.8400 2.8822 2.8780 125,482

June 2008 201,400 2.4952 2.7356 2.6320 530,090

July 2008 5,800 2.4600 2.4997 2.5031 14,518

August 2008 1,000 2.5000 2.5000 2.5318 2,532

September 2008 110,400 2.3122 2.4470 2.3403 258,374

October 2008 222,200 1.1400 2.1922 1.4456 321,203

Total 2,963,200 10,187,321
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6. Non-Audit Fees

There were no non-audit fees paid or payable to the external auditors by the Company for the financial year.

7. Variation in Results

There was no deviation of 10% or more between the unaudited financial results announced and the audited financial

results of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

The Company did not release any profit estimate, forecast or projections during the financial year.

8. Profit Guarantee

During the financial year, there was no profit guarantee given by the Company.

9. Material Contracts 

There was no material contract, not being contract entered into in the ordinary course of business of the Company and

its subsidiaries, involving the interest of the Directors and major shareholders of the Company, either still subsisting at

the end of the financial year or entered into since the end of the previous financial year. 

10. Revaluation Policy on Landed Properties

The Company does not have a revaluation policy on landed properties.

1 2 6 P E L I K A N A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 8
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A N A LYS I S  O F  S H A R E H O L D I N G S
as at 23 April 2009

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS 

Size of Shareholdings No. of Shares %* No. of Shareholders %*

1 - 99 8,343 0.00 226 4.16

100 - 1,000 435,663 0.13 531 9.79

1,001 - 10,000 15,479,444 4.56 3,473 64.00

10,001 - 100,000 31,707,568 9.35 1,086 20.01

100,001 to less than 5% of the issued shares 101,978,267 30.06 107 1.97

5% and above of issued shares 189,645,256 55.90 4 0.07

Total 339,254,541 100.00 5,427 100.00

* After netting off 3,914,300 treasury shares of  Pelikan International Corporation Berhad (“PICB”) held as at 23 April 2009.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS 

No. of Shares Held
Name of Directors

Direct Interest %* Indirect Interest %*

1. Loo Hooi Keat 286,080 0.08 99,905,370(1) 29.45

2. Syed Hussin bin Shaikh Al Junid – – – –

3. Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad – – – –

4. Tan Sri Musa bin Mohamad – – – –

5. Yap Kim Swee – – – –

6. Hajah Rozaida binti Omar – – – –

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors of the Company has any interest, direct or indirect, in a related corporation

of PICB.

Notes:

(1) Deemed interested by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in PBS Office Supplies Holding Sdn Bhd,  Mahir Agresif (M) Sdn Bhd and Konsortium Logistik Berhad.

* After netting off 3,914,300 treasury shares of PICB held as at 23 April 2009. 

Authorised Share Capital : RM500,000,000

Issued and Paid-Up Share Capital : RM343,168,841 (including 3,914,300 treasury shares)

Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each

Voting Rights : One (1) vote per Ordinary Share
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ SHAREHOLDINGS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

No. of Shares Held
Name of Substantial Shareholders

Direct Interest %* Indirect Interest %*

1. Loo Hooi Keat 286,080 0.08 99,905,370(1) 29.45

2. PBS Office Supplies Holding Sdn Bhd 20,665,435 6.09 55,979,400(2) 16.50

3. Marktrade Sdn Bhd – – 76,644,835(3) 22.59

4. Pembinaan Redzai Sdn Bhd 20,000,001 5.90 – –

5. Tan Sri Datuk Gnanalingam A/L Gunanathlingam – – 20,000,001(4) 5.90

6. Ahmayuddin bin Ahmad – – 20,000,001(4) 5.90

7. Lembaga Tabung Haji 95,530,420 28.16 – –

8. H Partners Management LLC – – 21,162,680(5) 6.24

9. Hayman Capital Master Fund LP 15,806,700 4.66 – –

10. Malaysian Trustees Berhad PBS Office Supplies 

Holding Sdn Bhd 55,979,400 16.50 – –

Notes:

(1) Deemed interested by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in PBS Office Supplies Holding Sdn Bhd,  Mahir Agresif (M) Sdn Bhd and Konsortium Logistik Berhad.
(2)Deemed Interested by virtue of the pension trust fund set up by PBS Office Supplies Holding Sdn Bhd (Malaysian Trustees Berhad).
(3)Deemed Interested by virtue of its substantial shareholdings in PBS Office Supplies Holding Sdn Bhd. 
(4)Deemed Interested by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Pembinaan Redzai Sdn Bhd.  
(5)Deemed Interested by virtue of its substantial shareholdings in H Partners, LP and H Offshore Fund Ltd.  

* After netting off 3,914,300 treasury shares of PICB held as at 23 April 2009.

A N A LYS I S  O F  S H A R E H O L D I N G S
as at 23 April 2009

LIST OF TOP THIRTY (30) SHAREHOLDERS

Name of Shareholders No. of Shares %*

1. Lembaga Tabung Haji 95,530,420 28.16

2. Malaysian Trustees Berhad 55,979,400 16.50

PBS Office Supplies Holding Sdn Bhd 

3. Pembinaan Redzai Sdn Bhd 20,000,001 5.90

4. ECML Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 18,135,435 5.35

Pledged Securities Account for PBS Office Supplies Holding Sdn Bhd 

5. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 15,806,700 4.66

JP Morgan CLR Corp for Hayman Capital Master Fund LP 

6. ECML Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 12,537,100 3.70

Pledged Securities Account for Konsortium Logistik Berhad  

7. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 11,925,580 3.52

GSCO for H Partners LP 

8. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 9,237,100 2.72

GSCO for H Offshore Fund LTD  

9. Cimsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 8,068,835 2.38

CIMB Bank For Mahir Agresif (M) Sdn Bhd (SFD)

10. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 4,789,950 1.41

Goldman Sachs International 
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A N A LYS I S  O F  S H A R E H O L D I N G S
as at 23 April 2009

LIST OF TOP THIRTY (30) SHAREHOLDERS (Cont’d)

Name of Shareholders No. of Shares %*

11. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 3,532,600 1.04

Exempt an for Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated

12. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 1,930,000 0.57

BBH And Co Boston for Unidynamicfonds: Asia 

13. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 1,625,000 0.48

Nomura International PLC 

14. EMCL Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,603,735 0.47

Heah Sieu Lay (PCS) 

15. MCIS Zurich Insurance Berhad 1,550,400 0.46

16. EMCL Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,500,000 0.44

Pledged Securities Account for Persada Bina Sdn Bhd (001)

17. Chow Song Kuang 1,373,200 0.40

18. MCIS Zurich Insurance Berhad 1,275,400 0.38

19. AMMB Nominess (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,030,000 0.30

AmBank (M) Berhad for PBS Office Supplies Holding Sdn Bhd (PELI001)

20. M.I.T Nominess (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,000,000 0.29

Pledged Securities Account for Lau Hock Lee 

21. Ang Chew Sim 790,000 0.23

22. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 750,000 0.22

BNY Brussels for E.I.O Trustees Limited 

23. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 692,064 0.20

Citigroup GM INC for OCBC Securities Private Limited 

24. Chan Tiang Seng 620,000 0.18

25. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 599,560 0.18

CBNY for DFA Emerging Markets Small Cap Series 

26. Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 560,000 0.17

State Street Luxembourg Fund AD47 for 

Allianz Global Investors Fund-Allianz RCM Malaysia

27. Mayban Nominess (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 551,400 0.16

Pledged Securities Account for Neoh Soon Kee 

28. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 550,000 0.16

BNY Brussels for Allchurches Investment Management Services Ltd

29. Lee Wee Sin 545,000 0.16

30. Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 524,300 0.15

Exempt an for OCBC Securities Private Limited

Total 274,613,180 80.94

* After netting off 3,914,300 treasury shares of PICB held as at 23 April 2009.
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L I ST  O F  G R O U P  P R O P E RTI E S

Registered Location Land Existing Built-up Age of Tenure NBV as at

Owner area use area building 31.12.2008

Pelikan Factory Vöhrum 68,873 sqm Production 46,373 sqm 21 years Freehold RM69.6 million

GmbH Pelikanstrasse 11

D-31228 Peine 

Germany

Productos Carretera a 80,109 sqm Production 17,185 sqm 24 years Freehold RM23.8 million 

Pelikan Tehuacan 1033

S.A. de C.V. Col. Maravillas 

C.P. 72220

Puebla Pue

Mexico

Pelikan Mönchaltdorf 8,245 sqm Production 2,420 sqm 16 years Freehold RM13.7 million

Hardcopy Plant

Production Mettlenbachstrasse 3

AG CH-8617 Mönchaltorf

Switzerland

Greif-Werke Düren Logistics 20,349 sqm Logistic 9,692 sqm 4 years Freehold RM33.0 million

GmbH Facility Centre

Neue Strasse 19

D-52382 Niederzier 

Germany

German Alte 3,703 sqm Office 1,698 sqm 13 years Freehold RM5.2 million

Hardcopy AG Heeresstrasse 27 Building &

D-59929 Brilon Warehouse

Germany
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P E L I KA N  G R O U P  O F  COM PA N I E S  D I R E CTO RY

P R O D U C T I O N

Germany

Pelikan PBS-Produktionsgesellschaft

mbH & Co. KG

Factory Vöhrum

Pelikanstrasse 11

D - 31228 Peine, Germany

Tel: (+49) 5171 299 0

Fax: (+49) 5171 299 205

Email: produktion@pelikan.de

Mexico

Productos Pelikan, S.A. de C.V.

Carretera a Tehuacán 1033

Col. Maravillas

C.P. 72220 Puebla, Pue., Mexico

Tel: (+52) 222 309 8000

Fax: (+52) 222 309 8049

Email: direccion.general@pelikan.com.mx

Malaysia

Pelikan Production 

(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Lot 3410, Mukim Petaling

Batu 12 1/2, Jalan Puchong

47100 Puchong

Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

Tel: (+603) 8061 8866

Fax: (+603) 8061 8668

Email: enquiry@pelikan.com.my

Great Britain

Pelikan Hardcopy Scotland Limited

Markethill Road, GB-Turriff

Aberdeenshire AB 53 4AW, Great Britain

Tel: (+44) 1 888 564 200

Fax: (+44) 1 888 562 042

Email: info.uk@phiag.com

ttesales@phi-psl.co.uk

Switzerland

Pelikan Hardcopy Production 

AG Gewerbestrasse 9, CH-8132, 

Egg, Switzerland

Tel: (+41) 449 861 111

Fax: (+41) 449 861 454

Email: info.com@phiag.com

Czech Republic

Pelikan Hardcopy CZ s.r.o.

Svatoborska 395

CZ-69701 Kyjov, Czech Republic

Tel: (+42) 0 518 699 811

Fax: (+42) 0 518 699 810

Email: phcz@phiag.com

People’s Republic of China

Dongguan Pelikan Hardcopy Ltd.

Lingtou Administrative District

Qiaotou Zhen, Dongguan

Guangdong, 523530, P.R. of China

Tel: (+86) 769 8334 6707

Fax: (+86) 769 8334 2450

Email: info@pelikan-china.com

I N V E S T M E N T  H O L D I N G S

Malaysia

Pelikan International Corporation Berhad

Lot 3410, Mukim Petaling

Batu 121/2, Jalan Puchong

Puchong 47100

Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

Tel: (+603) 8062 1223

Fax: (+603) 8062 3407

Email: hkloo@pelikan.com.my

Switzerland

Pelikan Holding AG

Chaltenbodenstrasse 8

CH-8834 Schindellegi, Switzerland

Tel: (+41) 44 786 70 20

Fax: (+41) 44 786 70 21

Email: f.wandrey@pelikan.de

S A L E S

EUROPE

Germany

Pelikan Vertriebsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Werftstrasse 9

D - 30163 Hanover, Germany

Tel: (+49) 511 6969 0

Fax: (+49) 511 6969 267

Email: vertrieb@pelikan.de 

German Hardcopy AG

Alte Heeresstraße 25-27

D-59929 Brilon, Germany

Tel: (+49) 2961 9747 0

Fax: (+49) 2961 9747 47

Email: info@german-hardcopy.de

Austria 

Pelikan Austria Gesellschaft m.b.H. 

IZ Nö Süd, Strasse 7, Objekt 58D TOP 8

2355 Wiener Neudorf, Austria

Tel: (+43) 0 2236 44 000 0

Fax: (+43) 0 2236 44 200

Email: office@pelikan.at

Belgium

Pelikan Belux N.V./S.A.

(fka Pelikan Benelux N.V.)

Stationsstraat 43

B - 1702 Groot-Bijgaarden, Belgium

Tel: (+32) 2 481 87 00

Fax: (+32) 2 481 87 19

Email: info@pelikan.be

France

Pelikan France SAS

7, avenue des Andes - Les Ulis

91978 Courtabouef Cedex, France

Tel: (+33) 0 1 6929 88 68

Fax: (+33) 0 1 6929 88 60

Email: info@pelikan.fr

Greece

Pelikan Hellas E.P.E

8 km of Vari-Koropi Avenue

Koropi Industrial Zone

GR-194 00 Koropi, Greece

Te: (+30) 210 6625 129

Fax: (+30) 210 6626 232

Email: pelikan@pelikan.gr

Hungary

Pelikan Hardcopy Production AG

Erzsébet királyne útja 64/b

HU-1142 Budapest, Hungary

Tel: (+36) 0 1 222 02 78

Fax: (+36) 0 1 221 88 06

Italy

Pelikan Italia S.p.A.

Via Stephenson 43/A

I-20157 Milan, Italy

Tel: (+39) 02 39016 1

Fax: (+39) 02 39016 361

Email: info@pelikan.it

The Netherlands

Pelikan Nederland B.V.

Konigsschoot 45-3

(fka G.Wagner Pelikan Maatschappi B.V.)

NL-3905 PR Veenendaal, The Netherlands

Tel: (+31) 0 318 580 580

Fax: (+31) 0 318 580 590

Email: info@pelikan.nl

Poland

Pelikan Polska Sp.zo.o

ul. Lowicka 19

02-574 Warsaw, Poland

Tel: (+48) 22 5408700

Fax: (+48) 22 6519230

Email: info@pelikan.com.pl
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Spain

Pelikan S.A.

Lleida 8, nave 1

08185 Lliçà de Vall

Barcelona, Spain 

Tel: (+34) 902 208 200

Fax: (+34) 902 208 201

Email: pelikan@pelikan.es

Sweden

Pelikan Nordic AB

Skeppsgatan 19

SE-211 19 Malmö, Sweden

Tel: (+46) 40 627 08 40

Fax: (+46) 40 627 08 41

Email: nordic@phiag.com

Switzerland

Pelikan (Schweiz) AG

(fka Pelikan Faber-Castell (Schweiz) AG)

Chaltenbodenstrasse 8

CH-8834 Schindellegi, Switzerland 

Tel: (+41) 44 786 70 20

Fax: (+41) 44 786 70 21

Email: info@pelikan.ch

Turkey

Pelikan Ofis Ve Kirtasiye

Malzemeleri Ticaret Ltd Sirketi 

9 – 10 Kisim A5-A D:5

34158 Atakoy

Istanbul, Turkey

Tel: (+90) 0 212 560 45 09

Fax: (+90) 0 212 560 45 39

Email: turkey@pelikan.com

AMERICAS

Mexico

Productos Pelikan, S.A. de C.V.

Carretera a Tehuacàn 1033

Col. Maravillas

C.P. 72220 Puebla, Pue., Mexico

Tel: (+52) 222 309 8000

Fax: (+52) 222 309 8049

Email: direccion.general@pelikan.com.mx

Argentina

Pelikan Argentina S.A.

Edificio Belgrano Plaza

Av. Belgrano 1586 Piso 8

C1093AAQ Buenos Aires, Argentina

Tel: (+54) 11 4124 3100

Fax: (+54) 11 4124 3199

Email: info@pelikan.com.ar

Colombia

Indistri, S.A

Carrera 65-B 19-17

Bogotá, D.C., Colombia

Tel: (+57) 1 261 1711

Fax: (+57) 1 290 5550

Email: yamil.valencia@pelikan.com.co

ASIA, AUSTRALIA & MIDDLE EAST

Australia

Columbia Pelikan PTY Ltd

2 Coronation Avenue, Kings Park

NSW 2148, Australia

Tel: (+61) 2 9674 0900

Fax: (+61) 2 9674 0910

Email: customersupport@pelikan.com.au

Indonesia

PT Pelikan Indonesia

Jl. Cideng Barat No. 115, Jakarta Pusat

10150 Indonesia

Tel: (+62) 21 3805 685/86

Fax: (+62) 21 3810 317

Email: kennykang@pelikan.com.my

Japan

Pelikan Japan K.K.

3-14-1, Ueno

Taito-ku, Tokyo 110-0005, Japan

Tel: (+81) 3 3836 6541

Fax: (+81) 3 3836 6545

Email: pelikan@pelikan.co.jp

Malaysia

Pelikan Asia Sdn. Bhd.

Lot 3410, Mukim Petaling

Batu 121/2, Jalan Puchong

47100 Puchong

Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 

Tel: (+603) 8062 1223

Fax: (+603) 8062 2500

Email: enquiry@pelikan.com.my

People’s Republic of China

Pelikan Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.

Room 302, No 1059

Rainbow Elite Plaza

Wuzhong Road, Minhang District

Shanghai 201103, P.R. of China

Tel: (+86)21 6465 5365

Fax: (+86) 21 6465 5375

Email: w.liu.china@pelikan.net.cn

Singapore

Pelikan Singapore Pte. Ltd.

18 Tannery Lane #01-02/03/04

Lian Tong Building

347780 Singapore

Tel: (+65) 6258 5231

Fax: (+65) 6258 4157

Email: enquiry@pelikan.com.sg

Taiwan

Pelikan Taiwan Co. Ltd

1F, 32, Lane 21, Hwang Chi Street

Taipei, Taiwan 111

Tel: (+88) 6 2 8866 5818

Fax: (+88) 6 2 8866 3102

Email: w.liu@pelikan.com.tw

Thailand 

Pelikan (Thailand) Co. Ltd

Bangkae Nua, Bangkae

Bangkok 10160

125/12-13 Moo6,

Kanchana-pisek Road, Thailand

Tel: (+66) 2 804 1415 8

Fax: (+66) 2 804 142

Email: pelikan@pelikan.co.th

United Arab Emirates

Pelikan Middle East FZE

Sharjah Airport International

Free Zone

W/S A2-103

P.O.Box 120318, Sharjah,

United Arab Emirates

Tel: (+971) 6557 4571

Fax: (+971) 6557 4572

Email: nalatrash@pelikan.ae

P E L I KA N  G R O U P  O F  COM PA N I E S  D I R E CTO RY
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N OTI C E  O F  A N N UA L  G E N E R A L  M E E TI N G

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the 27th Annual General Meeting of Pelikan International

Corporation Berhad will be held at Sunway Resort Hotel & Spa, Caymans 1, Level 10,

Persiaran Lagoon, Bandar Sunway, 46150 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia 

on Wednesday, 10 June 2009 at 11.00 a.m. for the following purposes:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2008

together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2. To approve the payment of a final single tier dividend of 2 sen per share for the financial year

ended 31 December 2008 as recommended by the Directors.

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM268,667.00 for the financial year ended 

31 December 2008.

4. To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Article 127 of the Company’s Articles

of Association:

i. Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad

ii. Yap Kim Swee

5. To re-elect Hajah Rozaida binti Omar who retires pursuant to Article 132 of the Company’s

Articles of Association.

6. To re-appoint Messrs Ong Boon Bah & Co. as Auditors of the Company until the conclusion of

the next Annual General Meeting of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix the

Auditors’ remuneration.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:

7. Authority to Issue Shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965.       

“THAT, subject always to the Companies Act, 1965 (“the Act”), Listing Requirements of Bursa

Malaysia Securities Berhad, Articles of Association of the Company, other applicable laws,

guidelines, rules and regulations and the approvals of the relevant government/regulatory

authorities, where such approval is necessary, the Directors be and are hereby authorised to

issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Act at any time until the conclusion of the next

Annual General Meeting to such persons and upon such terms and conditions and for such

purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit and expedient in the

interest of the Company, provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued does not

exceed 10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company for the time being.”

Ordinary Resolution 1

Ordinary Resolution 2

Ordinary Resolution 3

Ordinary Resolution 4

Ordinary Resolution 5

Ordinary Resolution 6

Ordinary Resolution 7

Ordinary Resolution 8
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8. Proposed Renewal of Authority to Purchase up to 10% of the Issued and Paid-up Ordinary

Share Capital of the Company (Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-back Authority).      

“THAT subject always to the Companies Act, 1965, Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia

Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”), Articles of Association of the Company, other

applicable laws, guidelines, rules and regulations, and the approvals of the relevant

government/regulatory authorities, the Company be and is hereby authorised to purchase

such number of ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the Company as may be determined by the

Directors from time to time through Bursa Securities, upon such terms and conditions as the

Directors may deem fit in the interest of the Company provided that:

i. the aggregate number of ordinary shares purchased and/or held by the Company as

treasury shares shall not exceed 10% of the issued and paid-up ordinary share capital of

the Company at the time of purchase; and 

ii. the maximum funds to be allocated by the Company for the purpose of purchasing its

own shares shall not exceed the total retained profits and share premium account of the

Company at the time of purchase; 

AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to deal with the shares

so purchased in their absolute discretion in the following manner:

i. cancel the shares so purchased; or

ii. retain the shares so purchased as treasury shares, for distribution as share dividends to

the shareholders and/or resell on the market of Bursa Securities; or

iii. retain part thereof as treasury shares and cancel the remainder.

AND THAT such authority conferred by this resolution shall continue to be in force until:

i. the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company, at which

time the said authority shall lapse, unless renewed by an ordinary resolution passed by

the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting; or

ii. the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required by law to be held; or

iii. the authority is revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of

the Company in general meeting,

whichever is the earliest,

AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to take all such 

steps as are necessary or expedient to implement, finalise and give full effect to the 

Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-back Authority with full powers to assent to any 

conditions, modifications, variations and/or amendments (if any) as may be imposed by the

relevant authorities.”

9. To transact any other business for which due notice has been given in accordance with the

Articles of Association of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution 9

N OTI C E  O F  A N N UA L  G E N E R A L  M E E TI N G
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NOTICE OF DIVIDEND ENTITLEMENT

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT a final single tier dividend of 2 sen per share in respect of the financial year ended 

31 December 2008, if so approved at the 27th Annual General Meeting of the Company, will be paid on 8 September 2009 to

depositors whose names appear in the Record of Depositors at the close of business on 10 August 2009.

A depositor shall qualify for entitlement to the dividend only in respect of:

i. shares transferred into the depositor’s securities account before 4.00 p.m. on 10 August 2009 in respect of transfers; and

ii. shares bought on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on a cum entitlement basis according to the Rules of Bursa Malaysia

Securities Berhad.

By Order of the Board

Ng Cheong Seng (MIA 17444)

Chua Siew Chuan (MAICSA 0777689)

Company Secretaries

Selangor Darul Ehsan

19 May 2009

N OTI C E  O F  A N N UA L  G E N E R A L  M E E TI N G

NOTES:

1. A Member who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint up to two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his stead.

Where a Member appoints up to two (2) proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holding to

be represented by each proxy.  The proxy may but need not be a Member of the Company.  If the proxy is not a Member, the proxy need

not be an advocate, an approved company auditor or a person approved by the Companies Commission of Malaysia.

2. Where a Member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, it

may appoint at least one (1) proxy in respect of each Securities Account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the

credit of the said Securities Account.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing, executed by or on behalf of the appointor and shall be in the form as set out in

the Articles of Association of the Company (or in a form as near to it as circumstances allow or in any other form which is usual or which

the Directors may approve) and shall be deemed to include the right to demand or join in demanding a poll.

4. The proxy form, to be valid, must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at Lot 3410, Mukim Petaling, 

Batu 12 1/2, Jalan Puchong, 47100 Puchong, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia at least forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for holding

of the meeting or any adjournment thereof.
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Explanatory Notes on Special Business:

Ordinary Resolution 8

Authority to Issue Shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965

The proposed Ordinary Resolution 8, if passed, will give the Directors of the Company authority to issue and allot shares of

the Company up to an aggregate of not exceeding 10% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being. This is

to avoid any delay and cost involved in convening a general meeting to specifically approve issuance of such shares should

the need arises. This authority, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, will expire at the next Annual

General Meeting.

Ordinary Resolution 9

Proposed Renewal of Authority to purchase up to 10% of the Issued and Paid-up Ordinary Share Capital of the Company

(Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-back Authority)

The proposed Ordinary Resolution 9, if passed, will empower the Directors to purchase the Company’s shares up to 10% of

the issued and paid-up ordinary share capital of the Company for the time being. This authority, unless revoked or varied by

an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting, will expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the

Company or the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting after that date is required by the

law to be held, whichever occurs first.

Please refer to the Share Buy-back Statement dated 19 May 2009 despatched together with the Company’s Annual Report

2008 for further information.

N OTI C E  O F  A N N UA L  G E N E R A L  M E E TI N G
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PELIKAN INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION BERHAD

(Company No. 63611-U)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Number of Shares Held

CDS Account No. 

FORM OF PROXY 

I/We ____________________________________________________________________________________________ (Full name in Capital Letters)

NRIC/Company No.____________________________________________________________________________________________________

of_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ (Address)

being a Member(s) of PELIKAN INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION BERHAD (63611-U), hereby appoint

(Proxy A) __________________________________________________________________________________________ (Full name in Capital Letters)

NRIC/Company No.____________________________________________________________________________________________________

of_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ (Address)

*and/or failing him

(Proxy B) __________________________________________________________________________________________ (Full name in Capital Letters)

NRIC/Company No.____________________________________________________________________________________________________

of_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ (Address)

and/or failing him, *the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 27th

Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Sunway Resort Hotel & Spa, Caymans 1, Level 10, Persiaran Lagoon, Bandar

Sunway, 46150 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia on Wednesday, 10 June 2009 at 11.00 a.m. or any adjournment thereof.

My/our proxy/proxies shall vote as follows:

(Please indicate with an “X” in the space provided below how you wish your votes to be cast.  If you do not do so, the proxy/proxies will
vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion.)

The proportions of my/our holding to be

represented by my/our proxy/proxies are 

as follows:

Proxy A %

Proxy B %

100   %

NO. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the

financial year ended 31 December 2008 together

with the Reports of the Directors’and Auditors’thereon

2. To approve the payment of a final single tier

dividend of 2 sen per share

3. To approve the payment of the Directors’ fees 

4. To re-elect Haji Abdul Ghani bin Ahmad as

Director of the Company

5. To re-elect Yap Kim Swee as Director of the Company

6. To re-elect Hajah Rozaida binti Omar as Director of

the Company

7. To re-appoint Messrs Ong Boon & Co. as Auditors of

the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix

the Auditors’ remuneration

8. To approve the authority to allot and issue shares

pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965

9. To approve the proposed renewal of authority for

the purchase by the Company of its own shares

NOTES:

1. A Member who is entitled to attend and vote at the

meeting is entitled to appoint up to two (2) proxies to

attend and vote in his stead. Where a Member appoints

up to two (2) proxies, the appointments shall be invalid

unless he specifies the proportions of his holding to be

represented by each proxy.  The proxy may but need not

be the Member of the Company.  If the proxy is not a

Member, the proxy need not be an advocate, an approved

company auditor or a person approved by the Companies

Commission of Malaysia.

2. Where a Member of the Company is an authorised

nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central

Depositories) Act, 1991, it may appoint at least one (1)

proxy in respect of each Securities Account it holds with

ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of

the said Securities Account.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing,

executed by or on behalf of the appointor and shall be in

the form as set out in the Articles of Association of the

Company (or in a form as near to it as circumstances allow

or in any other form which is usual or which the Directors

may approve) and shall be deemed to include the right to

demand or join in demanding a poll.

4. The proxy form, to be valid, must be deposited at the

Registered Office of the Company at Lot 3410, Mukim

Petaling, Batu 12 1/2, Jalan Puchong, 47100 Puchong,

Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia at least forty-eight (48)

hours before the time set for holding of the meeting or

any adjournment thereof.

Signed this_________   day of __________________, 2009

* Strike out whichever not applicable

___________________________________________

Signature/Common Seal of Member
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THE COMPANY SECRETARIES

PELIKAN INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION BERHAD (63611-U)

Lot 3410, Mukim Petaling

Batu 121/2, Jalan Puchong

47100 Puchong

Selangor Darul Ehsan

Malaysia

STAMP

fold here

fold here

fold here
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Pelikan International Corporation Berhad
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T: +603 8062 1223
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